Modulation of central noradrenergic function by the anti-obesity agent, sibutramine

Katherine E. Wortley

A thesis presented for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy to the University of London

2000



Department of Pharmacology University College London Gower Street London WC1E 6BT ProQuest Number: U642404

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest U642404

Published by ProQuest LLC(2015). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code. Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

Abstract

The active metabolites of the anti-obesity agent, sibutramine, inhibit the reuptake of noradrenaline *in vitro*. The first aim of this project was to establish whether sibutramine also increases central extracellular noradrenaline concentration *in vivo* and, if so, whether this effect can be distinguished from that of the anti-obesity agent, *d*-amphetamine, which is a noradrenaline-releasing agent. Changes in extracellular noradrenaline concentration were measured using *in vivo* microdialysis in rat frontal cortex or hypothalamus. Since presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors regulate noradrenergic neuronal activity, the role of these receptors in modulating extracellular noradrenaline concentration following sibutramine or *d*-amphetamine administration was investigated.

The second aim was to investigate the density and function of α_2 -adrenoceptors in the lean and obese Zucker rat in order to determine whether an abnormality in central noradrenergic systems existed in the obese state. The density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in the cortex and hypothalamus were investigated using radioligand binding studies. The functions of pre- and post-synaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors were investigated using clonidine-induced hypoactivity and mydriasis, respectively.

Sibutramine induced a gradual increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the cortex of anaesthetised rats whereas *d*-amphetamine induced a rapid increase. Blockade of α_2 -adrenoceptors with the antagonist, RX821002, enhanced the sibutramine-induced increase in extracellular noradrenaline by 5-fold but enhanced the effect of *d*-amphetamine by only 2-fold. Sibutramine also increased extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the cortex and hypothalamus of freely-moving rats although this effect declined in the hypothalamus 40 min post-injection. Reverse dialysis of RX821002 into the cortex or hypothalamus enhanced the sibutramine-induced increase in extracellular noradrenaline in these areas and reversed the decline in extracellular noradrenaline in the hypothalamus 40 min after sibutramine administration. This indicates that central α_2 -adrenoceptors restrict the accumulation of extracellular noradrenaline induced by sibutramine, but that this effect is greater in the hypothalamus.

No differences in the density of $[{}^{3}H]RX821002$ binding sites or post-synaptic α_{2} -adrenoceptor function were found between lean and obese Zucker rats. However, the affinity of α_{2} -adrenoceptors for $[{}^{3}H]RX821002$ in the cortex of obese rats was higher compared with lean rats. Obese rats also had a higher hypoactivity score under drug-free conditions than did lean rats. Furthermore, the increase in hypoactivity score induced by clonidine in lean Zucker rats reached a plateau between 0.1-0.3 mg / kg, whereas obese rats showed no sign of reaching a plateau at these doses. All these findings indicate that presynaptic α_{2} -adrenoceptor function is enhanced in obese Zucker rats.

The findings of this thesis show that the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine *in vivo* can be differentiated from that of *d*-amphetamine. However, the time-course of sibutramine's effect varies in different brain regions depending on the density and/or function of α_2 -adrenoceptors. Finally, the function of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors appears to be enhanced in obese Zucker rats, possibly due to an increased affinity of these receptors for α_2 -adrenoceptor ligands. This finding suggests that central noradrenergic activity could be impaired in obese Zucker rats.

Acknowledgments

I wish to thank my supervisor Dr Clare Stanford for her guidance during this project and for her constant support and encouragement.

I also wish to thank my industrial supervisor Dr David Heal for his continuous support during this project and for his guidance and advice throughout.

I am grateful to Zoë Hughes and Richard M^cQuade for teaching me the techniques of microdialysis and HPLC and to Doreen Gettins for her technical help. I would also like to thank everyone in the lab for their friendships and moral support over the past three years.

I am also grateful to Nick Hayes for his technical help and to Bob Muid for sorting out all my computer problems.

I must thank many members of the Biology Department at Knoll Pharmaceuticals for their help and support during my time in Nottingham. I am particularly grateful to Jean Viggers, Mike Prow and Helen Rowley. I am also grateful to Richard Brammer of the Statistics Department for his help with statistical analysis.

I must also thank Knoll Pharmaceuticals for this PhD studentship and for their generous financial support.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, particularly my father, for their constant support and encouragement during my time at UCL.

Experiments in Chapter 3 involving *d*-amphetamine administration to halothane-anaesthetised rats were carried out by Zoë Hughes. Statistical analysis of data from radioligand binding experiments in Chapter 6 was carried out by Richard Brammer of Knoll Pharmaceuticals Statistics Department. All other work was carried out by the candidate.

Contents

Title	1
Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	4
Contents	5
List of figures	11
List of tables	13
List of abbreviations	14
Publications arising from this thesis	16
Chapter 1: General Introduction	17

1.1. Noradrenergic innervation of the rat brain	19
1.1.1. The locus coeruleus	20
1.1.2. The lateral tegmental system	21
1.2. Endogenous substances affecting food intake	22
1.2.1. Noradrenaline	22
1.2.2. 5-Hydroxytryptamine	25
1.2.3. Other endogenous substances affecting food intake	29
1.3. Anti-obesity agents	31
1.3.1. Sibutramine	31
1.3.2. Amphetamine	35
1.3.3. d-Fenfluramine	39
1.4. α_2 -Adrenoceptors	40
1.4.1. α_2 -Adrenoceptor subtypes	40
1.4.2. α_2 -Adrenoceptors and second messenger systems	42
1.4.3. Presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors and the regulation of noradrenergic	
neuronal activity	43
1.5. The obese Zucker rat	46
1.5.1. Prominent abnormalities in the obese Zucker rat	46
1.5.2. Abnormalities in central noradrenergic function in the obese	

Zucker rat	47
1.6. Objectives	49
Chapter 2: Methods	51
2.1. Introduction	51
2.1.1 Measurement of monoamine release in vivo	52
2.1.1.1. Principle of microdialysis	55
2.1.1.2. Perfusion fluids	56
2.1.2. Radioligand binding as a tool for quantifying α_2 -adrenoceptor	
density	57
2.1.3. Behavioural models of monoaminergic receptor function	60
2.1.3.1. Clonidine-induced hypoactivity	61
2.1.3.2.Clondine-induced mydriasis	63
2.2. Techniques	65
2.2.1. In vivo microdialysis	65
2.2.1.1. Construction of microdialysis probes	65
2.2.1.2. Surgical implantation of microdialysis probes	68
2.2.1.2.1. Animals	68
2.2.1.2.2. Non-recovery rats ('anaesthetised' rats)	68
2.2.1.2.3. Recovery rats ('freely-moving' rats)	69
2.2.1.3. Verification of probe placement	69
2.2.1.4. Microdialysis procedure	72
2.2.1.4.1. Collection of dialysates (anaesthetised rats)	72
2.2.1.4.2. Collection of dialysates (freely-moving rats)	72
2.2.1.4.3. Drugs and drug administration procedures	73
2.2.1.5. Measurement of dialysate noradrenaline concentration	73
2.2.1.5.1. High performance liquid chromotography coupled to	
electrochemical detection (HPLC-ECD)	73
2.2.1.5.2. The mobile phase	74
2.2.1.5.3. Reagents	74
2.2.1.6. Statistical analysis	74

2.2.1.7. Characterisation of dialysate noradrenaline content	74
2.2.2.Radioligand binding	76
2.2.2.1. Animals	76
2.2.2.2. Sample preparation	77
2.2.2.3. [³ H]RX821002 binding assay	77
2.2.2.3.1. Tissue preparation	77
2.2.2.3.2. Binding assay	77
2.2.2.4. Drugs and reagents	78
2.2.2.5. Protein determination	78
2.2.2.6. Statistical analysis	79
2.2.3. Hypoactivity and mydriasis measurements	79
2.2.3.1. Animals	79
2.2.3.2. Experimental design	79
2.2.3.3. Drugs and drug administration procedures	80
2.2.3.4. Test procedures	80
2.2.3.4.1. Pupil diameter measurement	80
2.2.3.4.2. Assessment of clonidine-induced hypoactivity	80
2.2.3.4.3. Statistical analysis	81

Chapter 3: The effects of sibutramine or *d*-amphetamine on extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex

3.1. Introduction	83
3.2. Methods	89
3.2.1. Experimental design	89
3.2.2. Statistical analysis	89
3.3.Results	91
3.3.1. The effects of sibutramine and <i>d</i> -amphetamine on dialysate	
noradrenaline concentration	91
3.3.1.1. Sibutramine	91
3.3.1.2. d-Amphetamine	93

3.3.1.3. Comparison of the effects of sibutramine and d-amphetamine	94
3.3.2. Effects of RX821002-pretreatment on dialysate noradrenaline	
concentration following sibutramine or <i>d</i> -amphetamine	
administration	95
3.3.2.1. Magnitude of response	95
3.3.2.2. Latency to peak effect	97
3.4. Discussion	99
3.4.1. The effects of sibutramine or <i>d</i> -amphetamine on cortical	
extracellular noradrenaline concentration	99
3.4.2. The effect of RX821002 alone on cortical extracellular	
noradrenaline concentration	101
3.4.3. The effect of RX821002 in combination with sibutramine or	
<i>d</i> -amphetamine	104
3.4.4. Conclusion	106

Chapter 4: Comparison of the effects of sibutramine and

d-amphetamine on extracellular noradrenaline concentration

in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus of conscious,

freely-moving rats	107
4.1. Introduction	107
4.2. Methods	111
4.2.1. Experimental design	111
4.2.2. Statistical analysis	111
4.3. Results	112
4.3.1. Effect of sibutramine or <i>d</i> -amphetamine on dialysate noradrenaline	
concentration from the frontal cortex	112
4.3.1.1. Sibutramine	112
4.3.1.2. d-Amphetamine	113
4.3.2. Effect of sibutramine or <i>d</i> -amphetamine on dialysate noradrenaline	
concentration from the hypothalamus	114
4.3.2.1. Sibutramine	115

4.3.2.2. d-Amphetamine	116
4.4. Discussion	117
4.4.1. Effects of sibutramine or <i>d</i> -amphetamine on extracellular	
noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex	117
4.4.2. Effects of sibutramine and <i>d</i> -amphetamine on extracellular	
noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus	121
4.4.3. The role of noradrenaline in mediating sibutramine's anti-obesity	
effects	128
4.4.4. Conclusion	129

Chapter 5: The effects of α_2 -adrenoceptor blockade on increases

in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by

sibutramine in the cortex and hypothalamus of conscious,

freely-moving rats	131
5.1. Introduction	131
5.2. Methods	134
5.2.1. Experimental design	134
5.2.2. Statistical analysis	135
5.3. Results	
5.3.1. Effects of systemic administration of RX821002 or atipamezole on	
sibutramine-induced increases in dialysate noradrenaline	
concentration	136
5.3.1.1. Frontal cortex	136
5.3.1.2. Hypothalamus	138
5.3.2. Effects of local administration of RX821002 on sibutramine-induce	d
increases in dialysate noradrenaline concentration	140
5.3.2.1. Frontal cortex	140
5.3.2.2. Hypothalamus	140
5.4. Discussion	143
5.4.1. Effect of systemic or local perfusion of RX821002 on basal	
extracellular noradrenaline concentration	143

5.4.2. Effect of systemic RX821002 on sibutramine-induced increases in	
extracellular noradrenaline concentration	145
5.4.3. Effect of systemic atipamezole on sibutramine-induced increases in	
extracellular noradrenaline concentration	146
5.4.4. Effect of local infusion of RX821002 into the frontal cortex or	
hypothalamus on sibutramine-induced increases in extracellular	
noradrenaline concentration	147
5.4.5. Conclusion	149

Chapter 6: Comparison of the density and function of central

α₂-adrenoceptors between the lean and obese Zucker rat 152

References	180
Chapter 7: General Discussion	171
6.4.3. Conclusion	170
6.4.2. Clonidine-induced mydriasis and hypoactivity	166
6.4.1. [3H]RX821002 binding in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus	164
6.4. Discussion	164
6.3.3. Clonidine-induced hypoactivity	162
6.3.2. Clonidine-induced mydriasis	160
6.3.1. [³ H]RX821002 binding in frontal cortex and hypothalamus	159
6.3. Results	159
6.2.2. Statistical analysis	157
mydriasis	157
6.2.1.2. Experiments involving clonidine-induced hypoactivity and	
6.2.1.1. Experiments involving [³ H]RX821002 binding	157
6.2.1. Experimental design	157
6.2. Methods	157
6.1. Introduction	152

List of figures

Figure 2.1: Step-by-step construction of a microdialysis probe for the frontal	
cortex or hypothalamus	67
Figure 2.2: Position of the microdialysis probe in the frontal cortex and	
hypothalamus	70
Figure 2.3: Photograph of a brain slice from a rat with a microdialysis probe	
implanted into the hypothalamus and perfused with Evans Blue dye.	71
Figure 2.4. Effect of a depolarising pulse of K^+ and Ca^{2+} removal on dialysate	
noradrenaline concentration	76
Figure 2.5. The hypoactivity score sheet used to rate the level of hypoactivity in	
rats following clonidine administration	82
Figure 3.1: The effect of sibutramine (a: 0.25, 0.5, or 1 mg / kg i.p. b: 1, 3 or	
10 mg / kg i.p.) on dialysate noradrenaline concentration in the	
frontal cortex	92
Figure 3.2: The effect of d-amphetamine (1, 3 or 10 mg / kg i.p.) on dialysate	
noradrenaline concentration from the frontal cortex	93
Figure 3.3: The effect of RX821002 (1 mg / kg followed by 3 mg / kg i.p.) on	
dialysate noradrenaline concentration from the frontal cortex	95
Figure 3.4: The effect of sibutramine or d-amphetamine (10 mg / kg i.p.) on the	
concentration of noradrenaline in samples of cortical dialysate	
from rats treated 1 h previously with RX821002 (3 mg / kg i.p.)	96
Figure 3.5a: The effect of sibutramine (10 mg / kg i.p.) on the concentration of	
noradrenaline in samples of cortical dialysate from non-pretreated	
rats and rats pretreated 1 h earlier with RX821002 (3 mg / kg i.p.)	97
Figure 3.5b: The effect of d-amphetamine (10 mg / kg i.p.) on the concentration	
of noradrenaline in samples of cortical dialysate from non-	
pretreated rats and rats pretreated 1 h earlier with RX821002	
(3 mg / kg i.p.)	98

Figure 4.1: The effect of sibutramine (0.25, 1 or 10 mg / kg i.p.) on dialysate	
noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex	113
Figure 4.2: The effect of d-amphetamine (10 mg / kg i.p.) on dialysate	
noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex	114
Figure 4.3: The effect of sibutramine (0.5, 1 or 10 mg / kg i.p.) on dialysate	
noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus	115
Figure 4.4: The effect of d-amphetamine (10 mg / kg i.p.) on dialysate	
noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus	116
Figure 5.1: The effect of sibutramine (10 mg / kg i.p.) on the concentration of	
noradrenaline in dialysate samples from the frontal cortex of rats	
pretreated with either RX821002 (3 mg / kg i.p.) or atipamezole	
(1 mg / kg i.p.)	137
Figure 5.2: The effect of sibutramine (10 mg / kg i.p.) on the concentration of	
noradrenaline in dialysate samples from the hypothalamus of rats	
pretreated with either RX821002 (3 mg / kg i.p.) or atipamezole	
(1 mg / kg i.p.)	139
Figure 5.3: The effect of local administration of RX821002 (1 μ M) on basal and	ıd
sibutramine-induced (10 mg / kg i.p.) increases in dialysate	
noradrenaline concentration from the frontal cortex	141
Figure 5.4: The effect of local administration of RX821002 (1 μ M) on basal and	ıd
sibutramine-induced (10 mg / kg i.p.) increases in dialysate	
noradrenaline concentration from the hypothalamus	142
Figure 5.5: Schematic diagram showing a possible negative feedback loop	
regulating the firing rate of noradrenergic neurones in the medull	а
by non-noradrenergic neurones in the hypothalamus	151
Figure 6.1: The density of $[^{3}H]$ RX821002 binding sites in the frontal cortex as	nd
hypothalamus of lean and obese Zucker rats	159
Figure 6.2: Dose-response relationships for clonidine-induced mydriasis in lea	ın
and obese Zucker rats	161
Figure 6.3: Dose-response relationships for clonidine-induced hypoactivity in	
lean and obese Zucker rats	163

List of tables

Table 1.1: Monoamine reuptake inhibition profiles of sibutramine, Metabolite 1	
and Metabolite 2 in rat and human brain tissue in vitro and	
comparison with d-amphetamine	33
Table 1.2: Effect of d-amphetamine on $[^{3}H]$ noradrenaline, $[^{3}H]$ 5-HT and	
$[^{3}H]$ dopamine release from rat brain slices in vitro.	38
Table 6.1: K_d values (nM) for the binding of $[^{3}H]RX821002$ to α_2 -adrenoceptor	
in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus of lean and obese Zucker	
rats	160

Abbreviations

5-HT	5-hydroxytryptamine, or serotonin
6-OHDA	6-hydroxydopamine
8-OH-DPAT	8-hydroxy-2-(di-n-propylamino)tetralin
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
B _{max}	total no. of binding sites
aCSF	artificial cerebrospinal fluid
ANOVA	analysis of variance
AP	anterior-posterior
BAT	brown adipose tissue
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
cDNA	complementary deoxyribosenucleic acid
CNS	central nervous system
d.p.m.	disintegrations per minute
DBH	Dopamine-β-hydroxylase
DSP-4	N-(2-chloroethyl)-N-ethyl-2-bromobenzylamine
DV	dorsal-ventral
ECD	electrochemical detection
ED ₅₀	dose causing 50% of maximum effect
g	gram
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
GDP	guanosine diphosphate
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
h	hour
[³ H]	tritium
HPLC	high pressure liquid chromatography
i.c.v.	intra cerebroventricular
i.d.	inner diameter
i.p.	intra peritoneal
kD	kilo Dalton
K _d	dissociation constant
Ki	inhibitor constant

1	litre
m	metre
mol	moles
min	minute
М	molar
ML	medial-lateral
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
n	sample size
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NPY	neuropeptide Y
o.d.	outer diameter
Р	probability
p.o.	per os
PVN	paraventricular nucleus
REDOX	oxidation-reduction potential
s.c.	subcutaneous
SEM	standard error of the mean
SSRI	selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor
V	Volt

Prefixes

m	milli	$(x 10^{-3})$
μ	micro	(x 10 ⁻⁶)
n	nano	(x 10 ⁻⁹)
f	femto	$(x \ 10^{-12})$
p	pico	$(\times 10^{-15})$
k	kilo	$(x \ 10^3)$

Publications arising from this thesis

Wortley, K. E., Hughes, Z. A., Heal, D. J. & Stanford, S. C. (1999). Comparison of the effects of sibutramine with *d*-amphetamine on changes in cortical extracellular noradrenaline concentration *in vivo* and the role of α_2 -adrenoceptors. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **127:** 1860-1866.

Wortley, K. E., Heal, D. J. & Stanford, S. C. (1999). Modulation of sibutramine-induced increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentrations in rat frontal cortex and hypothalamus by α_2 -adrenoceptors. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **128**: 659-666.

Wortley, K.E., Heal, D.J. & Stanford, S.C. (1999). Effects of sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine on extracellular noradrenaline concentration in rat frontal cortex and hypothalamus. *Int. J. Obesity* **23** (suppl): O83.

Stanford, S.C., Wortley, K.E., & Heal, D.J. (1999). Effects of α_2 -adrenoceptor blockade on increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine. *Int. J. Obesity.* **23** (suppl): P219.

Viggers, J., Cheetham, S.C., Lancashire, B., Prow, M., Aspley, S., Wortley, K.E., Stanford, S.C. & Heal., D.J. (1999). *d*-Fenfluramine and phentermine both enhance central noradrenergic function via release-contrast with reuptake inhibition by sibutramine. *Int. J. Obesity* 23 (suppl): P225.

Wortley, K.E., Heal, D.J. & Stanford, S.C. (1998). Effect of halothane-anaesthesia on extracellular noradrenaline in rat cortex. *J.Psychopharmacol.* **12** (suppl) A33.

Wortley, K. E., Hughes, Z.A, Heal, D. J. & Stanford, S. C. (1998). Effects of RX821002 on changes in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in rat frontal cortex induced by sibutramine or *d*-amphetamine. *Int. J. Obesity.* **22** (suppl): P92.

Hughes, Z.A., Wortley, K. E., Heal, D. J. & Stanford, S. C. (1998). Effects of sibutramine or *d*-amphetamine on extracellular noradrenaline in the rat frontal cortex of anaesthetised and freely-moving rats. *Int. J. Obesity.* **22** (suppl): P93.

Wortley, K. E., Hughes, Z.A, Mason, K., Heal, D.J. & Stanford, S.C. (1997). Comparison of the effects of sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine on the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline in rat frontal cortex. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **122**: 100P.

Chapter 1

General Introduction

Obesity has been described as the most important nutritional disorder of the developed world and its prevalence has reached epidemic proportions in Western societies over recent decades. The disorder results from a combination of low energy expenditure and an increased energy intake, often consequences of genetic predispositions and / or environmental factors such as high-calorie diets and sedentary life styles. In some patients, obesity has serious adverse effects on health, promoting a number of co-morbidities including diabetes, hypertension, coronary heart disease and cancer. Initial treatment strategies employ low-calorie diets and increased physical activity programmes in an effort to reduce energy intake and increase energy expenditure. However, in a major proportion of obese patients, this treatment is ineffective and has no satisfactory long-term benefits. For some of these patients, drug therapy provides an additional approach for the long-term management of their body weight.

d-Amphetamine was introduced over 80 years ago as an appetite suppressant to treat obesity. Unfortunately, this drug also had prominent central stimulant and euphoriant properties. In an attempt to overcome the problems associated with psychostimulation, a number of other centrally acting anti-obesity agents were developed for the treatment of obesity. These included agents such as aminorex, phentermine, and *d*-fenfluramine. A popular treatment comprised both phentermine and *d*-fenfluramine, a combination known as 'PhenFen'. These drugs came to be the most commonly used anti-obesity agents in countries such as the United States and Great Britain. However, the use of *d*-fenfluramine

and phentermine became associated with adverse side effects such as primary pulmonary hypertension and valvular heart disease. This eventually led to the removal of these drugs from the market of anti-obesity treatments in September 1997.

Around the same time *d*-fenfluramine and PhenFen were removed from the market of anti-obesity treatments, two other drugs were in the advanced stages of development as potential new anti-obesity agents. These drugs were the centrally acting noradrenaline and 5-HT reuptake inhibitor, sibutramine and the peripherally acting lipase inhibitor, orlistat. This study focuses on the central nervous system pharmacology of sibutramine.

At the start of this PhD study, the pharmacology of sibutramine *in vitro* had been well documented. Pharmacologically, the most interesting findings from these studies were that two metabolites of sibutramine were potent inhibitors of noradrenaline and 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) uptake in both human and rat brain tissue. However, no studies existed on the effects of this drug on central noradrenergic transmission *in vivo*. Such studies are of importance considering *d*-amphetamine is a noradrenaline-, as well as a dopamine- and 5-HT-releasing agent *in vivo*. Some evidence implicates a role for *d*-amphetamine's effects on central noradrenergic systems in its ability to increase behavioural activation. Therefore, it is of interest to establish whether sibutramine enhances central noradrenergic transmission *in vivo* and, if it does, to establish whether this is due to noradrenaline-reuptake inhibiting properties, which are indicated *in vitro*, or whether it is due to a noradrenaline-releasing effect of this drug. To address these issues, the primary aim of this study was to establish the effects of sibutramine on extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the rat brain *in vivo*.

The rest of this General Introduction will describe the background on which the present study has built. The noradrenergic innervation of the rat brain will be described first. Then, as sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine, as well as many other centrally acting anti-obesity agents, increase the extracellular concentration of one or more of the monoamines, the role of noradrenaline and 5-HT in the control of food intake will be discussed. The role of dopamine, as well as other endogenous substances that have been found to modulate food intake will be discussed briefly. Following this, the pharmacology of sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine, as well as *d*-fenfluramine (for the purpose of

comparisons) will be described. Since α_2 -adrenoceptors were found to be important for the control of sibutramine's effects on extracellular noradrenaline accumulation, these receptors and their role in regulating central noradrenergic activity will also be discussed. Finally, as the last chapter of this thesis investigated central α_2 -adrenoceptor systems in lean and obese Zucker rats, some of the physiological abnormalities of the obese Zucker rat will be highlighted. Particular attention will be given to abnormalities in central noradrenergic function in these rats.

1.1. Noradrenergic innervation of the rat brain

The presence of catecholamine-containing neurones in the rat brain was first demonstrated using a fluorescence histochemical technique by Dahlström and Fuxe in 1964. Regions containing catecholamine cell bodies were divided into twelve groups according to their topographical conditions and morphology: groups A1-A4 located in the medulla oblongata; groups A5-A7 located in the pons; groups A8-A10 located in the mesencephalon; groups A11-A12 located in the diencephalon. Within these brain regions, two subgroups of noradrenergic cell bodies exist, the lateral tegmental system, comprising groups A1-A3, A5 and A7, and the locus coeruleus complex, comprising groups A4 and A6. These two distinct noradrenergic systems are described below.

Following the identification of noradrenaline-containing axons in the brain, pathways of noradrenergic neurones projecting through the central nervous system were soon unravelled (early work reviewed by Moore and Bloom, 1979). A more recent account of the anatomy of noradrenaline-containing neurones in the brain describes four major axon bundles in the brain that consist in part, but not exclusively, of noradrenaline-containing axons: the medial forebrain bundle; the dorsal tegmental bundle; the central tegmental tract; the medullary catecholamine bundle (see Holets, 1990). The dorsal catecholamine bundle carries a major portion of ascending neurones from the locus coeruleus and the lateral tegmental system. This bundle travels as a component of the central tegmental tract and then joins the medial forebrain bundle. The medial forebrain bundle also carries a major portion of ascending noradrenaline-, as well as

dopamine-containing neurones from groups in the pons and mesencephalon. The central tegmental tract primarily carries noradrenaline- and adrenaline-containing axons ascending from groups of cell bodies in the medulla and pons that lie outside of the locus coeruleus. The medullary catecholamine bundle carries descending axons from the A5 and A6 cell groups, as well as ascending axons from noradrenergic and adrenergic neurones from groups of cell bodies in the medulla.

1.1.1. The locus coeruleus

In the rat, the locus coeruleus consists entirely of noradrenergic neurones (Dahlström and Fuxe, 1964). It is the largest nucleus of noradrenergic cell bodies in the mammalian brain and innervates targets throughout the entire central nervous system (see Moore and Bloom, 1979). There are some areas in the brain to which the locus coeruleus system provides the sole noradrenergic innervation. These areas include the cerebellum, the hippocampus and the cerebral cortex. Most other areas in the central nervous system receive a mixed noradrenergic innervation from both the locus coeruleus and lateral tegmental systems. Although it has widespread projections, the size of the locus coeruleus is small, with an estimated 1400-1600 neurones in the rat (Swanson, 1976). These neurones are typically multipolar, with 3-5 dendrites projecting from the soma that branch at least once. The axons show extensive branching with collaterals given off within the nucleus, as well as beyond it (Swanson, 1976).

Noradrenergic innervation of the cortex has been described in both the rat and monkey using a range of techniques including fluoresence histochemistry (Andén *et al.* 1966) and immunohistochemical localisation of dopamine- β -hydroxylase (an enzyme found only in catecholamine-synthesising cells and converts dopamine to noradrenaline) (Morrison *et al.* 1982). Using electron microscopic autoradiography, original studies in the rat frontoparietal cortex indicated that only 5% of noradrenergic terminals in this area formed synapses with postsynaptic elements (Descarries *et al.* 1977). The remaining noradrenergic neuronal terminals did not appear to form identifiable synaptic connections. The authors interpret their findings as evidence that noradrenaline functioned as a neuromodulator, to influence the release of other neurotransmitters. However, later studies provided evidence that contradicted the findings of Descarries *et al.* (1977).

Papadopoulos *et al.* (1987) studied serial ultrathin sections of rat cerebral cortex using antibodies against noradrenaline (these antibodies were actually raised against synthesising enzymes, or against noradrenaline bound to a larger protein, see Papadopoulos and Parnavelas, 1991). Their analyses showed that approximately 90% of labelled noradrenergic variscosities formed synapses with postsynaptic elements. These findings provided some of the first pieces of evidence to show that the noradrenergic system displayed specialised synaptic junctions, similar to other afferent systems in the cortex.

1.1.2. The lateral tegmental noradrenergic system

Like locus coeruleus neurones, lateral tegmental neurones are multipolar, although their variscosities are larger than than those of the locus coeruleus system and their axons are more irregular in size (Moore and Bloom, 1979). Targets for lateral tegmental noradrenergic projections include the basal forebrain, thalamus, hypothalamus, brainstem and spinal cord.

In this thesis, changes in extracellular noradrenaline concentration were monitored in the frontal cortex or in the region of the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. Evidence from fluorescence histochemical studies suggest that there is no lateral tegmental noradrenergic innervation of the neocortex (Moore and Bloom, 1979), making the frontal cortex a region exclusively innervated by locus coeruleus neurones. In contrast, the hypothalamus is densely innervated by neurones from both the locus coeruleus and the lateral tegmental system, although evidence suggests that the majority of noradrenergic neurones in the hypothalamus derive from the lateral tegmental system. Palkovits et al. (1980) measured the concentration of noradrenaline in individual hypothalamic nuclei following surgical transections of the lower brain stem or electrolytic lesions of noradrenaline containing cell groups in the medulla. They found that the largest reduction (45-50%) in hypothalamic noradrenaline content was achieved following unilateral lesioning of the A1 group. Fibres ascending from this group were suggested to cross the midline of the brain as the lesion caused a 52% decrease in noradrenaline content of the contralateral paraventricular nuclei. A relatively smaller noradrenergic innervation of the hypothalamus was indicated by noradrenergic neurones of the A2 group (approximately

20 - 30% decrease in noradrenaline content of the arcuate nucleus, median eminence, paraventricular and periventricular nuclei). Lesioning of the A5 group indicated that this group projected mainly to the ventromedial and arcuate nucleus, with only little or no affect on noradrenaline content of other hypothalamic nuclei. Following lesion of the locus coeruleus, a decrease in noradrenaline content was found in the arcuate, supraoptic, paraventricular and periventricular nuclei only. Although this lesion caused a relatively large depletion of noradrenaline in the arcuate and paraventricular nuclei (52 and 40%, respectively), the authors point out that these estimates could be exaggerated since damage to the locus coeruleus is likely to cause to damage to adjacent noradrenergic pathways projecting to the hypothalamus.

Brain regions innervated by both the locus coeruleus and lateral tegmental systems have a greater tissue concentration of noradrenaline than areas innervated by the locus coeruleus system only. For example, the noradrenaline content of the lateral cortex and hippocampus is estimated to be 2.5 and 4.7 pmol / mg tissue, respectively, whereas that of the hypothalamus is estimated to be 32.4 pmol / mg tissue (Zaczek and Coyle, 1982). Lidbrink and Jonsson (1971) report that the turnover rate of noradrenaline in the hypothalamus is slower than in the cortex. Furthermore synaptosomal studies show that neurones in the hypothalamus have a greater affinity for [³H]noradrenaline uptake compared with neurones in the cortex (40 nM and 100 nM, respectively) (Zaczeck *et al.* 1990). Evidence such as this suggests there could be functional differences between noradrenergic neurones of the locus coeruleus and lateral tegmental systems (see Chapters 4 and 5).

1.2. Endogenous substances affecting food intake

1.2.1. Noradrenaline

In 1960, Grossman demonstrated that administration noradrenaline through cannulae implanted in the perifornical hypothalamus, as well as areas more medial and ventral, induced a marked feeding response in satiated rats. Later experiments carried out by Booth (1968) showed that the *l*-isomer of noradrenaline was 90% more effective at inducing this feeding response in rats than the *d*-isomer. Further studies using smaller cannulas than those used by Grossman in 1960, suggested that *l*-noradrenaline was more effective at increasing food intake when injected into areas coincident with, or bordering, the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus than when injected into midlateral areas of the hypothalamus (Matthews *et al.* 1978). In a more extensive study, Leibowitz (1978) tested 35 different brain areas of the rat. This study confirmed that local administration of noradrenaline specifically into the paraventricular nucleus is the most effective site for eliciting a feeding and preprandial drinking response in satiated, as well as mildly hungry (24 h with only 80% of normal daily food intake available) rats. In contrast, injection of noradrenaline into lateral perifonical regions induced a reduction in food intake in mildy hungry rats (see below).

In a meal pattern analysis study, injection of noradrenaline into the paraventricular nucleus was found to increase food intake by increasing meal size rather than meal frequency (Shor-Posner *et al.* 1986). The authors suggest that because noradrenaline had no effect on meal frequency, noradrenaline could influence the termination of feeding (*i.e.* satiety) rather than the stimulation of hunger.

Further studies showed that administration of the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist, clonidine, into the paraventricular nucleus also induced a feeding response in satiated rats (Goldman *et al.* 1985). However, Wellman (1992) showed that the effect of local administration of clonidine into the paraventricular nucleus on feeding was biphasic, with low doses facilitating food intake and high doses (20 and 50 nmol) inhibiting food intake. This biphasic effect of clonidine on food-intake is also found following systemic administration of clonidine (Sanger, 1983). However, the decrease in food intake induced by higher doses of clonidine is likely to be due to the sedative effects of this drug (Drew *et al.* 1979). Interestingly, a recent study reports that orally administered clonidine at a dose of 1.5 or 3 μg / kg does not increase food intake in healthy men or women (Crow *et al.* 1998). In fact, food intake was greater in the placebo group compared with clonidine-treated subjects. Although relatively low doses of clonidine were used in this study, the sedation ratings of clonidine-treated subjects were greater than those of the placebo group. Again, this effect of systemically administered clonidine could hinder the

feeding-stimulatory effects that clonidine elicits through pathways in the hypothalamus.

Goldman *et al.* (1985) showed that both noradrenaline- and clonidine-induced feeding responses could be reduced in a dose-dependent manner by local pretreatment with the non-selective α -adrenoceptor antagonist, phentolamine, or the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonists, yohimbine or rauwolscine. These antagonists alone, at doses that inhibited the noradrenaline- and clonidine-induced feeding responses, had no effect on food intake. In contrast, the study shows that the α_1 -adrenoceptor antagonists, prazosin or corynanthine, do not affect the noradrenaline- or clonidine-induced feeding response, in fact corynanthine actually enhanced the feeding response elicited by hypothalamic injection of noradrenaline found that β -adrenoceptor antagonists, including *l*-propranolol, did not inhibit this response (Leibowitz, 1975a). Furthermore, the relatively selective β -adrenoceptor agonist, isoproterenol, had no effect on food intake 30 min following its local administration at 10 or 100 nmol. Collectively, these findings suggest that the receptors mediating the feeding response induced by hypothalamic injection of noradrenaline to relatively selective β -adrenoceptor agonist.

Goldman *et al.* (1985) also showed that local administration of clonidine into the paraventricular nucleus still elicited a feeding response 2 h after local administration of the catecholamine synthesis inhibitor, α -methyl-para-tyrosine, into satiated rats. α -Methyl-para-tyrosine alone had no effect on food intake. This suggests that the α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating the feeding response are located postsynaptically in the region of the paraventricular nucleus. In contrast, activation of α_1 -adrenoceptors in the paraventricular nucleus by the local administration the α_1 -adrenoceptor agonists, cirazoline, methoxamine, phenylpropanolamine or phenylephrine suppressed food intake in freely-feeding rats; an effect that was reversed by local pretreatment with an α_1 -adrenoceptor antagonist (Wellman *et al.* 1993).

Noradrenaline (40 nmol) injected into the lateral regions of the hypothalamus produces a reliable, dose-dependent suppression of feeding (Leibowitz, 1978). Local injection of the monoamine-releasing agent, *d*-amphetamine (6 - 400 nmol) into the

lateral hypothalamus also induces a suppression of food intake in food-deprived rats (Leibowitz, 1975b). No effect of *d*-amphetamine on food intake was found following its administration into the medial hypothalamus. The reduction in food intake induced by *d*-amphetamine injected into the lateral hypothalamus was inhibited by pretreatment with systemic administration of the β -adrenoceptor antagonist, *l*-propranolol, or the dopamine receptor antagonists, haloperidol or pimozide, but was not affected by the α -adrenoceptor antagonists, phentolamine or tolazozine. Furthermore, lateral hypothalamic administration of propranolol or haloperidol inhibited the reduction in food intake caused by systemically administered *d*-amphetamine (1 mg / kg) by 45% and 75%, respectively. These findings suggest that the noradrenaline released in the lateral hypothalamus by *d*-amphetamine could act at β -adrenoceptors to mediate part of the reduction in food intake induced by this dose of *d*-amphetamine.

In summary, it appears that activation of both α -adrenoceptor and β -adrenoceptors can modulate feeding behaviour in the rat, with α -adrenoceptor mechanisms appearing to preside in the region of the paraventricular nucleus and β -adrenoceptor mechanisms presiding in the lateral regions of the hypothalamus. Which of these receptor pathways, if any, contribute to the natural, physiological control of food intake in rats is unclear.

1.2.2. 5-Hydroxytryptamine

In 1971, Goldman *et al.* showed that injection of 5-HT into the perifornical region of the hypothalamus induced a suppression of food intake in food-deprived rats. A further study of the suppressive effect of 5-HT on food intake in freely-feeding rats revealed that the injection of 5-HT (5-20 nmol) into the paraventricular nucleus induced a dose-dependent decrease in food intake specifically at the onset of the dark period (Leibowitz *et al.* 1989). No effect of 5-HT on food intake was observed during other stages of the light-dark cycle using this dose of 5-HT. The decrease in feeding behaviour was characterised by a highly selective reduction in carbohydrate intake, although there was a slight enhancement in preference for protein and fat with little overall change in total caloric intake. This suppressive effect of 5-HT on carbohydrate intake has since been mapped more specifically to the medial hypothalamic nuclei. In a study of 7 different hypothalamic nuclei and 5 extrahypothalamic sights, a 50-70% suppression of carbohydrate intake was observed only when 5-HT (2.5 nmol) was injected into the paraventricular, ventromedial or suprachiasmatic nuclei of freely-feeding rats (Leibowitz *et al.* 1990). Studies investigating the behavioural changes by which 5-HT induces a suppression of feeding behaviour in freely-feeding rats suggest that 5-HT enhances satiety. Shor-Posner *et al.* (1986), injected 5-HT into the paraventricular nucleus of freely-feeding rats and monitored changes in feeding patterns. Injections of 5-HT induced a decrease in meal size, duration and feeding rate, but did not affect the frequency of meals consumed, suggesting that 5-HT influenced the onset of satiety rather than the suppression of hunger.

The hypothesis that central serotonergic transmission mediates a suppressive effect on feeding behaviour is supported by Hutson *et al.* (1986). These authors monitored feeding behaviour in rats following central administration of the 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptor agonist 8-hydroxy-2-(di-n-propylamino)-tetralin (8-OH-DPAT). Activation of these somatodendritic autoreceptors induces a decrease in serotonergic neuronal activity (see Chapter 3, section 3.1.). Infusion of 8-OH-DPAT through cannulas implanted into either the dorsal or median raphé (regions containing the cell bodies of serotonergic neurones) caused an increase in food intake and feeding duration in satiated rats compared with rats infused with saline. Behavioural analysis revealed that infusion of 8-OH-DPAT did not affect behaviours such as locomotion, rearing, forepaw treading or 'wet dog shakes', suggesting that the increase in food intake was not due to an increase in behavioural arousal. The authors suggest that the effect of 8-OH-DPAT is mediated through an action on 5-HT autoreceptors located on serotonergic cell bodies; the ensuing decrease in serotonergic neuronal activity and the increase in food intake is consistent with the hypothesis that that enhanced serotonergic transmission depresses feeding behaviour.

Feeding studies have found that systemic administration of the mixed 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{1B} receptor agonist 5-methoxy-3-(1,2,3,6-tetrahydro-4-pyridinyl)-1H-indole (RU-24969) reduces food intake in food-deprived rats by decreasing the time spent feeding, without affecting the rate of eating (Simansky and Vaidya, 1990). Further studies

with RU-24969 and the selective 5-HT_{1B} agonist 3-(1,2,5,6-tetrahydropyrid-4-ylpyrolo[3,2,-b]pyrid-5-one (CP 93129) suggest that stimulation of 5-HT_{1B} receptors in the hypothalamus reduces food intake in the rat. When injected directly into the paraventricular nucleus, both these drugs reduced food intake in food-deprived rats and this effect was blocked by propranolol, a β -adrenoceptor antagonist that also blocks 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{1B} receptors at the dose used in this study (20 nmol) (Samanin and Grignaschi, 1996). These findings suggest that activation of hypothalamic 5-HT_{1B} receptors could induce satiety.

Quipazine, is a non-selective 5-HT receptor agonist and its systemic administration induces a dose-dependent reduction in the intake of palatable diet in rats (Hewson *et al.* 1988). This effect is inhibited by systemic administration of the non-selective 5-HT receptor antagonist, methysergide, as well as the non-selective 5-HT₂ receptor antagonist, ritanserin and the selective 5-HT_{2A/2C} receptor antagonist, ketanserin (Hewson *et al.* 1988). However, the 5-HT₃ receptor antagonist, 1,2,3,9-tetrahydro-9-methyl-3[(2-methyl-1H-imidazol-1-yl)methyl]-4H-carbazol-4-one (GR 38032F) had no effect on the suppression of food intake induced by quipazine. The authors conclude that anorectic effects of quipazine are mediated, at least in part, by 5-HT₂ receptors, but also suggest that because none of the 5-HT receptor antagonists alone affected feeding behaviour, 5-HT is not involved in the tonic control of food intake. However, these experiments were performed during the light period and cannot rule out a tonic effect of 5-HT on food intake control during the dark period, when injection of 5-HT into the hypothalamus is reported to be most effective at suppressing food intake (Leibowitz, *et al.*, 1989).

A role for 5-HT₂ receptors in the control of food intake is supported by studies in humans. Systemic administration of a low dose (0.4 mg / kg) of the 5-HT_{2C} receptor agonist, m-chlorophenylpiperazine (m-CPP), to healthy female volunteers reduced food intake by 30% during a test meal (Walsh *et al.*1994). Similarly, chronic administration (14 days) of the selective 5-HT_{2C} receptor antagonist, RS-102221 (a benzenesulphonamide of 8-[5-(5-amino-2,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-5-oxopentyl]-1,3, 8-triazaspiro[4.5]decane-2,4-dione) increased food intake and body weight gain in rats (Bonhaus *et al.* 1997). Furthermore, studies in mutant mice lacking the 5-HT_{2C} receptor gene showed that body weight and adipose tissue deposition in adult mutant mice were greater than in wild type mice (Heisler *et al.* 1998). Feeding studies suggested that the greater body weight and adipose tissue deposition in mutant mice is due to the increased food intake by these mice.

In contrast to quipazine, the 5-HT receptors mediating the anorectic effects of the 5-HT releasing agent, *d*-fenfluramine, in rats (see section 1.2.3.) are not thought to involve 5-HT₂ receptors. Samanin *et al.* (1989) report that the non-selective 5-HT receptor antagonist, metergoline, dose-dependently inhibited the decrease in food intake following *d*-fenfluramine administration. However, ritanserin, over a similar dose-range to that used by Hewson *et al.* (1988), (0.5-2 mg / kg) only partially prevented the suppression of food intake following *d*-fenfluramine administration. Neill *et al.* (1990), also found the effects of *d*-fenfluramine to be antagonised by metergoline but unaffected by ritanserin. These findings suggested that 5-HT receptors other than the 5-HT₂ receptors are involved in mediating *d*-fenfluramine's effects, possibly 5-HT_{1B} receptors.

The role of 5-HT₃ receptors in food intake control is uncertain. Mazzola-Pomietto *et al.* (1995) found that the 5-HT₃ receptor agonist, m-chlorophenylbiguanide, (m-CPBG), reduced food intake in food-deprived rats only at a relatively high dose of 10 mg / kg. However, the 5-HT₃ receptor antagonist, 3-tropanyl-3,5-dichlorobenzoate (MDL-72222) induced a dose-dependent reduction of food intake in food-deprived rats, whereas the 5-HT₃ receptor antagonist, ondansetron, (0.032 or 0.32 mg / kg) was without effect. In freely-feeding rats, none of these agents affected food intake. The authors concluded that their findings did not support an important role for 5-HT₃ receptors in food intake control. In contrast, Van der Hoek and Cooper (1994) reported that ondansetron reduced the intake of a palatable diet in freely-feeding rats, but not food-deprived rats, at all doses tested over the dose range 3-30 μ g / kg. The reduction of food intake in freely-feeding rats was characterised by a reduction in the time spent eating without a change in the frequency of eating, suggesting that ondansetron enhances satiety. Clearly, the role of 5-HT₃ receptors in food intake control requires further investigation.

Other 5-HT receptor subtypes also exist, such as the 5-HT₄, 5-HT₅, 5-HT₆ and 5-HT₇ receptors, although their role, if any, in food intake control remains to be fully

elucidated.

1.2.3. Other endogenous substances affecting food intake

A variety of other endogenous substances in the brain, as well as the periphery, have been identified as having either a facilitatory or inhibitory effect on food intake. In the brain, these substances include the other monomine, dopamine and the neuropeptides, neuropeptide Y (NPY) and galanin. In the periphery, these substances include the hormones, cholecystokinin (CCK), and leptin.

Studies investigating the receptors through which *d*-amphetamine mediates its effects have indicated that dopaminergic transmission can affect food intake. In 1975, Leibowitz showed that the anorectic effect of peripherally injected *d*-amphetamine was prevented by local injection of the relatively non-selective dopamine receptor antagonist, haloperidol into the lateral hypothalamus (Leibowitz, 1975b). A later study using more selective dopamine antagonists showed that the reduction in food intake induced by a low dose (0.3 mg / kg) *d*-amphetamine in rats was totally reversed by the selective dopamine D₁ receptor antagonist, R-(+)-8-chloro-2, 3, 4, 5-tetrahydro-3-methyl-5-phenyl-1H-3-benzazepine-7-ol maleate (SCH 23390), but not affected by the selective dopamine D₂ receptor antagonist, sulpiride (Gilbert and Cooper, 1985). In contrast, the anorectic effect of a higher dose of *d*-amphetamine (1 mg / kg) was not affected by either antagonist. Shukla *et al.* (1990) also found no effect of haloperidol or the dopamine D₂ receptor antagonist, pimozide, on the reduction in food intake induced by a high dose of *d*-amphetamine (3.2. mg / kg). These findings suggest that dopamine D₁ receptors are involved only in mediating the anorectic effect of low doses *d*-amphetamine.

NPY and galanin are synthesised in the hypothalamus and injection of either one into the hypothalamus of satiated rats stimulates feeding behaviour. The effects of these neuropeptides on feeding behaviour can be distinguished by their selectivity to increase the consumption of specific macronutrients: feeding studies show that hypothalamic administration of NPY preferentially increases carbohydrate consumption, whereas galanin preferentially increases the consumption of fat (reviewed by Leibowitz, 1995). Various animal models of obesity, including the obese Zucker rat, exhibit increased hypothalamic levels of both peptides as well as increased levels of their mRNAs (reviewed by Leibowitz, 1995). Whether these disturbances in hypothalamic peptides are a causal factor in obesity remains to be established.

CCK is found in both the upper gastrointestinal tract and in the brain. Peripheral administration of the peptide reduces food intake in a variety of species including man and feeding studies have characterised this reduction as a decrease in meal size and duration, thus indicating the advancement of satiety (reviewed by Moran, 1996). During feeding, CCK is secreted from the small intestine and, based on findings from studies investigating the effects of peripherally injected CCK, a role for its subsequent influence on satiety has been proposed. However, this idea is challenged by Baldwin *et al.* (1998), who argue that the concentration of CCK released during feeding is probably not sufficient to influence feeding behaviour. These authors also suggest that the decrease in food intake induced by peripheral administration of CCK could result from the induction of aversion and nausea as opposed to satiety. These issues question the physiological relevance of peripherally administered CCK on feeding behaviour.

Although secreted from adipose tissue, leptin is thought to decrease food intake and modulate glucose and fat metabolism *via* leptin receptors in the hypothalamus. Plasma levels of leptin are highly correlated with adipose tissue mass and the concentration of leptin in plasma falls in both humans and mice after weight loss. Conversely, plasma leptin concentrations are increased in obese humans (reviewed by Friedman and Halaas, 1998). In light of the findings correlating leptin and adipose tissue mass, leptin has been suggested to act as a messenger in part of a feedback loop to maintain constant body stores of fat. Consistent with a role for leptin in regulating body fat stores, recessive mutations of both the leptin gene and the leptin receptor gene in mice resemble morbid obesity in humans (reviewed by Friedman and Halaas, 1998).

1.3. Anti-obesity agents

1.3.1. Sibutramine

Sibutramine (BTS 54 524; <u>N</u>-{1-[1-(4-chlorophenyl)cyclobutyl]-methyl butyl}-<u>N,N</u>-dimethylamine HCl monohydrate) was originally developed in a research programme focussed on discovering potential new antidepressant treatments. The rationale for the research programme was based on work by Vetulani and Sulser (1975) which proposed that that β -adrenoceptor down-regulation in the central nervous system was the common therapeutic mechanism for all antidepressant treatments. As preclinical data showed that sibutramine potently down-regulated [³H]dihydroalprenolol binding (a non-selective β -adrenoceptor ligand) in rat cortex after only 3 days of oral administration (Buckett *et al.* 1988) sibutramine was singled out as a potentially powerful antidepressant with a rapid onset of action. However, despite its preclinical profile, sibutramine showed no evidence of antidepressant activity in Phase II clinical trials. Nevertheless, of interest during the trials, it was noted that sibutramine induced weight loss in depressed patients, the magnitude of which paralleled dose. This observation led to the development of this drug as an anti-obesity agent.

Buckett *et al.* (1988) reported that sibutramine preferentially inhibited the uptake of [¹⁴C]noradrenaline into rat cortical slices, with only weak effects on [¹⁴C]5-HT or [¹⁴C]dopamine uptake. In contrast, sibutramine had no effect on monoamine oxidase activity *in vitro*, or *in vivo*. In keeping with its noradrenaline reuptake inhibiting properties, sibutramine dose-dependently inhibited the noradrenaline depleting effects of reserpine, as well as the 5-HT depleting effects of *p*-chloroamphetamine, with 50% prevention of depletion after oral doses of 15.4 or 13.3 mg / kg, respectively. However, of pharmacological importance, sibutramine is rapidly demethylated to the secondary amine, Metabolite 1 (BTS 54 354) and then the primary amine, Metabolite 2 (BTS 54 505) following administration to either animals or humans, (Heal *et al.* 1998a). Later studies showed that these metabolites were at least 20- and 100-fold more potent than the parent compound at inhibiting the uptake of [¹⁴C]noradrenaline or [¹⁴C]5-HT into rat cortical slices, respectively (Luscombe *et al.* 1989). However, sibutramine and its metabolites had

similar effects on β -adrenoceptor down-regulation. This indicated that the metabolites of sibutramine are involved in mediating the pharmacological effects of sibutramine.

Further studies confirmed that whereas sibutramine has relatively weak activity, Metabolites 1 and 2 are potent inhibitors of $[^{3}5-HT]$ and $[^{3}H]$ noradrenaline uptake in synaptosomal preparations of both rat and human brain tissue (see Table 1.1.). Studies also suggest that Metabolites 1 and 2 are moderate inhibitors of dopamine uptake in vitro (Luscombe et al., 1989; Heal and Cheetham, 1997, see Table 1.1.). However, studies investigating sibutramine's profile for dopaminergic function revealed that neither the parent compound nor Metabolites 1 or 2 had any effect on dopaminergic activity in vitro or in vivo (Heal et al. 1992). These studies showed that in contrast to the dopamine reuptake inhibitor and releasing agent, metamphetamine, [³H]dopamine efflux from slices of rat striatum was not potentiated by sibutramine or either of the metabolites. Furthermore, when rats were trained to distinguish between systemically administered d-amphetamine or saline in a two-choice lever pressing paradigm, sibutramine generalised to the saline lever. Finally, these studies also investigated circling behaviour in unilateral nigrostriatal lesioned rats. Whereas orally administered metamphetamine induced pronounced circling behaviour in lesioned rats at a dose of 4.2 mg / kg, sibutramine had no effect at a dose of 6 mg / kg. This lack of effect of sibutramine on dopaminergic function led to the description of this drug as a novel 5-HT and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor.

Neither sibutramine. nor the metabolites stimulate the release of ³H]noradrenaline, ³H]5-HT or ³H]dopamine from rat brain slices in vitro, at concentrations up to 10 µM (Heal and Cheetham, 1997). Furthermore, neither sibutramine nor the metabolites have an affinity (K_i) of < 1000 nM for a range of neurotransmitter receptors including adrenergic, serotonergic, muscarinic, histaminergic or glutamate receptors (Heal and Cheetham, 1997). These findings suggest that the pharmacological effects of sibutramine derive solely from reuptake inhibition. Furthermore, considering the roles of 5-HT and noradrenaline in the control of food intake, the potent inhibitory effects of sibutramine's active metabolites on the reuptake of these monoamines suggested that these properties could be responsible for mediating sibutramine's anti-obesity actions.

	NORADRENALINE	5-HT	DOPAMINE
Human brain			
Sibutramine	5451	298	943
Metabolite 1	20	15	49
Metabolite 2	15	20	45
Rat brain			
Sibutramine	283	3131	2309
Metabolite 1	2.7	18	24
Metabolite 2	4.9	26	31
d-Amphetamine	45	1441	132

 Table 1.1: Monoamine reuptake inhibition profiles of sibutramine, Metabolite 1 and Metabolite 2

 in rat and human brain in vitro and comparison with d-amphetamine.

Numbers represent K_i values (inhibition constants) for the inhibition of monoamine reuptake. Data obtained from Heal *et al.* (1998a).

Acute oral administration of sibutramine to rats induced a dose-dependent inhibition of food intake as tested over the dose-range 1-10 mg / kg (Jackson *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b). The ED₅₀ (dose causing 50 % inhibition of food intake) for this effect was 2.8 mg / kg (Jackson *et al.* 1997b). Similar effects on food intake were observed after oral treatment with the 5-HT and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors, venlafaxine or duloxetine, although their effects on food intake were not as potent as sibutramine's (Jackson *et al.* 1997b). A comparable effect on food intake was also observed after combined treatment with the selective noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, nisoxetine and the selective 5-HT reuptake inhibitor, fluoxetine. Together, these findings strongly supported the hypothesis that the 5-HT and noradrenaline reuptake properties of sibutramine's metabolites mediate this drug's anorectic effect. However, neither fluoxetine nor nisoxetine alone had any effect on food intake over the dose-range 3-30 mg / kg (Jackson *et al.* 1997b). Thus, these findings also highlighted a synergy between 5-HT and noradrenaline in the control of food intake.

Since, over similar dose ranges, sibutramine had profound effects on both food intake as well as noradrenaline and 5-HT reuptake inhibition *in vivo*, it was suggested that the hypophagia was initiated by monoaminergic receptor stimulation as a result of the increased synaptic availability of 5-HT and noradrenaline. Consistent with this idea, the hypophagic effects of sibutramine are inhibited by systemic administration of α_1 -adrenoceptor, β_1 -adrenoceptor or 5-HT_{2A/2C} receptor antagonists (see Chapter 4, section 4.4.3.). Further evidence suggests that these effects are centrally mediated since intracereboventricular injections of Metabolites 1 and 2 reduce food intake in mice at doses which have no effect on food intake when administered peripherally (Heal and Cheetham, 1997).

In a chronic study of sibutramine treatment in Zucker rats, the initial decrease in food intake seen after acute administration was not apparent in treated animals over a two week period (Connoley *et al.* 1995). Despite this lack of difference in food intake, the body weight of treated rats was less than that of the control group. This suggested that sibutramine could also have thermogenic activity. Subsequent experiments in Wistar rats found that a dose of 10 mg / kg sibutramine induced a 23% increase in oxygen consumption and an increase in colonic temperature of approximately 0.76 °C, which was sustained for at least 2 h (Connoley *et al.* 1995). Experiments with fluoxetine and nisoxetine also showed that when combined, these agents could induce a 25% increase in oxygen consumption, whereas neither compound alone had thermogenic capacity, thus highlighting a synergistic effect between these monoamines in the control of thermogenesis. Furthermore, treatment of rats with the ganglionic blocker, clorisondamine, blocked completely the thermogenic response to sibutramine. This indicated that, like its effects on food intake, sibutramine could induce thermogenesis *via* activation of central pathways (Stock, 1997).

The thermogenic activity of sibutramine has been suggested to result from sympathetic activation of brown adipose tissue (BAT) mediated *via* the β_3 -adrenoceptor. Support for a role of the β_3 -adrenoceptor in sibutramine's effects comes from experiments showing that the thermogenic response to sibutramine is blocked by combined treatment with the β_1 - and β_2 -adrenoceptor antagonists atenolol and erythro-dl-1-(7-methylindan-4-yloxy)-3-isopropylaminobutan-2-ol (ICI 118551), respectively, at high doses which are

known to also activate β_3 -adrenoceptors (Connoley *et al.* 1996). In contrast, low, selective doses of these β_1 - and β_2 -adrenoceptor antagonists had no effect on the thermogenic action of sibutramine, thus suggesting that β_3 -adrenoceptors are involved in mediating this effect. By monitoring glucose utilisation in a range of different tissues, the thermogenic activity of sibutramine has been shown to rely specifically on sympathetic stimulation to BAT. Sibutramine induced a large increase in glucose utilisation specifically in BAT of rats. Smaller increases were seen only in the diaphragm and gastocnemius muscle (Stock, 1997). Since there were no increases in glucose utilisation in other tissues innervated by the sympathetic nervous system that were comparable with the increase in BAT, this suggested that the thermogenic activity of sibutramine did not derive simply from a peripheral action of sibutramine on noradrenaline reuptake.

In summary, sibutramine's anti-obesity actions derive from the enhancement of synaptic availability of 5-HT and noradrenaline in the central nervous system, as a result of reuptake inhibiting properties of its two active metabolites. A synergistic action between the increased serotonergic and noradrenergic function then activates central pathways to reduce food intake and increase resting energy expenditure.

1.3.2. d-Amphetamine

Amphetamine was first synthesised in 1887 and has been used clinically as an anorectic agent for many years (reviewed by King and Ellinwood, 1992). However, amphetamine can also cause a number of adverse effects in both the peripheral and central nervous systems. Peripheral effects include an enhancement of systolic and diastolic blood pressure and a slowing of the heart rate. Amphetamine also induces peripheral hyperthermia, whereas centrally it causes hypothermia. There are also many behavioural effects associated with amphetamine administration: low doses enhance locomotor activity while high doses induce stereotypies. Furthermore, amphetamine elicits feelings of euphoria and relief from fatigue, effects that are linked to the abuse liability of this drug. Although a potent anorectic agent, these adverse effects of amphetamine (reviewed by King and Ellinwood, 1992) make this drug an unsuitable candidate for the treatment of obesity.
The effects of amphetamine on food intake have been attributed to its effects on both central dopaminergic and noradrenergic systems. Hollister *et al.* (1975) reported that an intracisternal injection of the catecholamine neurotoxin, 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA) in rats pretreated with desipramine (to protect noradrenergic neurones) reduced the concentration of dopamine in whole brain tissue to approximately 14%. This treatment attenuated the anorectic effect of *d*-amphetamine (0.75-1.5 mg / kg). Although the concentration of noradrenaline in whole brain tissue was reduced in these rats (approximately 20% reduction) a significant correlation was only found between the amount of food consumed and the tissue concentration of dopamine. In contrast, these authors reported that preferential depletion of central noradrenergic neurones (approximately 60% reduction in whole brain tissue) using a low dose of 6-OHDA had no affect on the anorectic action of *d*-amphetamine in rats. These findings suggested that central dopaminergic neurones are involved in the anorectic effect of *d*-amphetamine.

However, Leibowitz (1975b) reported that pretreatment of rats with a β -adrenoceptor antagonist inhibited the anorectic effect of *d*-amphetamine injected into the lateral hypothalamus of rats, suggesting that central noradrenergic pathways could be involved in this drug's effects on food intake. Indeed, a later study showed that electrolytic lesion of the ventral noradrenergic bundle, which decreased the concentration of noradrenaline in the forebrain by approximately 33%, without affecting dopamine or 5-HT, markedly reduced the anorectic effect of *d*-amphetamine (1.25 mg / kg) in rats (Samanin *et al.* 1977).

In 1965, Glowinski and Axelrod showed that *d*-amphetamine induced a 30% release of $[{}^{3}H]$ noradrenaline from rat brain synaptosomes. By adding, *d*-amphetamine to the synaptosomes before the $[{}^{3}H]$ noradrenaline, these authors also showed that this drug had a profound inhibitory effect on noradrenaline uptake (70% inhibition). Later studies showed that both stereoisomers of amphetamine could induce a concentration-dependent inhibition of $[{}^{3}H]$ noradrenaline uptake into rat brain synaptosomes (Thornburg and Moore, 1973). However, Raiteri *et al.* (1975) were unable to show that *d*-amphetamine released $[{}^{3}H]$ noradrenaline from hypothalamic, cerebellar or pons-medulla synaptosomes and found only a modest release from cortical or striatal synaptosomes. In contrast, *d*-amphetamine induced the release of $[{}^{3}H]$ dopamine from striatal, cortical or

hypothalamic synaptosomes as well as $[{}^{3}H]$ 5-HT from striatal or cortical synaptosomes. The authors rejected the suggestion that *d*-amphetamine induced noradrenaline release and concluded that the drug increased noradrenaline efflux by inhibiting its reuptake.

In a recent study using COS-7 cells transfected with cDNAs for the human plasmalemmal noradrenaline transporter and/or the vesicular monoamine transporter, Pifl *et al.* (1999) support the suggestion that *d*-amphetamine both releases and inhibits the reuptake of noradrenaline. These authors found that in cells transfected with the plasmalemmal transporter only and preloaded with [³H]noradrenaline, superfusion with *d*-amphetamine stimulated noradrenaline efflux only at concentrations lower than 10 μ M; higher concentrations of *d*-amphetamine showed only small, or no effect at all on noradrenaline efflux. However, when the high concentrations of *d*-amphetamine were removed from the perfusion medium, noradrenaline efflux increased. In contrast, in cells transfected with both the plasmalemmal and the vesicular monoamine transporter, superfusion with *d*-amphetamine increased noradrenaline efflux with a maximal effect at 1mM, which was maintained at higher concentrations.

To explain their findings, the authors suggested that *d*-amphetamine interacts with the plasmalemmal transporter in two ways: firstly as a substrate, whereby it is transported cell release of into the and causes the noradrenaline, probably by d-amphetamine/noradrenaline exchange on the transporter (see evidence of Rudnick and Wall, 1992, below); secondly, at higher doses, it acts extracellularly to block at low affinity the transportation of substrates in either direction across the plasma membrane. According to this hypothesis, d-amphetamine can only reverse the direction of the plasmalemmal transporter from the inside of the cell. This suggestion would account for the reduction of noradrenaline efflux in the presence of high concentrations of *d*-amphetamine in cells transfected with the plasmalemmal transporter only: high doses of *d*-amphetamine bound to a transport-blocking extracellular site and prevented the efflux of noradrenaline. In cells transfected with both the plasmalemmal and the vesicular monoamine transporter, the authors proposed that high doses of *d*-amphetamine trigger release by mobilising an intracellular pool of noradrenaline (to which the vesicular transporter has been directed in the absence of synaptic vesicles). As the mobilised noradrenaline in the cytoplasm creates a steep concentration gradient with respect to the

extracellular medium, the noradrenaline is able to passively diffuse out of the cell. Whether support for this model of *d*-amphetamine's effects on noradrenaline release and reuptake can be gained from studies *in vivo* remains to be elucidated. However, it is of interest that in the study of Raiteri *et al.* (1975), high doses of *d*-amphetamine (10 μ M) were used to study its effects on noradrenaline release: according to the hypothesis of Pifl *et al.* (1999) this could account for the lack of *d*-amphetamine's effects on noradrenaline release.

Amphetamine's ability to release not just intracellular stores of noradrenaline, but dopamine and 5-HT as well (Raiteri *et al.* 1975; Zettersrom *et al.* 1983; Heal *et al.* 1998b, see Table 1.2.) has prompted investigations into the exact mechanisms behind this phenomenon. These studies have tended to focus on the ability of *d*-amphetamine and its derivatives to release dopamine and 5-HT. Therefore, suggestions as to the mechanisms by which amphetamine induces noradrenaline release are largely based on evidence arising from such studies.

	NORADRENALINE	5-HT	DOPAMINE
100 nM <i>d</i> -amphetamine	57	-	56
1000 nM <i>d</i> -amphetamine	135	-	122
10,000 nM <i>d</i> -amphetamine	162	136	138

Table 1.2: Effect of d-amphetamine on $[{}^{3}H]$ noradrenaline, $[{}^{3}H]$ 5-HT and $[{}^{3}H]$ dopamine release from rat brain slices in vitro.

Numbers represent percentage release of $[^{3}H]$ monoamine. - = non-significant. Data obtained from Heal *et al.* (1998a).

In their studies using *p*-chloroamphetamine (PCA), Rudnick and Wall (1992) showed that PCA induced 5-HT release from both human platelet plasma membrane and chromaffin granule membrane vesicles. In plasma membrane vesicles, PCA was found to compete with 5-HT as a substrate for translocation across the membrane. The efflux of $[^{3}H]$ 5-HT induced by PCA was dependent on the presence of external Na⁺ and inhibited

by the 5-HT reuptake inhibitor, imipramine, which binds to the 5-HT transporter and prevents translocation. The authors concluded that as the proposed mechanism for exchange *via* the transporter requires cotransportation of Na^+ with the external substrate, the characateristics of PCA-induced 5-HT efflux could be mediated by 5-HT / PCA exchange.

In contrast, using a pH sensitive fluorescence marker, PCA was found to disrupt the pH gradient across chromaffin granule membranes, which drives 5-HT accumulation within the vesicles. This finding suggested that PCA, as a weak base, caused 5-HT efflux by binding intravesicular protons, thus increasing intracellular pH. If sufficient, the diminished availability of protons could weaken the ability of the proton gradient (generated by an ATPase) to maintain the intracellular accumulation of 5-HT against its concentration gradient: this would lead to the efflux of 5-HT.

Although the findings from studies such as the one of Rudnick and Wall cannot be assumed to generalise to each monoaminergic system, they do provide clues as to potential mechanisms involved in amphetamine's effects on noradrenergic function. In fact, to generalise these mechanisms to other monoaminergic systems may not be unreasonable considering that both plasmalemmal and vesicular transporters appear to be involved in amphetamine's releasing effects on all the monoamines (Rudnick and Wall 1992; Pifl *et al.* 1995; Pifl *et al.* 1999).

1.3.3. d-Fenfluramine

The introduction of a trifluromethyl group into the phenyl ring of amphetamine (*e.g.* fenfluramine) separates the anorectic from the stimulatory effects of this drug (King and Ellinwood, 1992). As well as these behavioural differences, fenfluramine and amphetamine have markedly different pharmacological activities. Whereas amphetamine mediates its anorectic effects through actions on central dopaminergic and noradrenergic systems, the anorectic effect of fenfluramine is inhibited by 5-HT receptor antagonists. Furthermore, catecholaminergic depleting agents such as 6-hydroxydopamine, which reduce the anorectic effect of amphetamine, do not influence fenfluramine's effects on feeding behaviour (reviewed by Sugrue, 1987).

Feeding studies show that the *d*-isomer of fenfluramine has a greater anorectic effect than the *l*-isomer in both laboratory animals and humans and this effect is blocked by 5-HT receptor antagonists in both animals and humans (reviewed by Silverstone, 1992). Consistent with these findings, *d*-fenfluramine is a potent releaser of $[^{3}H]$ 5-HT from rat brain slices, although it has only weak inhibitory effects on $[^{3}H]$ 5-HT uptake (Heal *et al.* 1998b). Furthermore, microdialysis studies in rats showed that *d*-fenfluramine releases 5-HT *in vivo*, and that this effect is independent of serotonergic neuronal firing (Gundlah *et al.* 1997; see Chapter 3, section 3.1.).

Feeding studies in rats show that *d*-fenfluramine reduced food intake through the enhancement of satiety (Halford *et al.* 1995; see Chapter 3, section 3.1.). In addition, *d*-fenfluramine enhances diet-induced thermogenesis, although it has no effect on resting metabolic rate (Stallone and Levitsky, 1994). Although it has now been removed from the market as an anti-obesity agents, *d*-fenfluramine remains a useful pharmacological research tool, particularly for the purpose of comparing drugs that act on central serotonergic systems.

1.4. α_2 -Adrenoceptors

1.4.1. α_2 -Adrenoceptor subtypes

Adrenoceptors are cell membrane receptors belonging to the seven transmembrane spanning G-protein-linked family of receptors. The existence of subtypes for α_2 -adrenoceptors was suggested in the mid 1980s by radioligand binding studies comparing the binding characteristics of various α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists and antagonists. Experiments showed that prazosin, originally thought to interact with α_1 -adrenoceptors only, caused a relatively potent inhibition (K_i <100 nM) of [³H]rauwolscine binding in neonatal rat lung and rat kidney tissue. However, in human platelets, prazosin was relatively insensitive (K_i >1000 nM) at inhibiting [³H]rauwolscine binding (Bylund, 1985; Petrash and Bylund, 1986). These two populations were

designated α_{2A} and α_{2B} , with the human platelet serving as the prototype tissue for α_{2A} -adrenoceptors and the rat neonatal lung serving as the prototype tissue for α_{2B} -adrenoceptors (see Bylund, 1988).

A third α_2 -adrenoceptor subtype was identified in a cell line derived from opposum kidney and designated the α_{2C} -adrenoceptor (see Bylund, 1988). The fourth α_2 -adrenoceptor subtype was first identified in the bovine pineal gland and rat submaxillary gland by Simonneaux *et al.* (1991). The α_2 -adrenoceptors in these tissues had a pharmacological profile distinct from the α_{2A} - α_{2B} - or α_{2C} -adrenoceptor subtypes and was therefore designated the α_{2D} -adrenoceptor. However, later evidence suggested this receptor subtype was a species analogue of the human α_{2A} -adrenoceptor (Harrison *et al.* 1991).

Subtypes of α_2 -adrenoceptors have also been cloned and binding studies using recombinant receptors show that they correspond well with the tissue-defined subtypes: the three subtypes cloned from human sources have characteristics of the α_{2A} - α_{2B} - and α_{2C} -adrenoceptor subtypes and those cloned from rat and mouse tissue have characteristics of the α_{2B} - α_{2C} - and α_{2D} -adrenoceptor subtypes (see Hieble and Ruffolo, 1996).

Evidence from functional studies supports the α_2 -adrenoceptor subtype classification scheme. Bylund (1988) monitored α_2 -adrenoceptor-mediated inhibition of cAMP production (see below) in human adenocarcinoma (HT29 cells) and neuroblastoma glioma hybrid cells (NG-108 cells), which express α_{2A} - and α_{2B} -adrenoceptors, respectively. The study found a high correlation between the ability of various antagonists to inhibit the dose-response curve generated by the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist, 5-bromo-6-(2-imidazoline-2yl)-aminol-quinoxaline (UK-14304) and their K_i values in the same cell line; this correlation did not exist between cell lines. These findings provided evidence to support the functional existence of α_{2A} - and α_{2B} -adrenoceptors.

Trendelenburg *et al.* (1993) suggested that the presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in rat cortex are α_{2D} -adrenoceptors, based on the ability of a range of α_2 -adrenoceptor ligands

to modulate the release of preloaded [³H]noradrenaline from cortical slices. Other studies employing a range of α_2 -adrenoceptor ligands suggest that central postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating mydriasis in rats are also α_{2D} -adrenoceptors (Heal *et al.* 1995b).

1.4.2. α_2 -Adrenoceptors and second messenger systems

 α_2 -Adrenoceptors are negatively coupled to the enzyme adenylate cyclase *via* a G_i protein and this is thought to be the major cellular transduction process occurring after α_2 -adrenoceptor activation. In 1988, Hertting and Allgaier showed that the inhibitory effects of the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist clonidine on [³H]noradrenaline release from rabbit hippocampal slices is inhibited by treatment with islet-activating protein (IAP) or N-ethylmaleimide (NEM), which inactivate the regulatory G proteins G_i and G_o. Treatment with IAP and NEM alone, increased [³H]noradrenaline release. These findings suggested that α_2 -adrenoceptor-mediated signals are transduced across the plasma membrane *via* regulatory G proteins.

In 1991, Osborne showed that clonidine and the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist, UK-14,304 reduced the level of adenylate cyclase activity in rabbit retinal homogenates. In contrast, forskolin, which activates adenylate cyclase, increased the activity of this enzyme in rabbit retinal homogenates. The response to clonidine was blocked by pertussis toxin, which inhibits G_i-proteins exchanging bound GDP for GTP. The decrease in cAMP levels induced by clonidine or UK-14304 was inhibited by the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonists yohimbine or phentolamine but not by the α_1 -adrenoceptor antagonist, prazosin. Serotonergic, cholinergic and β -adrenoceptors in the rabbit retina exert inhibitory effects on adenylate cyclase activity that are mediated by an inhibitory guanine nucleotide regulating protein. Whether the α_2 -adrenoceptor subtypes differ with respect to their interactions with G_i-proteins and the subsequent effects on adenylate cyclase is currently unknown.

1.4.3. α_2 -Adrenoceptors and the regulation of noradrenergic neuronal activity

Noradrenergic neuronal activity is subject to autoregulation by α_2 -adrenoceptors located on the cell bodies (somatodendritic α_2 -adrenoceptors), as well as the axon terminals (terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors). Studies demonstrated that clonidine, administered systemically or by direct (microiontophoretic) application, dose-dependently inhibited the spontaneous firing of noradrenergic neurones in the locus coeruleus of anaesthetised rats (Svensson *et al.* 1975; Cedarbaum and Aghajanian, 1976). In contrast, systemic administration of the α -adrenoceptor antagonist, piperoxane, produced a dose-dependent increase in the spontaneous firing rate of locus coeruleus neurones and, furthermore, returned the firing rate of these neurones to pre-injection levels following clonidine administration (Cedarbaum and Aghajanian, 1976). Microiontophoretic administration of noradrenaline or adrenaline to locus coeruleus neurones also reduced the spontaneous firing rate of these cells (Cedarbaum and Aghajanian, 1976; 1977). These findings suggested that locus coeruleus neurones possess α -adrenoceptors on, or in the vicinity, of their cell bodies and that these receptors regulate neuronal firing activity.

Both Svensson and Usdin (1978) and Scuvée-Moreau and Dresse (1979) monitored locus coeruleus neuronal activity in anaesthetised rats and showed that the noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, desipramine (DMI) reduced the spontaneous firing rate of these neurones. Svensson and Usdin (1978) also showed that this effect was reversed by the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, yohimbine, suggesting that the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by DMI activated α_2 -adrenoceptors and reduced neuronal firing. More recently, Mateo *et al.* (1998) also showed that 1 mg / kg DMI decreased the firing rate of locus coeruleus neurones by approximately 73% in anaesthetised rats. This effect was completely reversed by systemic administration of the highly selective α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, 2-[2-(2-methoxy-1, 4-benzodioxanyl)] imidazoline hydrochloride (RX821002), confirming that the depression in firing activity caused by DMI in anaesthetised rats is mediated by α_2 -adrenoceptors.

 α_2 -Adrenoceptors have also been implicated in the control of lateral tegmental

noradrenergic neuronal firing. Systemic administration of clonidine has been shown to cause a dose-dependent inhibition of the spontaneous firing rate of cells in the A1, A2 and A5 noradrenergic regions (Andrade and Aghajanian, 1982; Moore and Guyenet, 1983; Kaba *et al.* 1986). Microiontophoretic application of clonidine also inhibited cells in the A5 noradrenergic region, suggesting that α_2 -adrenoceptors located in the region of the cell bodies could mediate this inhibitory effect (Andrade and Aghajanian, 1982). In contrast, the α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating the inhibitory effects of clonidine on the firing rate of A1 noradrenergic neurones are not thought to be located in the region of the cell bodies (Kaba *et al.* 1986, see Chapter 4, section 4.4.2.).

It is noteworthy that the studies above investigating locus coeruleus and lateral tegmental noradrenergic neuronal firing have all been carried out in anaesthetised rats. An extensive literature search revealed that there have been no studies investigating α_2 -adrenoceptor-mediated control of noradrenergic neuronal firing in conscious, freely-moving rats. As anaesthesia can modify noradrenergic neuronal function (see Chapters 3 and 4) it cannot be assumed that the findings of the studies described above also apply to conscious rats.

Also during the 1970s, α_2 -adrenoceptors located on the terminals of noradrenergic neurones were proposed to modulate noradrenergic activity. Starke (1972) found that in isolated perfused rabbit heart, preloaded with [¹⁴C]noradrenaline, infusion of unlabelled noradrenaline decreased the stimulation-induced overflow of [¹⁴C]noradrenaline. This effect was diminished in the presence of the α -adrenoceptor blocking agent, phenoxybenzamine, at doses that do not block noradrenaline reuptake. Vogel *et al.* (1972) measured [³H]noradrenaline release from a culture of rat superior cervical ganglion that had formed axonal sprouts. Electrical- or K⁺- induced stimulation of the cultured ganglia caused a Ca²⁺-dependent increase in [³H]noradrenaline efflux, which was enhanced by phenoxybenzamine. Since only presynaptic sites are present on the axonal sprouts, the site of action for the phenoxybenzamine-induced increase in release must be presynaptic. In isolated rabbit pulmonary arteries, preloaded with [³H]noradrenaline, Starke *et al.* (1974) found that clonidine decreased the efflux of tritium evoked by electrical stimulation, suggesting that the receptors mediating this response were α_2 -adrenoceptors. Findings such as these, and others, led to the proposal that:

'presynaptic α -adrenoceptors are involved in the regulation of noradrenaline release through a negative feed-back mechanism mediated by the neurotransmitter itself' (Langer, 1977).

In 1977, Langer suggested that the mechanism by which α_2 -adrenoceptors decrease noradrenaline release involved a reduction in the availability of Ca²⁺ for excitation-secretion coupling. Noradrenaline release induced by electrical stimulation or by K⁺ is Ca²⁺-dependent and noradrenaline released by either of these mechanisms is decreased by stimulation of α_2 -adrenoceptors. In contrast, noradrenaline release induced by the noradrenaline-depleting agent, tyramine, is not Ca^{2+} -dependent and presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors have no influence on the release of noradrenaline induced by this drug (reviewed by Langer, 1977). It is possible that the decrease in cAMP induced by α_2 -adrenoceptor activation inhibits the release of Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores or inhibits the influx of Ca^{2+} through Ca^{2+} channels in the membrane. Either of these processes would reduce the amount of intracellular Ca^{2+} available for excitation-secretion coupling. However, electrophysiological studies suggest that α_2 -adrenoceptor activation causes a membrane hyperpolarisation via an increase in K^+ conductance. North and Surprenant (1985) made intracellular recordings in guinea-pig submucous plexus neurones. Superfusion with noradrenaline or clonidine induced dose-dependent membrane hyperpolarisations, which were inhibited by α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonists. The hyperpolarisations induced by noradrenaline or clonidine were associated with an increased membrane conductance, which was abolished by low concentrations of the K⁺ channel blockers Ba^{2+} or quinine. Although the α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating this effect in guinea-pig submucous plexus neurones are postsynaptic, it is be possible that activation of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors also induce a hyperpolarisation though an increase K⁺ conductance, which would make the neuronal terminal less excitable.

A number of studies carried out *in vivo* using various α_2 -adrenoceptor ligands support Langer's proposal and show that inhibitory presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors also exist in the central nervous system. Using the technique of microdialysis, local administration of the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists, clonidine or medetomidine at low doses (0.5 μ M) have been found to decrease the concentration of noradrenaline in dialysate samples from rat frontal cortex (Dalley and Stanford, 1995). Similarly, local administration of the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonists, yohimbine, idazoxan, or atipamezole, have been found to increase the concentration of noradrenaline in dialysate samples from rat cortex or hypothalamus (Dennis *et al.* 1987; Itoh *et al.* 1990; Laitinen *et al.* 1995; Dalley and Stanford, 1995; see Chapter 5, section 5.1.).

1.5. The obese Zucker rat

The obese Zucker rat (also called the Zucker-fatty rat) was first described by Zucker and Zucker in 1961. This rat occurred as a spontaneous mutant in a cross between the Merck Stock M and Sherman rats and appeared to be due to a single recessive gene (Zucker and Zucker, 1961). The obese condition of rats that are homozygous for this trait can be detected by body weight and appearance from as early as three weeks of age, whereas the body weight and appearance of heterozygotes and 'normal' homozygotes do not differ (Zucker and Zucker, 1961).

1.5.1. Prominent abnormalities in the obese Zucker rat

Obese Zucker rats have a mutation in the gene encoding the leptin receptor and this results in their insensitivity to this hormone (Takaya *et al.* 1996). Physiological abnormalities in the obese Zucker rats include hyperphagia, hyperlipidemia, and hyperinsulinemia (reviewed by Argilés, 1989). Although hyperphagia is a prominent characteristic of these rats, pair-feeding obese rats with lean rats does not inhibit the development of the obesity, suggesting this is not the only factor contributing to this condition (reviewed by Argilés, 1989). Consistent with this suggestion, brown adipose tissue (BAT) thermogenesis appears to be impaired in obese Zucker rats. Triandafillou and Himms-Hagen, (1983), investigated the activation of BAT thermogenesis by cold-exposure in lean and obese rats by measuring the binding of guanosine diphosphate (GDP) to BAT mitochondria (an index of the thermogenesis by cold-exposure (4 °C), as

indicated by an acute increase in GDP binding by BAT mitochondria, occurred normally in obese rats. However, the binding of GDP by mitochondria from obese rats maintained at 28 °C was lower than that of mitochondria from lean rats. The authors suggest that this low thermogenic state of BAT in obese rats maintained at 28 °C reflects a failure of the BAT to respond, not to cold-exposure, but to diet. A second experiment compared GDP binding in mitochondria from lean and obese rats fed a chow or cafeteria diet. The findings of this experiment showed an increase in GDP binding by mitochondria from lean rats on a cafeteria diet relative to lean rats fed chow. In contrast, GDP binding by mitochondria from chow-fed obese rats was not affected by cafeteria feeding. These findings indicate diet-induced thermogenesis is impaired in obese Zucker rats.

Consistent findings were found by York *et al.* (1985). These authors studied tissue noradrenaline turnover rates in both BAT and cardiac tissue of lean and obese rats maintained at 25-27 °C. In these experiments BAT noradrenaline turnover was undetectable in obese rats, whereas a half-life of 4 h was apparent in lean rats. In contrast, cardiac noradrenaline content, half- life and turnover rate were similar between lean and obese rats. These findings suggest mechanisms involved in BAT thermogenesis are impaired in the obese Zucker rat. However, in lean rats maintained at 4 °C, BAT noradrenaline half-life was reduced, whereas the noradrenaline content of the tissue and the turnover rate were increased. Similarly, a rapid turnover of noradrenaline was evident in obese rats maintained at 4 °C. Therefore, it is possible that an abnormality exists specifically in the mechanisms inducing diet-induced thermogenesis in obese rats.

1.5.2. Abnormalities in central noradrenergic function in the obese Zucker rat

Following the implication of noradrenergic transmission in the hypothalamus in the control of food intake, a number of studies focussed on whether changes in this catecholamine could account for the hyperphagia of obese Zucker rats. Cruce *et al.* (1976) measured the concentration of noradrenaline in various regions of hypothalamic tissue from 4-month-old female lean and obese Zucker rats. Noradrenaline concentration was reduced in the paraventricular nucleus of obese rats compared with non-obese, non-littermate controls, although not compared with non-obese, littermate controls. Further studies revealed a reduced noradrenaline concentration specifically in the paraventricular nucleus of 2-month-old male obese Zucker rats compared with non-obese controls (Cruce *et al.* 1977).

Levin and Sullivan (1979) measured noradrenaline and dopamine concentrations in tissue from various brain regions in 7-month-old male and female Zucker rats using a radioenzymatic assay. These authors reported a reduction in the concentration of noradrenaline (to 51% of lean), as well as adrenaline (to 47% of lean), in the paraventricular nucleus tissue of obese female rats. Furthermore, a reduction in noradrenaline and adrenaline concentrations (to 47% and 42% of lean, respectively), as well as dopamine concentration (to 48% of lean), were found in the dorsomedial hypothalamic nucleus of obese female rats. In contrast, the noradrenaline concentration in the median forebrain bundle was increased in obese female rats to 201% of the female lean controls. The only differences found in obese male rats were a reduction in the dopamine concentration of the dorsomedial hypothalamic nucleus and medulla, to 60% and 43% of lean controls, respectively. However, although not significant, there was a trend for the noradrenaline concentration in the paraventricular nucleus of obese rats to be reduced.

Conflicting evidence is reported by Orosco et al. (1980). These authors measured the concentration of noradrenaline in whole hypothalami using a flurometric assay and found the concentration of noradrenaline to be greater in obese female Zucker rats compared with lean controls. Kuolu et al. (1990) measured central catecholamine concentrations in male Zucker rats aged 12-16 weeks using high-performance-liquid-chromatography. These authors reported no differences in noradrenaline or dopamine concentrations from different hypothalamic nuclei, including the paraventricular and ventromedial nuclei, between lean and obese rats.

The inconsistent findings above make it unclear whether noradrenergic activity in the hypothalamus of Zucker rats is reduced, increased or unchanged in the obese state. Some of the discrepancies could be due to different assay methods used to measure noradrenaline concentrations *in vitro*. However, studies carried out *in vivo* lend support to the hypothesis that noradrenergic activity is impaired in the hypothalamus of obese Zucker rats. Using *in vivo* microdialysis studies, Pacak *et al.* (1995) showed that 12-weekold male lean and obese Zucker rats have similar baseline extracellular noradrenaline concentrations in the region of the paraventricular nucleus. However, the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by immobilisation stress was reduced in obese rats to 60% of the lean response. These findings are in keeping with the reduced concentration of noradrenaline in the paraventricular nucleus of 2-month-old male obese Zucker rats (Cruce *et al.* 1977). However, the possibility that obese rats find immobilisation, induced by taping each limb to a metal frame with adhesive tape, less stressful than their lean counterparts cannot be ruled out.

1.6. Objectives

This study has compared the effects of sibutramine with those of the noradrenaline-releasing agent, *d*-amphetamine, extracellular on noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex of anaesthetised rats using in vivo microdialysis (Chapter 3). Firstly, a dose-response curve for sibutramine on extracellular noradrenaline concentration was established and compared with the dose-response curve for d-amphetamine. Following this experiments investigated whether sibutramine increases extracellular noradrenaline accumulation by inhibiting the reuptake of impulse-mediated noradrenaline release. This involved the blockade of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors, which regulate impulse-mediated noradrenaline release, and investigating whether this affected the accumulation of extracellular noradrenaline induced by sibutramine. Again, the effects of sibutramine on extracellular noradrenaline concentration were compared with *d*-amphetamine.

Since anaesthesia has been found to affect central noradrenergic activity, the effects of sibutramine on extracellular noradrenaline accumulation were also investigated, and compared with the effects of *d*-amphetamine, in conscious, freely-moving rats (Chapter 4). Furthermore, considering the hypothalamus has an important role in regulating food intake and thermogenesis, Chapter 4 also investigated the effects of sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine on extracellular noradrenaline concentration in this brain region of conscious, freely-moving rats. Considering the hypothalamus is innervated by noradrenergic neurones from the lateral tegmental system as well as the locus coeruleus system, the effects of sibutramine in the hypothalamus were compared with its effects in

the frontal cortex.

As evidence suggests that there is a greater density of terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus compared with the cortex, Chapter 5 investigated whether this has functional consequences for the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine in these two brain areas. The effects of α_2 -adrenoceptor blockade on the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine were investigated in 2 ways. Firstly, by investigating the effects of sibutramine in rats that were pretreated systemically with an α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist. Secondly, to investigate α_2 -adrenoceptors specifically in the terminal fields, the effects of sibutramine on extracellular noradrenaline accumulation were monitored during infusion of an α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist into either the frontal cortex or hypothalamus.

The obese Zucker rat is a model of human juvenile-onset obesity and abnormalities in noradrenergic function in the hypothalamus of this rat have been observed. The findings that differences in presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor function can influence the control of noradrenergic activity led to the comparison of the density and function of α_2 -adrenoceptors in lean and obese Zucker rats in Chapter 6. The density of α_2 -adrenoceptors was investigated using radioligand binding studies. The function of presynaptic, as well as postsynaptic, α_2 -adrenoceptors was investigated using clonidine-induced hypoactivity and mydriasis, respectively.

Further essential background relating to this study is described in the relevant chapters.

Chapter 2

Methods

2.1 Introduction

The growing need to understand neurotransmitter systems in the CNS and their involvement in specific physiological, behavioural and pharmacological events has given rise to a number of techniques that enable measurement of neurotransmitter release *in vivo*. The development of these techniques over the past four decades, along with the concurrent improvement in assay methods, has culminated in two basic approaches for the measurement of neurotransmitter release used in the present day. These approaches are *in vivo* voltammetry and *in vivo* microdialysis and are discussed in relation to the measurement of monoamines in section 2.1.1.

A second approach to understanding neurotransmitter systems is to study the receptors to which the transmitter binds and induces a physiological response. Radioligand binding is a quantitative and qualitative technique developed to identify populations of receptors and their density in a given brain region. This technique exploits the recent development of a range of highly selective ligands for a variety of receptor subtypes. Consequently, radioligand binding has become a powerful tool for studying the pharmacology of subpopulations of receptors in the brain. The technique of radioligand binding as a tool for measuring α_2 -adrenoceptors is discussed in section 2.1.2.

Another approach to investigating the pharmacology of α_2 -adrenoceptors is to study the receptor function. Behavioural models of α_2 -adrenoceptor function have been developed in rodents, making it possible to study the function of these receptors *in vivo*. A further benefit to the pharmacologist is that these behavioural models allow the exclusive study of either pre- or post-synaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor function. These behavioural models of α_2 -adrenoceptor function are described in section 2.1.3.

2.1.1. Measurement of monoamine release in vivo

One approach to monitoring central monoamine release *in vivo* is to collect samples of cerebrospinal fluid. Substances dissolved in the cerebrospinal fluid can be separated out and quantified using various assay techniques. Monoamines can be separated out using high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC). Following their separation, monoamines can be oxidised and quantified using electrochemical detection (ECD).

One of the first techniques developed for the collection of cerebrospinal fluid was the cortical cup (MacIntosh and Oborin, 1953). This technique involves removal of part of the skull and the placement of cylinder onto the cortical surface. The cup, formed by the cylinder in tight contact with the cortical surface, is filled with collecting fluid (typically Ringer's solution) into which cerebrospinal fluid from the cortex passes. The fluid in the cup is then collected and analysed for the substance of interest. Although very little tissue damage is encountered with the implantation of the cortical cup, the main limitation of this technique is that sampling is only possible form the surface of the cortex.

Further developments led to the push-pull cannula. This technique, proposed by Gaddum (1961), consisted of two concentric tubes: an inlet to drip perfusion fluid into a chosen brain region and an outlet to withdraw samples from the surrounding extracellular fluid (ECF). The advantage over the cortical cup technique is that sampling is possible from distinct brain regions. Indeed, this technique has been used to measure catecholamines in areas such as the hypothalamus (van der Gugten and Slangen, 1977) and nucleus accumbens (Bartholini, *et al.* 1976) of conscious, freely-moving rats.

One major drawback of the push-pull cannula technique is the extensive tissue damage resulting from the perfusion of relatively large volumes of fluid (typically $150 \,\mu$ l/min) directly into the tissue. More recent developments have led to 2 further

techniques for monitoring monoamine release *in vivo*, which cause less tissue damage than the push-pull cannula method. These are *in vivo* voltammetry and *in vivo* microdialysis.

Monoamines are readily oxidised. The technique of *in vivo* voltammetry harnesses this oxidation reaction by carrying it out at the surface of a carbon working-electrode implanted into a discrete brain region or slice (reviewed by Stamford, 1989). Electroactive species are oxidised at the electrode surface and the ensuing release of electrons is then measured in the form of current. The amount of current is directly proportional to the number of molecules oxidised, thus giving an indirect measure of changes in the concentration of monoamine in the extracellular fluid directly surrounding the electrode surface.

The success of *in vivo* voltammetry is largely due to the small size of the carbon-fibre electrodes (diameter: 8-12 μ m), which minimises tissue damage. The degree of resolution between oxidised compounds depends on how the voltage is applied. Slow voltage scans, such as differential pulse voltammetry or linear sweep voltammetry, give high resolution whereas fast cyclic voltammetry or differential pulse amperometry have limited resolution, but can make up to 40 measurements per second. Differential pulse amperometry has been successfully used for the measurement of noradrenaline release in the thalamic nucleus of rats (*e.g.* Brun *et al.* 1993). However, the *in situ* measurement of neurotransmitters, without their prior separation, can create problems with the identification of peaks from compounds that oxidise at similar potentials. In addition, some drugs can oxidise at the same potential as the neurotransmitter of interest and contribute to the signal following injection into the animal, resulting in misleading data.

In vivo microdialysis involves the implantation of a fine dialysis fibre (typically 0.3 - 0.5 mm outer diameter with a molecular weight cut off point of 20 kD) into a selected brain area. Compounds in the extracellular fluid with a lower molecular weight than the cut off weight of the dialysis fibre diffuse down their concentration gradient into the perfusion fluid flowing through the dialysis fibre. The perfusate is collected at regular intervals and analysed for the substance of interest. The predominant improvement of this approach over the push-pull cannula technique is that the dialysis fibre creates a closed

system in which there is no direct contact between the tissue and the perfusion fluid. As well as reducing tissue damage, the dialysis fibre also prevents larger molecules passing into the perfusion fluid leading to cleaner samples for chemical analysis.

One of the earliest accounts of the use of *in vivo* microdialysis to measure neurotransmitter release was in 1966 by Bito *et al.* Small sacks of dialysis membrane, containing a sterile solution of 6% dextran, were chronically implanted into the brains of dogs in order to collect amino acids. The bags were removed 10 weeks later and the perfusate analysed. The technique has since undergone several technical improvements. One particularly beneficial improvement was the development of a system enabling the repeated collection of dialysis samples (Delgado *et al.* 1972). These authors created a dialytrode consisting of a push-pull cannula closed at the tip by a piece of dialysis membrane that could be implanted into any brain area.

Present day microdialysis probes exist in three basic forms. U-shaped probes were developed in the early 1980s and typically had an outer diameter of 600-800 μ m. Two cannulae were joined by a piece of dialysis fibre bent into a tight loop (Zetterstom *et al.* 1982). Alternatively, cannulae can be arranged concentrically, with a thin inner cannula carrying fluid to the bottom of the dialysis probe where it leaves and passes back up the probe and is carried out by a lateral tube (outer diameter 520 μ m, Tossman and Ungerstedt, 1986). Sandberg *et al.* (1986) created a probe with a side-by-side arrangement of two glass capillaries, serving as the inlet and outlet. The glass capillaries were inserted into a piece of dialysis fibre (outer diameter 300 μ m) of which the other end was sealed off with epoxy glue. As well as producing a much narrower probe to the loop design, this arrangement also reduces the dead-space between the area of tissue being dialysed and the perfusion fluid compared with the concentric probes.

For this study, the technique of *in vivo* microdialysis was chosen to monitor extracellular noradrenaline concentration. A particularly useful advantage of this technique over *in vivo* voltammetry is that the microdialysis probe provides a simple way to locally apply drugs to the region of tissue being dialysed. The design of microdialysis probe used throughout the experiments is a modified version of the side-by-side arrangement described by Sandberg *et al.* (1986) (see section 2.2.1.1.).

2.1.1.1. Principle of microdialysis

The technique of microdialysis measures *changes* in the concentration of a given substance in the extracellular fluid directly surrounding the dialysis probe. The size of the dialysis probe does not allow sampling of extracellular fluid directly from a synapse. However, substances released from a neurone into the synapse overflow into the extracellular space and changes in their concentration in the extracellular space are thought to reflect changes in their concentration in the synapse. Support for this hypothesis comes from various experiments involving the manipulation of electrolytes in the perfusion fluid and monitoring subsequent changes in neurotransmitter concentrations (see section 2.2.1.7.).

The dialysis membrane is permeable to water and small solutes and is continually flushed on one side with a perfusion fluid devoid of the substances of interest. The other side of the membrane faces the extracellular space. The constant flow of perfusion fluid through the dialysis fibre maintains the concentration gradient causing the diffusion of substances from the extracellular space into the dialysis probe. The concentration of neurotransmitter in the dialysate reflects the concentration in the extracellular fluid. The constant flow of perfusion fluid through the dialysis fibre prevents the equilibration of substances across the membrane. Consequently, the concentration of substances in the dialysate will be lower than in the extracellular fluid. In an attempt to correct for this, the recovery of microdialysis probes can be assessed *in vitro*. The basic protocol to determine probe recovery is the same for all neurotransmitters. The protocol used to determine the recovery of noradrenaline from the probes used throughout this study was as follows:

- 1) A microdialysis probe is supported in a vial containing aCSF and is perfused for 30 min with aCSF at the flow rate used in experiments $(1 \mu l / min)$.
- 2) The probe is then transferred to vial containing a solution of 5 nM noradrenaline made up in aCSF and is perfused with aCSF for 30 min.
- A dialysate sample is then collected from the probe over a 20 min period (sampling interval used during experiments).

- 4) Following collection, the concentration of noradrenaline in the dialysate sample, as well the concentration in the aCSF, is analysed using HPLC-ECD.
- 5) Probe recovery (%) is calculated as :

<u>Concentration of noradrenaline in the dialysate sample</u> × 100 Concentration of noradrenaline in aCSF

Using the protocol above, the recoveries of probes used in the experiments performed in this study were calculated to be ~10 %. However, it cannot be assumed that the recovery of a probe *in vitro is* the same as its recovery when implanted into a given brain region. For this reason, the concentrations of noradrenaline in dialysate samples collected during the experiments have not been corrected for probe recovery. In this study, the amount of noradrenaline in dialysate samples is expressed as the concentration of noradrenaline per unit time (*e.g.* fmol / 20 min).

2.1.1.2. Perfusion fluids.

The exact composition of extracellular and cerebrospinal fluid is not known, which makes it impossible to create artificial replicas. There are a variety of perfusion fluids that are used for microdialysis that vary in both electrolyte composition and pH. These range from simple salt solutions containing only sodium, potassium and calcium chlorides (Shimokawa *et al.* 1998; Gundlah *et al.* 1997; Itoh *et al.* 1990), to buffered aCSFs containing magnesium chloride and glucose (Routledge and Marsden, 1987; Done and Sharp, 1994). There is no overriding evidence to suggest that one particular perfusion fluid is preferable to another for the measurement of noradrenaline. In this study, aCSF comprising (mM) NaCl 140, KCl 3, CaCl₂ 1.2, MgCl₂ 1.0, Na₂HPO₄ 1.2, NaH₂ PO₄ 0.27, glucose 7.2, pH 6.8) was used in all microdialysis experiments except those involving a high K⁺ or Ca²⁺-free perfusion fluid. In these experiments a modified Ringer's solution was used (see section 2.2.1.7. below).

The concentration of Ca^{2+} in the perfusion fluid is particularly important because it can influence basal and drug-evoked changes in extracellular neurotransmitter

concentration. The concentration of Ca^{2+} in the extracellular fluid has been estimated to be 1.2 mM (Benveniste *et al.* 1989; Mogahaddum and Bunney, 1989). Removal of Ca^{2+} from the perfusion fluid results in Ca^{2+} being drained from the extracellular space around the probe (Benveniste *et al.* 1989). This depletion of Ca^{2+} causes dialysate concentrations of various transmitters to decrease (Imperato and Di Chiara, 1984; Westerink and De Vries, 1988; van Veldhuizen *et al.* 1990). Likewise, increasing the Ca^{2+} concentration beyond 1.2 mM in the perfusion fluid causes basal neurotransmitter concentrations to increase (van Veldhuizen *et al.* 1990; Moghaddum and Bunney, 1989). The concentration of Ca^{2+} added to perfusion fluids varies between groups (Shimokawa *et al.* 1998: 2.3 mM; Gundlah *et al.* 1997: 1.8 mM; Done and Sharp, 1994; 1.2 mM). Based on the estimations that the extracellular concentration of free Ca^{2+} is 1.2 mM, this concentration of Ca^{2+} was used in the aCSF throughout this study.

2.1.2 Radioligand binding as a tool for quantifying α_2 -adrenoceptor density

The most straightforward approach to identifying receptor sites is to measure the binding of a radioactive neurotransmitter or ligand to a membrane preparation containing the receptor of interest. One of the first accounts of a radioligand binding study was reported by Paton and Rang, who investigated [³H]atropine binding to muscarinic receptors in slices of guinea-pig ileum (Paton and Rang, 1965). Since very small quantities of radiolabelled drugs can be readily and accurately measured, this approach is now widely used for receptor binding studies.

An important consideration in radioligand binding studies is the extent to which the measured binding of a radioligand represents association with the receptor of interest (termed 'specific binding'). Even with radioligands that are highly selective for a particular receptor, there will be some 'non-specific binding'. Non-specific binding could be attributable to the radioligand binding to other receptors, non-receptor tissue components or to non-biological substances used in the experimental procedures.

Non-specific binding has to be accounted for in a radioligand binding experiment in order to derive as an accurate estimate as possible of the specific binding. It is possible to account for non-specific binding by measuring the amount of binding occurring in the presence an excess concentration of an unlabelled ligand with selectivity for the receptor of interest. The specific binding is then calculated as the difference between the total binding and the binding occurring in the presence of the unlabelled ligand.

As well as being selective, it is also desirable for the radioligand to have a high affinity for the receptor of interest. This allows the binding to be studied at low concentration, which will reduce the non-specific binding. It is also advantageous for the radioligand to have a high specific activity so that very small quantities of bound radioligand can measured accurately. The specific activity of a radioligand is a measure of its radioactivity and is expressed as becquerels or curies per mol of ligand. The more rapidly an isotope decays (*i.e.* the shorter the half-life) the more disintegrations occur per unit time, resulting in a higher specific activity.

The pharmacology and distribution of α_2 -adrenoceptors has been extensively studied with a variety of radioloabelled α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists and antagonists (*e.g.* [³H]clonidine, Wikberg *et al.* 1987; [³H]*p*-aminoclonidine, Jhanwar-Uniyal *et al.* 1991; [¹²⁵I]*p*-iodoclonidine, Pesonen *et al.* 1992; [³H]idazoxan Heal *et al.* 1993; [³H]RX821002, Langin *et al.* 1990). An important consideration when choosing a radiolabelled ligand for a binding experiment is whether the ligand is an agonist or antagonist. Agonists and antagonists are thought to bind to different receptor conformational states, therefore giving different measures of the receptor population. In G-protein-linked receptors, such as the α - and β -adrenoceptors, agonists bind to the high affinity conformational state. However, at a high enough concentration, antagonists also bind to the low affinity conformational state of G-protein linked receptors. Therefore, in saturation binding studies, a radiolabelled antagonist gives a better estimate of the total receptor population than a radiolabelled agonist.

Radioligand binding studies were used to compare the total number of α_2 -adrenoceptor binding sites in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus of lean and obese Zucker rats. For this reason a tritiated form of the highly selective α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist 2-[2-(2-methoxy-1,4-benzodioxanyl)]imidazoline hydrochloride (RX821002)

(Langin *et al.* 1990) was used. Non-specific binding was determined by adding an excess concentration of the nonselective α -adrenoceptor antagonist, phentolamine. Although phentolamine binds to both α_1 - and α_2 -adrenoceptors, [³H]RX821002 has a selectivity ratio for α_2 -adrenoceptors over α_1 -adrenoceptors of 316 (Stillings *et al.* 1985). The vast majority of [³H]RX821002-binding is attributed, therefore, to the binding of α_2 -adrenoceptors.

Types of radioligand binding experiments include saturation experiments, inhibition experiments, association kinetic experiments and dissociation kinetic experiments. Each experiment leads to a different type of information. Saturation experiments determine the affinity of a given ligand for a receptor as well as the number of binding sites. Inhibition experiments calculate an inhibition constant for a given inhibitor to displace a radioligand-receptor complex. The inhibition constant is the same as the affinity of the inhibitor for the receptor. Association and dissociation kinetic experiments determine the association and dissociation rate constants for the receptor-ligand complex. In this study, radioligand binding studies were used to estimate and compare the density of RX821002-binding sites (B_{max}) in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus of the Zucker rat brain. For this reason, saturation experiments were performed.

Saturation experiments involve incubating a range of concentrations of the radioligand with a fixed concentration of tissue and measuring the amount of ligand bound. The affinity (usually expressed as the dissociation constant, K_d) and B_{max} are determined by plotting the ratio of bound to free radioligand versus the bound radioligand (Rosenthal plot). The K_d is the negative reciprocal of the slope and the B_{max} is the intercept of the line with the x-axis. In this study, the K_d and B_{max} were determined by non-linear regression analysis fitted to a one-site binding model using the LIGAND computer programm (Munson and Rodbard, 1980)

2.1.3 Behavioural models of monoaminergic receptor function

Behavioural models of receptor function are an important tool for investigating functional changes in receptors following drug treatment as well as providing a means for studying interactions between different neurotransmitter systems *in vivo*. Numerous behavioural models have been developed to study the various receptors of the serotonergic system. For example, activation of 5-HT_{1A} receptors with 8-hydroxy-2-(di-*n*-propylamino)tetralin (8-OH-DPAT) induces hypothermia and the serotonin behavioural syndrome (including forepaw treading, head-weaving and flat body posture) in rats through an action on presynaptic and postsynaptic 5-HT_{1A} receptors, respectively (Goodwin *et al.* 1987). Activation of 5-HT_{2A} receptors induces head twitches in rats (Schreiber *et al.* 1995) whereas activation of 5-HT_{2C} receptors induces hypophagia (Fone *et al.* 1998)). These approaches have been used to investigate the pharmacology of drugs such as antidepressants (*e.g.* Maj and Moryl, 1992).

With the exception of α_2 -adrenoceptors, behavioural models of central α - and β-adrenoceptor functions are not as robust as those 5-HT receptor functions. One particular difficulty with the development of behavioural models for α_1 -adrenoceptor function is that the selective agonist, phenylephrine does not cross the blood-brain barrier. A particular advantage of most behavioural studies is that they do not involve any anaesthesia or surgery. This advantage is lost in studies where drugs, such as phenylephrine, have to be injected centrally. The development of behavioural models to investigate the β -adrenoceptor function is limited because few behavioural changes occur following β -adrenoceptor stimulation. Nevertheless, various β -adrenoceptor agonists, such as isoprenaline and salbutamol, have been found to induce a sedative effect and marked drinking response in rodents. However, these β -adrenoceptor agonist-mediated responses are affected by α_2 -adrenoceptor agents. For example, the drinking response induced by isoprenaline is decreased by the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist, clonidine, and enhanced by the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, yohimbine. Furthermore, yohimbine inhibits the sedative response induced by β -adrenoceptor agonists. This complicates the use of these responses as selective models of β -adrenoceptor function (reviewed by Heal, 1990).

In contrast to α_1 -adrenoceptors and β -adrenoceptors, behavioural models of α_2 -adrenoceptor functions have been well characterised. Two very prominent effects following administration of the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist, clonidine, are sedation and mydriasis and these responses have formed the basis of two robust models used as functional indices of α_2 -adrenoceptors (clonidine-induced hypoactivity and mydriasis, respectively). These two models are described, in turn, below.

2.1.3.1. Clonidine-induced hypoactivity

The sedative effect of clonidine can be assessed in rats either by measuring the inhibition of exploratory behaviour (*e.g.* by measuring the number of lines crossed on the floor of an arena) or by visually assessing the extent of the hypoactivity syndrome. Drew *et al.* described the hypoactivity syndrome in 1979 and devised up to 8 components by which it could be measured. These components were passivity, tactile responsiveness, posture, gait, visual attention, righting reflex, body sag and ptosis. Changes in these components are scored following drug treatment and summed to give a measure of the extent of hypoactivity. A later study suggested that measurement of the hypoactivity syndrome is a more specific measure of α_2 -adrenoceptor function than the measurement of exploratory behaviour. By scoring the first five components of the hypoactivity syndrome described above, this study showed that non-noradrenergic agents, such as sodium pentobarbitone and diazepam, which induce sedation, do not induce changes in the hypoactivity syndrome (Heal *et al.* 1981).

Drew *et al.* (1979) reported that both systemically administered and intracerebroventricular injection of clonidine induced hypoactivity in rats in a dose-dependent manner. In contrast, intracerebroventricular injection of the α_1 -adrenoceptor agonist, phenylephrine, did not induce hypoactivity. The hypoactivity induced by systemic administration of clonidine was inhibited by intracerebroventricular injection of the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, yohimbine, but was not inhibited by the α_1 -adrenoceptor antagonist, prazosin. This strongly suggested that the hypoactivity induced by clonidine is mediated by central α_2 -adrenoceptors. Nevertheless, the precise location of the receptors within the CNS has never been determined. Tsoucaris-Kupfer and Schmitt (1972) reported that clonidine administered directly into the rostral hypothalamus of rats

induces sedation. However, whether this treatment also induces the hypoactivity syndrome has not been investigated.

Early findings reported that the presynaptic population of α_2 -adrenoceptors represented only a small proportion of α_2 -adrenoceptors in the brain (U'Prichard et al. 1980; Dooley et al. 1983) and this promoted the idea that post-synaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors mediated clonidine-induced hypoactivity. This theory has since been challenged. Studies have found that the enhancement of noradrenergic activity with amphetamine or desipramine reverses the suppression of clonidine-induced exploratory behaviour (Strömbom and Svensson, 1980). This suggests that clonidine-induced sedation arises from the reduction of noradrenaline release as a result of α_2 -adrenoceptor activation. Further support for this theory comes from reports that designamine injection and intracerebroventricular administration of methamphetamine both reverse al. clonidine-induced hypoactivity (Heal et 1983; Heal, 1989b). Although methamphetamine also has some dopaminomimetic actions, this is not thought to be important for the reversal of clonidine-induced hypoactivity because the effect cannot be mimicked by the dopamine receptor agonist, apomorphine (Heal et al. 1987).

Although the evidence above supports a strong case for the presynaptic location of α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating clonidine-induced hypoactivity, studies in rats involving the lesioning of noradrenergic neurones do not support the theory. The lesioning of noradrenergic neurones with the neurotoxins 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OH-DA) or N-(2-chloroethyl)-N-ethyl-2-bromobenzylamine (DSP-4) have no effect on the suppression of locomotor activity induced by clonidine (Spyraki and Fibiger, 1982; Nassif *et al.* 1983). Nevertheless, Nassif *et al.* (1983) injected 6-OH-DA into the locus coeruleus only. This produced a 93% and 85% depletion of noradrenaline content in the frontal cortex and hippocampus, respectively. These regions are innervated exclusively by locus coeruleus neurones. However, it is unlikely that the noradrenaline content of regions innervated by noradrenergic neurones of both the locus coeruleus and lateral tegmental system (*e.g.* the hypothalamus) would have been affected to the same extent. Indeed, noradrenaline content in the brainstem was depleted by only 33% following 6-OH-DA lesion. Although Spyraki and Fibiger (1982) used a systemic injection of DSP-4, the

noradrenergic neurones of the lateral tegmental system are more resistant to the toxic effects of DSP-4 than are neurones of the locus coeruleus (Fritschy *et al.* 1990, see Chapter 4, section 4.1). This is reflected in their study, which found that the noradrenaline contents of the cortex and hippocampus were reduced by 70-85% compared with controls, whereas the noradrenaline content of the hypothalamus was reduced by only 26%. Therefore, these studies cannot rule out the possibility that presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors on noradrenergic neurones of the lateral tegmental system are responsible for clonidine-induced hypoactivity.

However, a later study in mice, using a higher dose of DSP-4 (100 mg / kg) to that used by Spyraki and Fibiger (1982) found that clonidine-induced hypoactivity is markedly attenuated in lesioned mice compared to saline-treated controls (~50% attenuation, Heal *et al.* 1989b). In this study the whole brain noradrenaline content was depleted by 75% in DSP-4 lesioned animals. This discrepancy could be due to the different methods used to rate the sedation induced by clonidine. Spyraki and Fibiger (1982) rated locomotor activity following clonidine adminsitration, whereas Heal *et al.* (1989b) scored the hypoactivity syndrome: the latter approach is a more sensitive measure of α_2 -adrenoceptor function.

Considering all the available evidence for the location of α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating clonidine-induced hypoactivity (reviewed by Heal, 1990), there is a strong consensus that these receptors are located presynaptically within the CNS.

2.1.3.2 Clonidine-induced mydriasis

Systemic administration of clonidine induces mydriasis in a dose-dependent manner in several species including cats, rats and mice and can be monitored by the simple measurement of pupil diameter (Koss, 1986; Heal *et al.*, 1989a; 1989b; 1995a). This effect of clonidine in cats, rats and mice is inhibited by systemic administration of the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonists, yohimbine, idazoxan or the highly selective antagonist, RX821002, but is not affected by the α_1 -adrenoceptor antagonist, prazosin or the β -adrenoceptor antagonist, pindolol (Koss *et al.* 1986; Heal *et al.* 1989a; 1995a; 1995b). Furthermore, clonidine-induced mydriasis in mice is not affected by the systemic administration of 5-HT or dopamine antagonists (Heal *et al.*1989a). These findings strongly suggest that mydriasis is mediated through α_2 -adrenoceptors.

It has been proposed that clonidine-induced mydriasis is mediated through a reduction of parasympathetic tone to the iris (Gherezghiher and Koss, 1979). The iris receives parasympathetic tone from preganglionic cell bodies that are thought to originate from the Edinger-Westphal and anteromedian nuclei of the oculomotor complex (Sillito and Zbrożyna, 1970). Stimulation of the afferent sciatic nerve induces pupil dilation in rats by CNS parasympathoinhibition. Hey *et al.* (1985) showed that pupil dilation evoked by afferent sciatic nerve stimulation in rats is abolished by systemic administration of yohimbine or by treatment with reserpine in combination with α -methyl-para-tyrosine, which reduced the concentration of noradrenaline in the brain by > 95%. These findings suggest that that an ascending noradrenergic pathway could have an inhibitory influence over parasympathetic neurones projecting to the iris. This suggestion is consistent with the proposal that clonidine-induced pupillary dilation is a consequence of a reduction in parasympathetic tone.

Studies involving the removal of CNS parasympathetic tone to the iris, either by using pithed rats or by electrolytic lesions in the CNS efferent parasympathetic pathway, prevent clondine-induced mydriasis (reviewed by Koss, 1986). These findings suggest that clonidine acts centrally to decrease parasympathetic tone to the iris. Further evidence supporting this proposal comes from experiments showing that clonidine administered by intracerebroventricular injection induces a marked mydriasis in mice at a dose that is ineffective when administered peripherally (Heal *et al.* 1989a). The noradrenaline releasing agent, methamphetamine, also induces mydriasis in a dose-dependent manner in rats and mice when administered systemically or by intracerebroventricular injection (Heal *et al.* 1989a; 1989b; 1995a). Both clonidine and methamphetamine-induced mydriasis are inhibited by the intracerebroventricular administration of the α_1 -adrenoceptor antagonist, prazosin or β -adrenoceptor antagonist, pindolol, has no effect on clonidine- or methamphetamine-induced mydriasis (Heal *et al.* 1989a; 1989b).

It is thought that the α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating clonidine-induced mydriasis are located on the Edinger-Westphal nucleus since injection of clonidine into this region produces mydriasis in the cat (Sharpe and Pickworth, 1981). Strong evidence suggests that the α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating clonidine-induced mydriasis are located postsynaptically. Pretreatment of cats or rats with α -methyl-*p*-tyrosine and reserpine, which results in an almost total depletion of noradrenaline within the brain, has no effect on clonidine-induced mydriasis (reviewed by Koss, 1986). Pretreament of rats or mice with the noradrenergic neurotoxin, DSP-4 also has no effect on clonidine-induced mydriasis, but potently inhibits the mydriasis induced by methamphetamine (72-100% inhibition, Heal *et al.* 1989b; 1995a). This strongly suggests that clonidine acts on postsynpatic α_2 -adrenoceptors to induce mydriasis, whereas methamphetamine acts indirectly on these receptors by increasing extracellular noradrenaline concentration.

Furthermore, the extent of methamphetamine-induced mydriasis in mice is additive in combination with clonidine (Heal *et al.* 1989b). Since clonidine decreases extracellular noradrenaline concentration whereas methamphetamine increases it (Glowinski and Axelrod, 1965; Raiteri *et al.* 1975), the additive effect of the two drugs on mydriasis strongly suggest that the α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating this response are located postsynaptically.

2.2 Techniques

2.2.1. In vivo microdialysis

2.2.1.1. Construction of microdialysis probes

Microdialysis probes were designed as a modification of the single-cannula probe described by Sandberg *et al.* (1986). Figure 2.1. shows a schematic representation of the basic steps involved in constructing the probes. A detailed description of probe construction is described below.

- Two 3 cm lengths of silica glass tubing (i.d. 75 μm, o.d. 150 μm, Scientific Glass Engineering) were inserted into a 1.5 cm long steel cannula.
- 2) The coating of the glass was then burnt off to reduce the outer diameter and the two pieces of glass glued together at the base of the cannula with a 4 mm stagger. The shorter piece of glass protruded 2 and 5 mm from the cannula for probes intended for experiments in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus, respectively.
- 3) A piece of semipermeable membrane (i.d. 240 μ m, o.d. 300 μ m, molecular cut-off 20 kD, Filtral 12, AN69, Hospal Industrie, France) was then placed over the two pieces of glass protruding from the base of the cannula and secured to the cannula with fast setting epoxy glue (Araldite).
- 4) The membrane was then cut so that it protruded 2 mm over the end of the longer piece of glass and then the end was sealed with epoxy glue. The resulting dialysis zone of probes intended for the frontal cortex was 5 mm. The upper part of the membrane of probes intended for the hypothalamus was covered with epoxy glue so that the resulting dialysis zone was 1.5 mm.
- 5) The two lengths of tubing protruding from the upper part of the cannula were inserted individually into two 4 cm lengths of polythene tubing (i.d. 0.28 mm, o.d. 0.61 mm, Portex). The polythene was then secured to the cannula using epoxy glue. The tubing placed over the shorter piece of glass and the longer piece of glass was designated as the inlet and outlet, respectively.
- 6) Probes were made in batches of 10 and stored in an airtight container.



Figure 2.1: Step-by-step construction of a microdialysis probe for the frontal cortex or hypothalamus

Figure presents an overview of the basic steps involved in microdialysis probe construction. A detailed description of probe construction is given in the text (section 2.2.1.1.). F.Ctx = Frontal cortex. HYP = Hypothalamus. Drawings are not to scale.

2.2.1.2. Surgical implantation of microdialysis probes

2.2.1.2.1. Animals

Male outbred Sprague-Dawley rats (250-320 g) were obtained from the colony at University College London. They were housed in groups of four at 21°C and 55% humidity with a light-dark cycle of 12 h (lights on at 08.00 h). Animals had free access to food and tap water at all times. Drug-naïve animals were used in each experiment and all procedures complied with the U.K. Scientific Procedures (Animals) Act, 1986.

2.2.1.2.2. Non-recovery rats ('anaesthetised' rats)

Anaesthesia of rats was induced by inhalation of 5% halothane in combination with 95% O_2 / 5% CO₂ delivered through an induction chamber at 2000 ml / min. Following the loss of the righting reflex, the anaesthetic was delivered via a face mask placed over the animal's nose (2.5% halothane in combination with 95% O_2 / 5% CO₂ at 1000 ml / min). Following the loss of the pedal reflex, an incision was made and the trachea exposed. A polythene cannula (2 cm; i.d. 1.67 mm, o.d. 2.42 mm, Portex) was inserted through a small hole made in the trachea and sewn into place with cotton. A Y-piece was then attached to the cannula to enable the direct delivery of the anaesthetic into the trachea (1.5% halothane in 95% O_2 / 5% CO₂ at 500ml / min) and the removal of expired gases.

Following tracheotomy, the rat was placed in a stereotaxic frame in the flat skull position (incisor bar set at 3.3 mm below the interaural line) and a rectal probe inserted to maintain a core body temperature of 37 °C using a homeothermic heating pad. The surface of the skull was exposed to reveal bregma and a small hole (diameter ~2 mm) drilled through the skull (frontal cortex: AP +3.5 mm, ML \pm 1.5 mm relative to bregma, according to the atlas of Paxinos and Watson, 1986) using a trepanning drill burr. The dura was then broken with a needle and a microdialysis probe, primed with aCSF, was slowly lowered vertically into the brain (frontal cortex: DV -5mm relative to dura, according to the atlas of Paxinos and Watson, 1986). After completion of the implantation, the probe was connected with a piece of portex tubing (i.d. 0.58 mm, o.d. 0.96 mm) to a gas-tight syringe (Hamilton), containing aCSF, fitted to a perfusion pump. The probe was perfused with aCSF at a rate of 1µl / min for the duration of the experiment.

2.2.1.2.3. Recovery rats ('freely-moving'rats)

Anaesthesia of rats was induced by inhalation of 5% halothane in combination with 95% O_2 / 5% CO_2 delivered through an induction chamber at 2000 ml / min. Following the loss of the righting reflex, rats were transferred to a stereotaxic frame and the anaesthetic was delivered via a face mask (1.5-2% halothane in combination with 95% O_2 / 5% CO_2 at 1000 ml / min). The head was held in the flat skull position (incisor bar set at 3.3 mm below the interaural line) using blunted, non-rupture ear bars. Core body temperature was maintained at 37°C using a homeothermic heating pad and rectal probe.

A small incision was made and the surface of the skull was exposed to reveal bregma. A small hole was made through the skull (frontal cortex: AP +3.5 mm, ML \pm 1.5 mm; hypothalamus: AP -1.8 mm, ML \pm 0.4 mm relative to bregma, according to the atlas of Paxinos and Watson, 1986) using a trepanning drill burr. Two small screws were then screwed into the skull surface on either side of the implantation site. These were used to anchor the probe to the skull with dental cement following implantation. The dura was broken using a needle and a microdialysis probe primed with aCSF slowly lowered vertically into the brain (frontal cortex: DV -5 mm; hypothalamus; DV -9.2 mm relative to dura, according to the atlas of Paxinos and Watson, 1986). A small circle of bone wax was placed around the probe at the surface of the brain to prevent the dental cement entering the brain. The probe was then secured to the skull surface using dental cement. When the cement had dried the inlet and outlet of the probe were sealed with bone wax to prevent blockage prior to the experiment.

When the implantation was complete, rats were transferred to an incubation chamber for recovery from the anaesthesia (~45 min). Rats were then placed individually in plastic cages overnight for the experiment the next day.

2.2.1.3. Verification of probe placement

The position of the microdialysis probe in the brain was verified histologically. At the end of experiments brains were removed and stored in 10% formaldehyde and left for one week. Brains were then sectioned on a freezing microtome and the position of the microdialysis probe in a coronal slice compared to the atlas of Paxinos and Watson 1986).





Figure 2.2: Position of the microdialysis probe in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus.

Diagrammatic representations of coronal sections of rat brain 3.5 mm (A, frontal cortex) and -1.8 mm (B, hypothalamus) from bregma. The position of the microdialysis probe is illustrated. The unfilled portion of the probe represents the dialysing zone. LH, lateral hypothalamus; PVN, paraventricular nucleus; V3 third ventricle. Figures adapted from Swanson (1998/1999).

Figures 2.2a and 2.2b show diagrammatic representations of the position of the microdialysis probe in the frontal cortex and the region of the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus, respectively. Figure 2.3. shows a photograph of a brain slice taken from a halothane-anaesthetised rat with a microdialysis probe implanted into the hypothalamus. The probe was perfused with Evans Blue dye for 160 min to indicate the area of dialysis.



Figure 2.3: *Photograph of a brain slice from a rat with a microdialysis probe implanted into the hypothalamus and perfused with Evans Blue dye.*

Area of blue indicates the dialysing zone of the microdialysis probe.
2.2.1.4. Microdialysis procedure

2.2.1.4.1. Collection of dialysates (anaesthetised rats)

Collection of dialysate started approximately 2 h after probe implantation. Thereafter, samples were collected directly from the probe outlet into polyethyene tubes at 20 min intervals. The polyethyene tubes contained 5 μ l perchloric acid (0.01 M) to prevent the spontaneous oxidation of noradrenaline before analysis. Samples taken over the first 2 h were used to estimate resting extracellular noradrenaline concentration. These are referred to as 'basal' samples. When the dialysate noradrenaline concentration in four consecutive samples was stable, a test drug was administered.

Following collection, samples were immediately stored on ice and their noradrenaline content analysed by HPLC-ECD on the same day as collection. On the rare occasion when analysis of samples was not possible on the same day, samples were stored at -70° C until the following day.

2.2.1.4.2. Collection of dialysates (freely-moving rats)

On the day after probe implantation rats were kept in their individual cages and moved into the experimental laboratory. Their probes were connected with a piece of portex tubing (i.d. 0.58 mm, o.d. 0.96 mm) to a gas-tight syringe (Hamilton), containing aCSF, fitted to a perfusion pump. The probe was perfused with aCSF at a rate of 1μ / min for the duration of the experiment. The outlet of the probe was attached to a 20 cm length of fine bore tubing (1.2 μ l / 100 mm; Biotech Instruments Ltd) which was extended over the side of the cage to allow collection of dialysates with minimum disturbance to the rat. In experiments involving the administration of *d*-amphetamine, the inlet and outlet tubing was guided through a liquid swivel held in a clamp over the top of the cage. Liquid swivels allow the rat to move freely around their cage without twisting the inlet and outlet tubing. This is obviously desirable with rats experiencing a large dose of *d*-amphetamine. However, as rats often spent long periods of time resting during the experiments, liquid swivels were only used in experiments involving *d*-amphetamine.

Samples were collected at 20 min intervals into polyethyene tubes containing 5 μ l perchloric acid (0.01 M) to prevent the spontaneous oxidation of noradrenaline before analysis. Samples from the first 1-2 h were used to estimate resting extracellular

noradrenaline concentration ('basal' samples). When the dialysate noradrenaline concentration in four consecutive samples was stable, a test drug was administered. Samples were stored immediately on ice and their noradrenaline content was analysed using HPLC-ECD on the same day as collection. If samples were unable to be analysed on the same day as collection, they were stored at -70° C.

2.2.1.4.3. Drugs and drug administration procedures

The following drugs were used: atipamezole hydrochloride (Farmos), *d*-amphetamine sulphate (Sigma, UK), sibutramine hydrochloride (Knoll Pharmaceuticals Research, U.K.), 2-[2-(2-methoxy-1, 4-benzodioxanyl)]imidazoline hydrochloride (RX821002; Research Biochemicals Incorporated). Halothane was obtained from Zeneca.

For i.p. administration, drugs were dissolved in 0.9% saline and administered in a volume of 2 ml / kg. For local infusion of drugs *via* the dialysis probe ('reverse dialysis'), drugs were freshly dissolved in aCSF and administered using gas-tight syringes. Inlet tubing was primed with aCSF containing the test drug before its infusion at 1 μ l / min. All constituents of the aCSF were AnalaR grade obtained from BDH.

2.2.1.5. Measurement of dialysate noradrenaline concentration

2.2.1.5.1. High performance liquid chromatography coupled to electrochemical detection (HPLC-ECD)

The noradrenaline content of the dialysate samples was analysed using reverse-phase high pressure liquid chromatography coupled to an electrochemical detector. The mobile phase was delivered at constant rate of 1.3 ml / min using a Varian 2010 HPLC pump and passed through a pre-injection guard cell set at +350 mV. This was used to oxidise (or reduce) electroactive substances in the mobile phase. Solutes were separated at room temperature on a Hypersil ODS 5 μ m column (250 x 4.6 mm) which was protected by an Aquapore guard column (30mm x 4.6mm; Applied Biosystems). Samples were injected onto the column *via* an injection port (Rheodyne 7125) fitted with a 50 μ l stainless steel loop (Anachem). Following separation, noradrenaline was detected using a high performance analytical cell (model 5014A; ESA) controlled by a Coulochem detector (ESA, model 5100A). Potentials were set in REDOX mode (detector 1: -180 mV: detector 2: +180mV). Electrical current was recorded and relayed as a chromatogram

through a Spectra-Physics Chromjet integrator. Dialysate noradrenaline concentration was identified by its retention time and quantified using peak height compared with an external standard.

2.2.1.5.2. The mobile phase

The mobile phase used during HPLC comprised (mM): sodium dihydrogen orthophosphate 83, octane sulphonic acid 2 (Sigma), EDTA 0.85, methanol 12% and was adjusted to pH 4 with orthophosphoric acid. This was filtered and degassed using FTK membrane filters (removal rating 0.1 μ m, Pall Processes Filtration). Mobile phase was recycled and renewed approximately every 2-3 weeks.

2.2.1.5.3. Reagents

Unless stated otherwise, all reagents of the mobile phase were either AnalaR grade obtained from BDH. The noradrenaline used to make external standards was obtained from Sigma and was the bitartrate salt.

2.2.1.6. Statistical analysis

Changes in the noradrenaline content of dialysis samples after drug treatment were tested for statistical significance using the ANOVA repeated measures facility on SPSS PC.⁺ Analysis was carried out on orthonormalised raw data with 'time' as the 'within-subjects' factor. To compare the effects of different drug treatments, 'drug treatment' was included as the 'between-subjects' factor. The criterion for statistical significance was set at P < 0.05. See individual result chapters for further details on statistical analysis used in each study. For characterisation of dialysate noradrenaline content below (section 2.2.1.7.) data were separated into bins of a number of consecutive samples where 'bin 1' comprised basal samples. A split-plot ANOVA was the carried out with 'time' and 'bin' as 'within-subjects' factors.

2.2.1.7. Characterisation of dialysate noradrenaline content

The technique of microdialysis often assumes that, under drug-free conditions, the neurotransmitter content of the dialysate is directly related to neuronal activity. However, when carrying out microdialysis experiments, it is important to validate this assumption. In other words, it is important to establish that the neurotransmitter concentration in the dialysate decreases when neuronal activity is inhibited. Likewise, it should be established that the neurotransmitter concentration increases if neurones are depolarised. Reverse-microdialysis creates several simple ways of doing this by manipulating the electrolyte make-up of the perfusion fluid. For example, it is possible to depolarise neurones by adding a high concentration of K⁺ to the perfusion fluid (Cosford *et al.* 1994; Dalley and Stanford *et al.* 1995) or, similarly, it is possible to decrease exocytotic neurotransmitter release by removing Ca²⁺ (van Veldhuizen *et al.* 1990; Dalley and Stanford, 1995).

In this study, the response of dialysate noradrenaline concentration to the electrolyte manipulations described above was tested in the frontal cortex of anaesthetised rats using a modified Ringer's solution (mM: NaCl 145, KCl, 4, CaCl₂, 1.3, pH 6.6). Firstly, a depolarising pulse of K^+ (80 mM) was added to the Ringer's solution for 40 min (Ringer's solution: (mM) NaCl 71, KCl 80, CaCl₂ 1.3, pH 6.6, the concentration of NaCl was reduced to maintain the tonicity). Infusion of 80 mM K^+ caused an ~2.5-fold increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration (20 min following start of perfusion: F = 10.89; d.f. 5, 25; P < 0.01) (Figure 2.4). When the perfusion medium was returned to the original Ringer's solution containing 4mM K⁺, dialysate noradrenaline concentration returned to baseline concentration (basals vs time points 7, 8 and 9: F = 0.02; d.f. 1,8; P = 0.90). The removal of Ca²⁺ from the Ringer's solution for 60 min (mM: NaCl 145, KCl 4, pH 6.6) decreased dialysate noradrenaline concentration to approximately 50% of the mean basal concentration (basals vs time points9, 10, 11 and 12: F = 9.23; d.f. 1,10; P = 0.01) (Figure 2.4). Dialysate noradrenaline concentration returned to baseline concentration when the original Ringer's solution containing 1.3 mM CaCl₂ was restored (basals vs time points 14 and 15: *F* = 0.454; d.f. 1,9; *P* < 0.52).



Figure 2.4. Effect of 1) a depolarising pulse of K^+ and 2) Ca^{2+} removal on dialysate noradrenaline concentration.

Figure shows an increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex of anaesthetised rats during a 40 min pulse of 80 mM K⁺ (1). Ca²⁺ removal from the perfusion fluid for 60 min caused a decrease in dialysate noradrenaline concentration (2). Points represent mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (n = 6).

2.2.2 Radioligand binding

2.2.2.1. Animals

Male obese Zucker rats (188-231 g, Charles River, France) and their lean male littermates (170-185 g) aged 8 weeks old were used. Subjects were housed two per cage on a 12 h light / dark cycle (lights on 06.00 h) at 21°C and 55 % humidity. The rats were allowed free access to food and tap water at all times. Drug-naïve animals were used in each experiment and all procedures complied with the U.K. Scientific Procedures (Animals) Act, 1986.

2.2.2.2. Sample preparation

Rats were killed between 14.00-16.00 h by stunning and cervical dislocation and the brains rapidly removed. Frontal cortices and hypothalami were dissected and immediately frozen on dry ice. Samples were stored at -20°C until assayed.

2.2.2.3. [³H]RX821002 binding assay

The following method has been adapted from that of Heal et al. (1995b).

2.2.2.3.1. Tissue preparation.

Brain tissue was thawed and homogenized in ice-cold 0.25M sucrose (1:30 w / v) and centrifuged at 1000 × g for 12 min. The supernatant was removed and stored on ice and the pellet resuspended in 0.25M sucrose (1:15 w / v) and centrifuged at 850 × g for 12 min. Combined supernatants were made up to 1:80 w / v with 5 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5, containing 5 mM EDTA) and centrifuged at 39000 × g for 10 min. The resulting pellet was homogenized in 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.5, containing 0.5 mM EDTA and 0.1% L-ascorbic acid) (1:80 w / v) and centrifuged at 39000 × g for 10 min. The final pellet was homogenized in 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5 containing 0.5 mM EDTA and 0.1% L-ascorbic acid) (1:80 w / v) and centrifuged at 39000 × g for 10 min. The final pellet was homogenized in 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5 containing 0.5 mM EDTA and 0.1% L-ascorbic acid) (equivalent to 3.125 mg / ml) and used immediately in assays. All centrifugations were carried out between 2-7 °C.

2.2.2.3.2. Binding assay.

Saturation studies were carried out at 8 concentrations of $[^{3}H]RX821002$ (0.036 - 3.6 nM). One frontal cortex or one hypothalmus was used per saturation experiment. All samples were prepared in duplicate and each sample contained 50 µl $[^{3}H]RX821002$ and 50 µl of 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.5, containing 0.5 mM EDTA and 0.1% L-ascorbic acid) (total binding) or 5 µl phentolamine (non-specific binding). Binding was initiated by the addition of 400 µl aliquots of freshly prepared membranes, following which samples were incubated for 75 min at 0°C. Remaining membrane preparations from each frontal cortex and hypothalamus was stored at -80 °C for subsequent protein analysis (see section 2.2.2.5.).

Following the incubation period, membrane-bound radioactivity was recovered by rapid filtration through Skatron 11734 filter mats using a Skatron cell harvester (suction setting 9, 9, 0) with ice-cold 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7.5. 1 ml Ultima Gold MV scintillant (Packard) was added to each filter mat and membrane-bound radioactivity was determined by liquid scintillation counting using a Packard emulsifier scintillator 299. Background radioactivity was automatically subtracted and disintegrations per minute (d.p.m.) were calculated from counts per minute (c.p.m) at a counting efficiency of approximately 45%.

2.2.2.4. Drugs and reagents

[³H]RX821002 hydrochloride ([³H]2-[2-(2-methoxy-1,4-benzodioxanyl)] imidazoline hydrochloride) (49 Ci / mmol) was obtained from Amersham International UK. Phentolamine mesylate was obtained from Research Biochemicals. All other reagents were obtained from BDH or Sigma.

2.2.2.5. Protein determination

The protein content of each frontal cortex and hypothalamus used was determined using the method of Lowry *et al.* (1951). A standard curve using bovine serum albumin was generated at 5 unit intervals from 0-50 μ g protein / 100 μ l. Bovine serum albumin was made up using the incubation buffer from the binding assay. A 100 μ l aliqout of each standard (in duplicate) was added into assay tubes. Remaining membrane preparations from each frontal cortex and hypothalamus were thawed and a 100 μ l aliquot of each sample (in duplicate) was added into assay tubes. Each tube was diluted with 1 ml 1 M NaOH and left at room temperature for 40 min. Following this, 1 ml of freshly prepared copper solution (1 ml 0.5% copper sulphate and 1% sodium citrate mixed with 50 ml 2% sodium carbonate) was added to each tube and left at room temperature for 15 min. Each tube then received 100 μ l Folin-Ciocalteau phenol reagent (diluted 1 : 1 with distilled water). The contents of each individual tube were then well mixed and left at room temperature for 40 min. The ensuing colour density of the tubes was then read by a colorimeter at 750 nm using the standard with 0 μ g protein as a reagent blank.

The protein content of each sample was used to convert B_{max} values from pmol / 1 to fmol / mg protein. This was done by converting the B_{max} from pmol / 1 to fmol / assay tube and dividing this by the protein content in 0.4 ml of tissue to give fmol / µg protein.

This figure was then multiplied by 1000 to give fmol / mg protein.

2.2.2.6. Statistical analysis

Data were analysed by Richard Brammer (Knoll Pharmaceuticals Statistics Department) using a two-way ANOVA with group (lean or obese) and assay date as factors. The criterion for statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.

2.2.3 Hypoactivity and mydriasis measurements

2.2.3.1. Animals

Male obese Zucker rats (148-191 g, Charles River, France) and their lean littermates (135-146 g) aged 7 weeks at the start of the study were used. They were housed in groups of 2 on a 12 h light / dark cycle (commencing 06.00 h) at a temperature of 21° C and 55% humidity. Rats were allowed free access to food and tap water.

2.2.3.2. Experimental design

The effects of a range of doses of clonidine (0.001 - 0.3 mg / kg i.p.) on mydriasis and hypoactivity over a period of 20 min and 1 h, respectively were investigated. These test periods have shown to be appropriate for monitoring mydriasis and hypoactivity in rats (Heal *et al.* 1981; 1995a). Each rat was used to test 3 doses of clonidine, with each test separated by a one-week drug washout period.

Rats were moved to the laboratory in their home cages 30 min before the start of the tests. Eight rats were tested per session and were numbered 1-8 on their tails with a permanent marker pen. Tests began at time 0 with the measurement of pupil diameter in rat number 1, followed by the administration of a randomly assigned dose of clonidine or saline. Rats 2-8 followed the same procedure at 1 min intervals. After treatment, rats were returned to their home cages. At 10 min, pupil diameter measurements were taken in each rat again at 1 min intervals, starting with rat number 1. Immediately after pupil diameter measurement, each rat was placed in an arena (length 1 m; width 0.6 m; height 0.28 m) and scored for hypoactivity. After scoring (see section 2.2.3.4.2. below) rats were again returned to their home cages. The same procedure was carried out at 20 min. Following

this, rats were individually scored for hypoactivity at 1 min intervals at 30, 40, 50 and 60 min post-treatment.

2.2.3.3. Drugs and drug administration procedures

Clonidine HCl was obtained from Sigma. Drugs were dissolved in 0.9% (w/v) sodium chloride solution (saline) and injected intraperitoneally in a volume of 2 ml / kg body weight. Control rats received saline (2 ml / kg body weight).

2.2.3.4. Test procedures

2.2.3.4.1. Pupil diameter measurement

The pupil diameter of the right eye was measured using a Wild M1 binocular microscope containing a graticule scale in one eyepiece and illuminated by a Swift light box (light intensity 2500 lux). The rat was carefully held underneath the microscope and its pupil diameter was read off the graticule scale in eyepiece units. This reading was then converted to millimetres.

2.2.3.4.2. Assessment of clonidine-induced hypoactivity

Clonidine-induced hypoactivity was measured using four behavioural parameters, using the protocol of Heal *et al* (1981). The behavioural parameters scored were as follows:

- Passivity. Rats were picked up in progressively more stressful ways; from vertically by a fold of skin at the nape of the neck through to lifting the rat by a single hindlimb.
- 2) *Tactile responsiveness.* Rats were tested for their escape reflex. This involved gently squeezing the rat's body between a thumb and forefinger and assessing the speed with which the rat escaped.
- 3) *Posture*. Clonidine causes a progressive lowering of the tail and abdomen and this was assessed.

4) *Gait.* Rats were rated for their change from normal locomotion to a pronounced rolling gait.

Each behavioural parameter was rated on a scale of 0-3 points, where 0 = absent, 1 = slight, 2 = moderate and 3 = severe, using the score chart shown in Figure 2.5. Scoring of tactile responsiveness, posture and gait started 10 min following treatment, whereas scoring of passivity started 20 min following treatment. A passivity score was not taken at 10 min because pilot studies found the response to this test to be marred by defensive behaviour in some rats, as a result of the prior injection. The scoring was carried out by an observer who was unaware of the treatment administered to each rat.

2.2.3.4.3. Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using the ANOVA facility on SPSS PC⁺. Analysis was carried out using 'dose' as the 'within-subjects' factor. To compare the effects of lean animals to obese animal, 'group' was included as the 'between-subjects' factor. The criterion for statistical significance was set at P < 0.05. (See Chapter 6, section 6.2.2. for further details).

TEST	0	1	2	3
PASSIVITY	Rat can be held by fold at nape of neck.	Can be inverted onto back.	Can be held by hind left limb.	Can be held by fore left limb.
TACTILE RESPONSIVENESS	Rat walks away when squeezed by a thumb and finger.	Slowed walk.	No walk.	Rat will not move when tester brushes fur the wrong way.
POSTURE	Rat exhibits normal posture with tail, hindquarters and abdomen raised off bench surface.	Tail touches bench.	Hindquarters and tail touch bench.	Abdomen, hindquarters and tail touch bench.
GAIT	Rat shows fast, agile smooth gait.	The gait slows.	The gait slows and has rolling character.	Rat does not move.

Figure 2.5. The hypoactivity score sheet used to rate the level of hypoactivity in rats following clonidine administration.

Chapter 3

Comparison of the effects of sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine on extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex of anaesthetised rats.

3.1 Introduction

In vivo microdialysis experiments in rats show that acute administration of sibutramine produces a moderate, gradual and sustained increase in extracellular 5-HT in the hypothalamus (Gundlah *et al.* 1997, Heal *et al.* 1998b). The accumulation of extracellular 5-HT induced by sibutramine or the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), paroxetine or fluoxetine, is decreased by co-administration of the 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptor agonist, 8-hydroxy-2-(di-*n*-propylamino) tetralin, (8-OH-DPAT) (Gundlah *et al.* 1997). 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptors are located on the cell bodies of serotonergic neurones and their activation decreases serotonergic neuronal firing (Hajós *et al.* 1995). These findings suggest that sibutramine, paroxetine and fluoxetine increase the concentration of extracellular 5-HT by inhibiting its reuptake following impulse-mediated release.

The findings above are consistent with those of Gartside *et al.* (1995). Using *in vivo* microdialysis studies, these authors found that systemic administration of a low dose of the SSRI, paroxetine, did not affect extracellular 5-HT concentration in rat frontal cortex but, instead, completely suppressed the firing rate of dorsal raphé neurones. However, in rats pretreated systemically with the 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptor antagonist,

WAY 100635, the same dose of paroxetine induced an increase in extracellular 5-HT concentration in the frontal cortex that was approximately 200% above baseline values. Furthermore, extracellular electrophysiological recordings showed that the inhibition of firing activity in dorsal raphé neurones induced by paroxetine, was reversed by the co-administration of WAY 100635. Similar findings are reported by Romero *et al.* (1996) who report that systemic administration of the selective 5-HT_{1A} antagonist, WAY 100635, augmented the increase in extracellular 5-HT concentration in the frontal cortex of rats pretreated systemically with the SSRIs, citalopram, fluoxetine or fluvoxamine. Together, these findings suggest that, because the increase in extracellular 5-HT induced by 5-HT reuptake inhibitors is derived from impulse-dependent release, the magnitude of effect of these drugs is limited by the subsequent activation of 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptors.

The progressive effect of sibutramine on extracellular 5-HT accumulation in the hypothalamus contrasts with the greater, more rapid and comparatively short-lasting increase in extracellular 5-HT evoked by 5-HT-releasing agents such as fenfluramine, *d*-fenfluramine and *d*-amphetamine (Gundlah *et al.* 1997, Heal *et al.* 1998b). Administration of 8-OH-DPAT in combination with fenfluramine had no effect on the increase in extracellular 5-HT concentration induced by fenfluramine alone (Gundlah *et al.* 1997). Similarly, *d*-amphetamine induces a rapid increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the rat hippocampus (Florin *et al.* 1994). Administration of the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist, clonidine, which decreases locus coeruleus neuronal firing (see Chapter 1, section 1.4.3.) had no effect on the *d*-amphetamine-induced increase in extracellular noradrenaline (Florin *et al.* 1994). These findings lend support to the view that releasing agents induce a rapid increase extracellular transmitter concentration *via* an impulse-independent mechanism.

Previous microdialysis experiments in this laboratory have demonstrated that *d*-amphetamine also induces a rapid increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex of anaesthetised rats (experiments performed by Z.A. Hughes). The magnitude of the increase in extracellular noradrenaline paralleled dose, with a peak effect occurring between 40-60 min post-injection. The rapid increase in extracellular noradrenaline and 5-HT

induced by this drug (Zetterström *et al.* 1983; Heal *et al.* 1998b), supporting the view that *d*-amphetamine is a monoamine-releasing agent.

Studies indicate that, in contrast to *d*-fenfluramine and *d*-amphetamine, neither sibutramine nor its active metabolites appear to have noradrenaline or 5-HT releasing properties *in vitro* (Heal *et al.* 1998a, see also Chapter 1, section 1.3.1.). Although sibutramine and its metabolites have been characterised as noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors, there have been no previous studies to investigate sibutramine's effects on central extracellular noradrenaline concentration *in vivo*. Such an investigation is of interest because experiments *in vivo* have indicated that sibutramine exerts its anti-obesity effects through actions on both noradrenergic and serotonergic systems (see Chapter, 1, section 1.3.1.).

Like sibutramine, the anti-obesity effects of d-amphetamine have been attributed, in part, to its activity on central noradrenergic neurones (see Chapter 1, section 1.3.2.). However, evidence suggests that central noradrenergic neurones could also be involved in the behavioural activation induced by this drug. Early studies suggested that the locomotor hyperactivity induced by d-amphetamine was mediated by the release of dopamine in the nucleus accumbens as injection of the dopamine antagonist, haloperidol, into this area inhibited this effect. Microdialysis studies in the 1980s supported this proposal by showing that the locomotor hyperactivity induced by d-amphetamine correlated well with the increase in extracellular dopamine concentration in the nucleus accumbens (Sharp *et al.* 1987).

However, a more recent study suggests that noradrenaline also has a role in the locomotor hyperactivity response induced by *d*-amphetamine (Blanc *et al.* 1994). These authors show that systemic administration of the α_1 -adrenoceptor antagonists, prazosin or 2(2,6-dimethoxyphenoxyethyl) amino-methyl-1,4-benzodioxane hydrochloride (WB-4101) inhibited the locomotor hyperactivity induced by systemic administration of *d*-amphetamine. This effect was specific for the increase in locomotor activity induced by *d*-amphetamine as prazosin did not inhibit the locomotor hyperactivity induced by the antimuscarinic agent, scopolamine. α_1 -Adrenoceptor antagonists have poor penetration across the blood-brain-barrier. Nevertheless, the study of Blanc *et al.* (1994) showed that

local administration of prazosin (0.16 pmol) into the medial prefrontal cortex completely inhibited the locomotor hyperactivity induced by local administration of *d*-amphetamine into the nucleus accumbens. These findings strongly suggest that α_1 -adrenoceptors are involved in the locomotor hyperactivity response to *d*-amphetamine.

Darracq et al. (1998) investigated the effect of prazosin further. These authors found that reverse dialysis of *d*-amphetamine (3 µM) bilaterally into the nucleus accumbens did not induce an increase in locomotor activity even though the extracellular dopamine concentration increased by 5-fold. Furthermore, systemic administration of prazosin had no affect on the extracellular dopamine concentration. However, systemic administration of *d*-amphetamine (0.5 mg / kg) injected into rats already perfused with 3 µM d-amphetamine in the nucleus accumbens, caused a further 64% increase in dopamine concentration and induced a locomotor hyperactivity. Pretreatment of rats with prazosin, either systemically (0.5 mg / kg) or by bilateral injection into the prefrontal cortex (500 pmol), prevented both the further increase in extracellular dopamine and locomotor hyperactivity induced by systemic administration of d-amphetamine. The findings suggest that the increase in dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens associated with locomotor activity is under the control of prefrontocortical α_1 -adrenoceptors. The authors suggest that the increase in noradrenergic transmission induced by *d*-amphetamine in the prefrontal cortex could modify the activity of glutaminergic neurones projecting from the cortex to the nucleus accumbens, which in turn increases dopamine release in this area. Alternatively, the increase in noradrenergic transmission could lead to an indirect effect on dopaminergic cell bodies to increase their firing rate.

Evidence suggests that it is the psychostimulant properties of *d*-amphetamine, rather than any direct effect on satiety, that accounts for the reduction in food intake induced by this drug. Antin *et al.* (1975) observed that satiety in the rat is characterised by a specific sequence of behaviours: following the cessation of feeding, a rat engages in grooming and exploration and then rests or sleeps. Although the sequence was fixed, the time spent engaged in non-feeding activities would vary. This sequence of behaviours that occurs following a meal is considered a better reflection of satiety than the cessation of feeding alone. In support of this suggestion, Antin *et al.* (1975) found that rats stopped

eating when they tasted quinine-adulterated food, but failed to exhibit the sequence of behaviours associated with satiety. Using this approach, Halford *et al.* (1995) monitored behavioural activities in rats following systemic administration of the ED₅₀ dose of *d*-amphetamine (1.5 mg / kg i.p.) or sibutramine (2 mg / kg p.o.) to reduce food intake. The study found that, compared to the effect of placebo, *d*-amphetamine markedly increased the duration of time spent sniffing and decreased the duration and frequency of time spent resting. These findings suggest that *d*-amphetamine disrupts the satiety sequence and that the increase in behavioural activation accounts for the suppression of food intake caused by this drug. Sibutramine suppressed food intake by reducing the duration and frequency of eating episodes and accelerating the onset and duration of resting. This indicates that, in contrast to *d*-amphetamine, sibutramine decreases food intake by enhancing the natural development of satiety.

Considering the evidence that suggests central noradrenergic systems could have a role in eliciting the increase in locomotor activity induced by *d*-amphetamine, it is of further interest to investigate whether sibutramine increases extracellular noradrenaline concentration *in vivo* and to compare these effects with those of *d*-amphetamine.

Monitoring changes in central extracellular noradrenaline concentration in response to a novel anti-obesity agent is one approach to investigating its effects on central noradrenergic systems. Therefore, the first aim of this investigation was to use the technique of microdialysis to determine whether systemic administration of sibutramine increases the extracellular concentration of noradrenaline in the brain. To address this question, *in vivo* microdialysis was carried out in the frontal cortex of anaesthetised rats. This allowed the direct comparison of the findings of this investigation with those of the previous study on *d*-amphetamine.

One limitation of microdialysis is that changes in the concentration of extracellular transmitter can be attributed to either an increase in noradrenaline release, inhibition of its reuptake, or both. Nevertheless, it was predicted that the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration caused by sibutramine, like that of 5-HT, would be progressive and sustained, as a result of the extracellular accumulation following impulse-evoked release and inhibition of reuptake. In contrast, *d*-amphetamine increases monoamine release directly through an impulse-independent mechanism. This involves

effects on both plasmalemmal and vesicular monoamine transporters (see Chapter 1, section 1.3.2.). In view of these different neurochemical actions of sibutramine and d-amphetamine, it was predicted that the rate and magnitude of the increase in the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline caused by these two compounds would differ.

Another factor that influences the accumulation of extracellular noradrenaline is activation of somatodendritic and terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors on noradrenergic neurones. When activated by extracellular noradrenaline, these receptors depress the firing rate of noradrenergic neurones (Svensson *et al.* 1975) and release of transmitter from their terminals (Langer, 1977), respectively (see Chapter 1, section 1.4.3.). Therefore, accumulation of extracellular noradrenaline, as a result of the inhibition of its reuptake by sibutramine, should activate these receptors and blunt its impulse-evoked release. In contrast, direct, impulse-independent release of noradrenaline by *d*-amphetamine should be less susceptible (if at all) to activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors by noradrenaline. Considering this, the second aim of the investigation was to compare the effects of systemic administration of sibutramine or *d*-amphetamine on the amplitude and rate of increase in extracellular noradrenaline in rats pretreated systemically with an α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist.

The α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist chosen for this study was the highly selective α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, 2-[2-(2-methoxy-1,4-benzodioxanyl)]imidazoline hydrochloride (RX821002) (Langin *et al.* 1990). This compound is a derivative of the previously more commonly used α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, idazoxan, and has an α_2 / α_1 -adrenoceptor binding selectivity ratio of 316 (*c.f.* idazoxan, 151) (Stillings *et al.* 1985). Binding studies show [³H]RX821002 has a high affinity for α_2 -adrenoceptors with little selectivity between the α_2 -adrenoceptor subtypes (O'Rourke *et al.* 1994). Furthermore, consistent with its greater α_2 / α_1 -adrenoceptor selectivity ratio, binding studies in human adipocytes show that [³H]RX821002 does not label nonadrenergic idazoxan binding sites (Langin *et al.* 1990).

3.2 Methods

3.2.1. Experimental design

Experiments were carried out in halothane-anaesthetised rats. For details on procedures, refer to Chapter 2, section 2.2.1. Drugs were administered by the i.p. route.

To establish the dose-response curve for sibutramine, a range of doses of this drug (0.25 - 10 mg / kg) were tested following the collection of four basal samples (at 20 min intervals). Each rat was used to test only one dose of sibutramine and samples were collected for a further 4 h. This was the same procedure employed to establish the dose-response curve for *d*-amphetamine. The doses of sibutramine were chosen from previous studies showing that, over this dose-range, sibutramine has dose-dependent effects on food-intake as well as extracellular 5-HT accumulation (Jackson *et al.*, 1997).

In experiments involving pretreatment of rats with the selective α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, RX821002, rats were divided into four groups. The first group of rats was used in a pilot study to find an appropriate dose of RX821002 to use for pretreatment of rats in groups 2-4. Rats in group 1 were administered 1 mg / kg RX821002 and, two hours later, they received a second dose of 3 mg / kg RX821002; samples were collected for a further 2 h. Since neither 1 or 3 mg / kg RX821002 had any effect on dialysate noradrenaline concentration, the second, third and fourth group of rats received a dose of 3 mg / kg RX821002 and, 1 h later, were given a further injection of sibutramine, *d*-amphetamine or vehicle, respectively; samples were then collected for a further 3 h.

3.2.2. Statistical analysis

Changes in the noradrenaline content of dialysis samples after drug injection were tested for statistical significance using analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures. Analysis was carried out with 'time' as the 'within-subject' factor. To compare the effects of sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine, 'drug treatment' was added as the 'between-subjects' factor. To assess RX821002-induced changes in the latency to reach peak dialysate noradrenaline concentration, the mean latency to reach the peak drug effect for individual rats was determined and one-way ANOVA used to compare the effects of different treatment groups.

3.3 Results

3.3.1. The effects of sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine on dialysate noradrenaline concentration.

Mean noradrenaline content in basal samples from these experiments was 24.8 ± 0.8 fmol 20 / min (pooled data from all experiments in this section; n = 41).

3.3.1.1. Sibutramine.

There was no change in dialysate noradrenaline concentration in rats injected with saline (Figure 3.1a and b). However, following administration of sibutramine at 0.25, 0.5 or 1 mg / kg (Figure 3.1a) or 1, 3 or 10 mg / kg (Figure 3.1b), there was a gradual and sustained increase in the noradrenaline concentration of dialysis samples.

Sibutramine (0.25, 0.5, or 1 mg / kg) increased dialysate noradrenaline concentration within 40 min post-injection, (0.25 mg / kg: F = 4.68; d.f. 5,20; P < 0.01; 0.5 mg / kg: F = 4.13; d.f. 5,10; P = 0.03; 1 mg / kg: F = 5.79; d.f 5,10; P < 0.01). A dose of 3 mg / kg sibutramine increased dialysate noradrenaline concentration within 80 min post-injection (F = 5.22; d.f. 7,28; P < 0.01). 10 mg / kg sibutramine increased dialysate noradrenaline concentration within 80 min post-injection (F = 5.22; d.f. 7,28; P < 0.01). 10 mg / kg sibutramine increased dialysate noradrenaline concentration (F = 2.88; d.f. 8,24; P = 0.02).

The relationship between the magnitude of the increase and dose of sibutramine followed a bell-shaped curve. The largest increase was induced by a dose of 0.5 mg / kg (maximum of 278%, *c.f.* mean basal concentration) and occurred at 240 min post-injection. A plateau, representing an approximately 2.5-fold increase in noradrenaline (*c.f.* mean basal concentration), was attained within 2 h of injection. Slightly smaller increases were found after administration of 1 or 3 mg / kg sibutramine (1 mg / kg: maximum of 245% at 100 min post-injection: 3 mg / kg: maximum of 266% at 200 min post-injection).



Figure 3.1: The effect of sibutramine (a: 0.25, 0.5, or 1 mg / kg i.p. b: 1, 3 or 10 mg / kg i.p.) on dialysate noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex.

Arrow represents drug administration. Data points represent mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (fmol / 20 min; n = 4-5).



Figure 3.2: The effect of d-amphetamine (1, 3 or 10 mg / kg i.p.) on dialysate noradrenaline concentration from the frontal cortex.

Arrow represents drug administration. Data points represent mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (fmol / 20 min; n = 4-5).

3.3.1.2. d-Amphetamine (experiments performed by Z.A. Hughes).

All three doses of *d*-amphetamine increased the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline within 20 min of injection (1 mg / kg: F = 4.85; d.f. 4,12; P = 0.02; 3 mg / kg: F = 6.14; d.f. 4,16; P < 0.01; 10 mg / kg: F = 15.04; d.f. 4,8; P = 0.01) and the magnitude of the increase paralleled drug dose (Figure 3.2). Doses of 1 or 3 mg / kg produced maximum increases of 281% at 60 min post-injection and 381% at 80 min post-injection, respectively. The largest increase was induced by a dose of 10 mg / kg (549% at 40 min post-injection).

3.3.1.3. Comparison of the effects of sibutramine and d-amphetamine.

There was no main effect of drug or drug × time effect when 1 or 3 mg / kg sibutramine were compared with the equivalent dose of *d*-amphetamine over the whole time course of the experiment. However, 10 mg / kg *d*-amphetamine caused a greater increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration than did the equivalent dose of sibutramine at all times post-injection (1st h: F = 24.03; d.f. 1,6; P < 0.01, 2nd h: F = 13.84; d.f. 1,6; P = 0.01, 3rd h: F = 12.34; d.f. 1,6; P = 0.01, 4th h: F = 7.02; d.f. 1,7; P = 0.03). There was also a marked difference in the time course of the responses to a 10 mg / kg dose of these drugs (drug × time interaction: F = 14.59; d.f. 13,65; P < 0.01) reflecting the more rapid increase caused by *d*-amphetamine.

3.3.2. Effects of RX821002-pretreatment on dialysate noradrenaline concentration following sibutramine or *d*-amphetamine administration.

Mean noradrenaline content of basal samples from these experiments was $22.6 \pm 1.2 \text{ fmol} / 20 \text{ min}$ (pooled data from all experiments; n = 30).

3.3.2.1. Magnitude of response.

Neither RX821002 alone (1 mg / kg followed by 3 mg / kg) (Figure 3.3), nor when followed by a saline injection 1 h later (Figure 3.4), affected dialysate noradrenaline concentration.





Arrow represents drug administration. Data points represent mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (fmol / 20 min; n = 5).



Figure 3.4: The effect of sibutramine or d-amphetamine (10 mg / kg i.p.) on the concentration of noradrenaline in samples of cortical dialysate from rats treated 1 h previously with RX821002 (3 mg / kg i.p.).

Arrows represent drug administration. Data points represent mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (fmol / 20 min; n = 5).

However, both sibutramine (10 mg/kg) and *d*-amphetamine (10 mg/kg) increased dialysate noradrenaline concentration when administered to RX821002-pretreated rats (Figure 3.4). Moreover, the increases caused by both these compounds were greater than with either drug alone (sibutramine: ~5 fold increase, F = 12.85; d.f. 1,30; P < 0.01; Figure 3.5a; *d*-amphetamine: ~2.5 fold increase, F = 15.85; d.f. 1,24; P < 0.01; Figure 3.5b). However, the increase induced by RX821002 in combination with *d*-amphetamine was still greater than that induced by RX821002 in combination with sibutramine (main effect of drug combination over 1 h following sibutramine or *d*-amphetamine administration: F = 6.9; d.f. 1,7; P = 0.03).



Figure 3.5a: The effect of sibutramine (10 mg / kg i.p.) on the concentration of noradrenaline in samples of cortical dialysate from non-pretreated rats and rats pretreated 1 h earlier with RX821002 (3 mg / kg i.p.).

Arrow represents sibutramine administration. Data points represent mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (fmol / 20 min; n = 5).

3.3.2.2. Latency to peak effect.

RX821002 reduced the latency of sibutramine (10 mg / kg) to reach its maximum effect from 144 \pm 14 min to only 56 \pm 4 min (*F* = 33.80; d.f. 1,8; P < 0.01). In contrast, RX821002 had no significant effect on latency to reach mean maximum noradrenaline concentration after treatment with *d*-amphetamine (RX821002 pretreated: 50 \pm 17 min, non-pretreated: 40 \pm 0 min). Finally, a drug \times time interaction (*F* = 4.84; d.f. 12,84; *P* < 0.01) again suggests that, even in the presence of RX821002, the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by *d*-amphetamine was more rapid than that caused by sibutramine.



Figure 3.5b: The effect of d-amphetamine (10 mg / kg i.p.) on the concentration of noradrenaline in samples of cortical dialysate from non-pretreated rats and rats pretreated 1 h earlier with RX821002 (3 mg / kg i.p.).

Arrow represents *d*-amphetamine administration. Data points represent mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (fmol / 20 min; n = 5).

3.4. Discussion

Sibutramine's active metabolites are potent inhibitors of noradrenaline reuptake *in vitro*, (Cheetham *et al.* 1996) but both the parent compound and its metabolites are devoid of noradrenaline-releasing activity (Heal and Cheetham, 1997). However, nothing is known about the effects of sibutramine on central extracellular noradrenaline concentration *in vivo*. Questions that arise are whether its reuptake blocking activity increases extracellular noradrenaline concentration and whether this action can be distinguished from the effect of *d*-amphetamine?

3.4.1. The effects of sibutramine or *d*-amphetamine on cortical extracellular noradrenaline concentration.

The present results show that sibutramine caused a gradual and sustained increase in the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline in rat frontal cortex. *d*-Amphetamine also increased extracellular noradrenaline concentration. However, at the highest dose tested (10 mg / kg), this increase was both more rapid and of greater magnitude than that caused by the same dose of sibutramine, or by the dose inducing sibutramine's maximal effects (0.5 mg / kg). The magnitude and time-course of effects of these two drugs on extracellular noradrenaline concentration resemble their effects on extracellular 5-HT in the hypothalamus (Gundlah *et al.* 1997). In the study of Gundlah *et al.* (1997) the profile of the increase in extracellular 5-HT concentration evoked by 5-HT-reuptake inhibitors differed markedly from that induced by 5-HT-releasing agents. Based on these findings, Gundlah *et al.* define specific criteria that distinguish between the effects of 5-HT-reuptake inhibitors and 5-HT-releasing agents when using microdialysis. According to these criteria:

 Systemic administration of a releasing agent induced a greater increase in extracellular 5-HT concentration than that induced by reuptake inhibitors. The authors suggest that the modest increase in extracellular 5-HT induced by reuptake inhibitors reflects a balance between reuptake inhibition and the partial decrease in release that is a consequence of autoreceptor activation. In contrast, the greater increase in extracellular 5-HT induced by high doses of 5-HT releasing agents probably reflects impulse-independent 5-HT release.

2) Attenuation of the firing of 5-HT neurones, through activation of presynaptic autoreceptors, diminishes the effects of reuptake inhibitors on extracellular 5-HT concentration but does not affect the actions of releasing agents because these depend on impulse-independent transmitter release. The authors demonstrated that the increase in 5-HT induced by 5-HT-reuptake inhibitors (including sibutramine) is reversed by the subsequent administration of the somatodendritic 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptor agonist, 8-OH-DPAT. This strongly supports the hypothesis that the extracellular 5-HT accumulating following the administration of a reuptake inhibitor is derived from impulse-dependent release. However, 8-OH-DPAT did not reduce the large increase in extracellular 5-HT following fenfluramine administration, supporting the notion that the extracellular 5-HT accumulation following administration of this drug is derived from an impulse-independent process.

Generalising these criteria to the findings of the present study of noradrenaline would suggest that *d*-amphetamine produced a greater and more rapid increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration, than does sibutramine, because the former drug is a releasing agent whereas the latter is a reuptake inhibitor, only. Consistent with studies showing that sibutramine's metabolites inhibit the uptake of noradrenaline *in vitro*, the gradual increase in extracellular noradrenaline after its spontaneous, impulse-evoked release. The rapid increase in extracellular noradrenaline induced by *d*-amphetamine is in keeping with evidence that *d*-amphetamine causes the release of noradrenaline *in vitro* (Glowinski and Axelrod, 1965; Pifl *et al.* 1999; see Chapter 1, section 1.3.2.).

The finding that *d*-amphetamine induced a rapid increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex is consistent with the findings of Kuczenski and Segal (1992). These authors found that *d*-amphetamine induced a rapid increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the prefrontal cortex of freely-moving rats. They also reported that the time-course of the increase in noradrenaline paralleled the time-course of the increase in locomotor activity induced by

this drug. In the present study, the findings that sibutramine induced a smaller and more gradual increase in extracellular noradrenaline than did *d*-amphetamine, suggests that the former drug may not induce the behavioural activation associated with the latter drug. This suggestion is strongly supported by recent studies showing that in contrast to *d*-amphetamine, systemically administered sibutramine does not increase locomotor activity in rats (Rowley *et al.* 2000). Indeed, by monitoring the satiety sequence Halford *et al.* (1995) show that sibutramine actually increases the duration of time spent resting in rats (see section 3.1.).

Several reports suggest that *d*-amphetamine decreases the firing rate of noradrenergic neurones in the locus coeruleus (Graham and Aghajanian, 1971; Ryan *et al.* 1985; Holdefer and Jensen, 1987). This effect of *d*-amphetamine is thought to mediated by noradrenergic activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors located on the cell bodies of noradrenergic neurones (Engberg and Svensson, 1979; see Chapter 1, section 1.4.3). Nevertheless, the findings of this chapter so far suggest that *d*-amphetamine induces impulse-independent release of noradrenaline whereas sibutramine inhibited the reuptake of spontaneous, impulse-evoked noradrenaline release. Therefore, it may be predicted that activation of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors would blunt the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine whereas the effects of *d*-amphetamine would be less susceptible, if at all.

3.4.2. The effect of RX821002 alone on cortical extracellular noradrenaline concentration.

When given alone, the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, RX821002, did not modify basal dialysate noradrenaline concentration. This suggests that there is little tonic activation of these receptors. This finding is at variance with reports that systemic administration of RX821002 does increase the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline in rat brain (Javier-Meana *et al.* 1997; Nutt *et al.* 1997). However, although Javier-Meana *et al.* (1997) report an increase in extracellular noradrenaline in the cingulate cortex of rats after treatment with RX821002, the results of this study can not be compared with the present study because the noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, desipramine, was included in the aCSF. This, in itself, would indirectly increase the tonic activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors.

Nutt et al. (1997) reported a 2-fold increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex of chloral hydrate anaesthetised rats following RX821002 administration. An explanation for the apparently anomalous finding is not immediately clear. However, the findings indicate that there must be more activation of central α_2 -adrenoceptors in the rats used by Nutt *et al.* (1997) compared with those used in the present study. This could be a result of the different anaesthetics used in these experiments. Extracellular noradrenaline concentration is affected in different ways by different anaesthetic agents (e.g. chloralose and pentobarbital sodium decrease, whereas urethane increases the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline in the hypothalamus; Shimokawa et al. 1998). It is unclear how these anaesthetic agents could modify central noradrenergic activity or why they would have opposite effects on the same system. However, there is evidence to suggest that some anaesthetic agents modify neuronal firing rate in the brain. Studies on halothane and chloral hydrate show that these anaesthetic agents decrease the firing rate of striatal and dorsal raphé neurones in the rat and cat, respectively (Warenycia and McKenzie, 1984; Heym et al. 1984). Other studies show halothane to decrease the firing rate of both mesencephalic reticular neurones in the cat (Shimoji et al. 1977) and locus coeruleus neurones in the rat (Saunier et al. 1993). A reduction in locus coeruleus firing by halothane-anaesthesia would suggest that noradrenaline release in the cortex could have been reduced during experiments performed in this study. This could have caused a reduction in tonic activity at the terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors, accounting for the lack of effect of RX821002.

Alternatively, anaesthetic agents could modify neuronal activity by modulating α_2 -adrenoceptor function. Evidence suggests that halothane-anaesthesia interacts with α_2 -adrenoceptors. Bloor and Flacke (1982) found that the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist, clonidine, decreased the minimal anaesthetic concentration (MAC) of halothane required to anaesthetise dogs by approximately 45%. The effect of clonidine on MAC was rapidly and completely reversed by the non-selective α -adrenoceptor antagonist, tolazoline. These findings suggested that clonidine is able to influence the potency of halothane through an action at α_2 -adrenoceptors. In addition, Saunier *et al.* (1993) showed that the

dose of clonidine required to inhibit locus coeruleus neuronal firing by 50% (ED₅₀), is decreased under halothane-anaesthesia compared with 30 min following halothane withdrawal (ED₅₀: 25 mg / kg vs 5 mg / kg under halothane). The findings of Saunier *et al.* (1993) suggest that α_2 -adrenoceptors are more sensitive under halothane-anaesthesia. Although this suggests that halothane influences α_2 -adrenoceptor function, it does not explain why RX821002 had no effect on basal extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the present study.

Considering evidence that anaesthetic agents can modify central noradrenergic activity in rats, the dose-response curve for sibutramine's effects on extracellular noradrenaline concentration was investigated in conscious, freely-moving rats (see Chapter 4). Either of the proposals described above would predict that the basal concentration of extracellular noradrenaline would be higher in freely-moving rats compared with halothane-anaesthetised rats. These proposals were not fully supported by studies in conscious, freely-moving rats, which found that the basal dialysate noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex to be no greater than in anaesthetised rats (see Chapter 4). Nevertheless, this comparison is not ideal because the time interval between the end of surgery and the collection of samples is much greater in freely-moving rats (18-22 h) compared with anaesthetised rats (2 h). However, the effects of RX821002 on extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus were investigated in conscious, freely-moving rats in Chapter 5. This study found that systemic administration of RX821002 (3 mg / kg) did increase the concentration of noradrenaline in dialysate samples from both these areas. This finding is not consistent with the study of Saunier et al (1993) which suggests that α_2 -adrenoceptor function is more sensitive under halothane-anaesthesia, but it is consistent with the proposal that locus coeruleus firing is reduced by halothane-anaesthesia. It is possible that the basal concentration of noradrenaline in dialysate samples from anaesthetised and freely-moving rats would differ if compared at the same time following surgery.

In light of the evidence described above, it is not unreasonable to propose that the choice of anaesthesia affects noradrenergic neuronal firing and/or α_2 -adrenoceptor function and that this could explain the different of effects of RX821002 in the present study compared with the study of Nutt *et al.* (1997).

3.4.3. The effect of RX821002 in combination with sibutramine or *d*-amphetamine.

Despite its lack of intrinsic activity, RX821002 augmented the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration caused by sibutramine. This finding suggests that activation of somatodendritic and / or terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors by extracellular noradrenaline, which accumulates after administration of sibutramine, attenuated impulse-derived transmitter release. In keeping with these findings, the increase in cortical extracellular noradrenaline concentration caused by the established noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, desipramine, is similarly enhanced by idazoxan (Dennis *et al.* 1987). The effect of sibutramine in combination with RX821002 is similar to the effect of an SSRI in combination with a 5-HT_{1A} receptor antagonist on extracellular 5-HT accumulation (Gartside *et al.* 1995; Romero *et al.* 1996). Together, these findings highlight a similarity between the functioning of noradrenergic and serotonergic neurones in the brain.

RX821002 also augmented the effect of *d*-amphetamine (10 mg / kg) on extracellular noradrenaline. This suggests that the subsequent activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors by noradrenaline does restrict the magnitude of this drug's effect on extracellular noradrenaline accumulation to some extent. This inference conflicts with evidence that the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist, clonidine, has little effect on the increase in noradrenaline induced by *d*-amphetamine in the hippocampus (Florin *et al.* 1994). This could be because activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors after treatment with *d*-amphetamine is already maximal and that co-administration of an α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist has no further impact on release rate. However, the comparison of the study of Florin *et al.* (1994) with the present study is complicated by the fact that the former study was carried out in conscious, freely-moving rats. Nevertheless, the present finding suggests that, if noradrenergic neuronal activity is not completely depressed by *d*-amphetamine administration, then impulse-dependent noradrenaline release can contribute to the increase in extracellular noradrenaline accumulation induced by this drug.

The rapid increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by *d*-amphetamine alone suggests that this drug induces impulse-independent noradrenaline release. However, the finding that RX821002 potentiated the effect of *d*-amphetamine on

extracellular noradrenaline accumulation by approximately 2.5-fold shows that d-amphetamine also has characteristics of a noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor. The K_i for the inhibition of noradrenaline uptake into rat brain by d-amphetamine is 45 nM (Heal et al. 1998a). This value is relatively high compared with the K_i values for this drug's effects on dopamine and 5-HT uptake in rat brain (132 and 1441 nM, respectively, Heal et al. 1998a). The 5-HT releasing agent, d-fenfluramine, also has K_i values for monoamine uptake into rat brain of greater than 100 nM (260, 279 and 6227 nM for noradrenaline, 5-HT and dopamine, respectively, Heal et al. 1998a). The high affinity of d-amphetamine for the noradrenaline transporter suggests that the dissociation of this drug from the transporter could be relatively slow. At high concentrations of d-amphetamine, which would saturate the noradrenaline transporter, this slow dissociation could lead to some reuptake inhibitor-like properties by preventing noradrenaline in the synapse binding to the transporter. Consistent with this proposal, Pifl et al (1999) show that, at low doses, d-amphetamine acts as a noradrenaline releasing agent, releasing noradrenaline from intracellular vesicular stores in vitro. However, at high doses, d-amphetamine prevents the reuptake of released noradrenaline (see Chapter 1, section 1.3.2.).

The present finding that RX821002 enhanced the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by 10 mg / kg d-amphetamine is consistent with the proposal that high doses of d-amphetamine inhibit the reuptake of noradrenaline. Based on this proposal, it may be predicted that RX821002 would have less of an effect, if any, on low doses of d-amphetamine that cause noradrenaline release only. The effect of RX821002 in combination with 1 or 3 mg / kg d-amphetamine was not investigated in the present study. Investigating the effects of a range of doses of d-amphetamine in combination with RX821002 would be able to test the proposal. Ideally, these experiments would be done in conscious, freely-moving rats, so that any interference of the effects by anaesthesia could be ruled out.

Pretreatment of rats with RX821002 not only augmented the amplitude of the increase in extracellular noradrenaline caused by sibutramine, but also reduced the latency to reach its maximum. This is consistent with disinhibition of impulse-derived noradrenaline release by this α_2 -adrencoceptor antagonist. There was no apparent

reduction in the latency to reach maximum after treatment with *d*-amphetamine from the 40 min seen in the RX821002-free state. However, it is unlikely that any such reduction would have been detected because the present protocol for microdialysis dictated sampling at 20 min intervals.

3.4.4. Conclusion

The findings of this study support the view that sibutramine is a noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor *in vivo* and that the rate and magnitude of this drug's effects on extracellular noradrenaline are strongly attenuated by indirect activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors. In contrast, a high dose of *d*-amphetamine caused a much more rapid increase in extracellular noradrenaline, the magnitude of which is affected to a lesser extent by α_2 -adrenoceptor activation.

Chapter 4

Comparison of the effects of sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine on extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus of conscious, freely-moving rats.

4.1 Introduction

The previous chapter showed that sibutramine or *d*-amphetamine increased the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline in the frontal cortex of anaesthetised rats. Although this supports the view that these two anti-obesity agents enhance central noradrenergic function, noradrenergic transmission in the hypothalamus, in particular the paraventricular nucleus, has been shown to have the most marked effects on food intake (see Chapter 1, section 1.2.1.).

As well as a role in food intake, evidence also suggests the hypothalamus has a role in the regulation of thermogenesis. Perkins *et al.* (1981), showed that unilateral electrical stimulation of the ventromedial hypothalamus produced a biphasic response in the temperature of interscapular brown adipose tissue (BAT). At 1 min following stimulation there was a small decrease in BAT temperature from 36.2 °C to 36.0 °C. This was followed by an increase in BAT temperature that reached a maximum of 37 °C approximately 8 min post-stimulation and returned to baseline levels by approximately 20
min post-stimulation. The effect was abolished by systemic administration of the non-selective β -adrenoceptor antagonist, propranolol. Further investigation revealed that blockade of the sympathetic nerve supply to BAT with local anaesthetic abolished the increase in temperature induced by hypothalamic stimulation. However, under the same conditions, systemic administration of noradrenaline induced changes in BAT temperature of the same duration and magnitude as seen following stimulation of the hypothalamus. Based on their findings, the authors suggest that central stimulation of BAT thermogenesis is mediated by the sympathetic nerve supply and involves β -adrenoceptors. More recent studies using agonists and antagonists selective for β -adrenoceptor subtypes suggest that the β -adrenoceptor that mediates BAT thermogenesis is the β_3 -subtype (Manara *et al.* 1996).

Support for a role of hypothalamic noradrenaline in the control of thermogenesis comes from findings of Sahakian *et al.* (1983). These authors depleted hypothalamic noradrenaline by approximately 71% in rats by injecting the neurotoxin 6-hydroxydopamine into the rostral medulla in order to lesion the ventral noradrenergic bundle carrying neurones to the hypothalamus. BAT activity was monitored by measuring the binding of guanosine diphosphate (GDP) to BAT mitochondria (an index of the thermogenic proton conductance pathway). The study found that lesion of the ventral noradrenergic bundle induced a weight gain of 10% above that of sham-controlled rats when fed an identical palatable diet. Furthermore, binding of GDP in BAT mitochondria was reduced in lesioned rats compared with sham-lesioned controls. These results indicate that BAT thermogenic activity is impaired in lesioned rats and suggest that this could contribute to the elevated weight gain in these animals.

Although the findings of Sahakian *et al.* (1983) show that a depletion of hypothalamic noradrenaline content leads to weight gain, these findings are at variance with studies that show acute injection of noradrenaline into the region of paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus *increases* food intake in satiated and hungry rats (Leibowitz, 1978). These studies raise the question as to which of noradrenaline's actions on thermogenesis and food intake in the hypothalamus predominate under normal physiological conditions *in vivo*?

The paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus, which receives a dense noradrenergic innervation, has been implicated in the control of BAT thermogenesis. De Luca *et al.* (1989) show that rats with an electrolytic lesion of the paraventricular nucleus and fed identical diets have a lower rate of oxygen consumption and decreased core and BAT temperatures compared with sham-lesioned controls. Although both lesioned and sham-lesioned rats showed an increase in energy intake when put on a cafeteria diet compared with a chow diet, the lesioned rats gained more weight over an 18 day period. The authors suggest that the increase in energy intake in lesioned rats on a cafeteria diet may not induce the usual compensatory increase in thermogenesis, which results in a greater increase in body weight in these rats. Further experiments showed that the increase in oxygen consumption, as well as core and BAT temperatures, stimulated by systemic administration of noradrenaline, was also impaired in lesioned rats compared with sham-lesioned controls. This suggests that the decrease in BAT activity in lesioned rats could be due to a reduced function of the sympathetic nervous system as a result of an impaired facilitatory influence from the paraventricular nucleus.

The effects of sibutramine on extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus cannot be assumed to be the same as in the cortex. The reason for this is primarily that these two brain areas differ in respect of the source of their noradrenergic innervation: the cortex receives noradrenergic neurones exclusively from the locus coeruleus, while the hypothalamus is primarily innervated by noradrenergic neurones with cell bodies in the lateral tegmental nulcei (see: Holets 1990 and Chapter 1, section 1.1.). The tissue noradrenaline content, as well as the appearance, of neurones originating in the lateral tegmental system are different from those originating in the locus coeruleus (see Chapter 1, section 1.1.). In addition, evidence suggests that there could be functional differences between these two groups of neurones; Fritschy et al. (1990) reported that noradrenergic neurones of the lateral tegmental system are more resistant to the selective noradrenergic neurotoxin (N-(2-chloroethyl)-N-ethyl-2-bromobenzylamine), DSP-4, than are locus coeruleus neurones. Thus, in studies visualising noradrenergic neurones stained with antibodies to noradrenaline (antibodies raised against noradrenaline conjugated to a protein carrier), a marked decrease in staining intensity in areas such as the cerebral cortex and hippocampus was found in rats injected with DSP-4 (c.f. untreated controls) within 6 h post-injection. This depletion in staining intensity persisted for the two week period of

the investigation. However, DSP-4 treatment caused virtually no reduction in staining intensity in the hypothalamus at any time point in the investigation. In the same study, noradrenergic neurones were also visualised using antibodies to the membrane-bound marker protein of noradrenergic axons, dopamine- β -hypdroxylse (DBH). A decrease in DBH staining occurred four days after DSP-4 treatment (*c.f.* untreated controls) in areas which had experienced a loss of noradrenaline content only.

Heal *et al.* (1993) also reported a differential effect of DSP-4 on neurones innervating the hypothalamus and cortex. This study used twice the dose of DSP-4 (100 mg / kg) to that used by Fritschy *et al.* (1990) and found marked reductions in the tissue content of noradrenaline in both the cortex and hypothalamus 3 days after treatment (8 and 17% of saline treated controls, respectively). However, whereas the depletion in noradrenaline content persisted in the cortex at 15 days post-injection, a partial reversal of the effects of DSP-4 in the hypothalamus occurred at 15 days post-injection, with noradrenaline content being reduced to only 45% of saline controls. The authors suggest their findings indicate that neurones innervating the hypothalamus are only temporarily inactivated by DSP-4 and are able to functionally resist the toxic effects of DSP-4.

The aim of this investigation was to establish whether sibutramine affects the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline in the hypothalamus using *in vivo* microdialysis. Drug-induced changes in extracellular noradrenaline concentration were monitored in the region of the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus, based on evidence that changes in noradrenergic activity in this specific area of the hypothalamus show the greatest influence on food intake compared with other brain regions (Leibowitz, 1978). This region of the hypothalamus is densely innervated by lateral tegmental noradrenergic neurones but also receives some locus coeruleus innervation (see Chapter 1, section 1.1.2.). Since evidence suggests that there could be functional differences between noradrenergic neurones projecting to the hypothalamus and cortex, the effects of sibutramine on extracellular noradrenaline accumulation in the hypothalamus were compared with its effects in the frontal cortex. In view of evidence that anaesthesia could influence the activity of noradrenergic neurones (Chapter 3), these studies used conscious, freely-moving rats so that any interference of drug-induced changes in extracellular noradrenaline concentration by anaesthesia could be ruled out.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1. Experimental design

Experiments were carried out in conscious, freely-moving rats. For details on procedures, refer to Chapter 2, section 2.2.1. Drugs were administered by the i.p. route.

To establish the dose-response curve for sibutramine, a range of doses of this drug (0.25 - 10 mg / kg) were tested following the collection of four basal samples. This dose-range of sibutramine was used in the previous chapter and showed that, over this dose-range, sibutramine has dose-dependent effects on extracellular noradrenaline accumulation. *d*-Amphetamine was tested at 10 mg / kg because findings from the previous chapter show that this dose caused a greater and more rapid increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration than the equivalent dose of sibutramine in the frontal cortex of anaesthetised rats. Each rat was tested with only one dose of drug and samples were collected for a further 4 h.

4.2.2. Statistical analysis

Changes in the noradrenaline content of dialysis samples after drug injection were tested for statistical significance using ANOVA with repeated measures. Analysis was carried out with 'time' as the 'within-subject' factor. To compare the effects of sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine, 'drug treatment' was added as the 'between-subjects' factor.

4.3 Results

4.3.1. Effect of sibutramine or *d*-amphetamine on dialysate noradrenaline concentration from the frontal cortex.

The mean noradrenaline content of the basal samples was 23.1 ± 0.9 fmol / 20 min (pooled data from all experiments carried out in the frontal cortex; n = 26). There was no change in dialysate noradrenaline concentration in rats injected with saline vehicle (Figure 4.1).

4.3.1.1. Sibutramine.

There was a gradual and sustained increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration following administration of sibutramine at 0.25, 1 or 10 mg / kg (Figure 4.1).

The magnitude of the increase in noradrenaline induced by sibutramine was dose-dependent. A dose of 0.25 mg / kg sibutramine failed to increase dialysate noradrenaline concentrations significantly. However, sibutramine (1 or 10 mg / kg) induced a significant increase in noradrenaline concentration within 40 min post-injection (1 mg / kg: F = 4.83; d.f. 5,20; P < 0.01; 10 mg / kg: F = 9.01; d.f. 5,20; P < 0.01). The largest increase was induced by the largest dose (10 mg / kg: maximum of 462%, *c.f* mean basal concentration) and occurred at 140 min post-injection. The maximum increase after 1 mg / kg sibutramine was 289% and occurred at 80 min post-injection. Both 1 and 10 mg / kg sibutramine induced a sustained increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration, which was still maintained 4 h post-injection.



Figure 4.1: The effect of sibutramine (0.25, 1 or 10 mg / kg i.p.) on dialysate noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex.

Arrow represents drug administration. Data points expressed as mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (fmol / 20 min; n = 4-6).

4.3.1.2. d-Amphetamine.

d-Amphetamine (10 mg / kg) induced a rapid increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration which was significant within 20 min post-injection (F = 19.33; d.f. 4,16; P < 0.01) (Figure 4.2). A maximum increase of 1035% was found at 40 min post-injection. Following this, dialysate noradrenaline concentration declined towards basal concentration. The increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration induced by *d*-amphetamine was greater and more rapid than that induced by the same dose of sibutramine (main effect of drug: F = 8.93; d.f. 1,6; P = 0.02. Drug × time interaction; F = 13.76; d.f. 15,90; P < 0.01).



Figure 4.2: The effect of d-amphetamine (10 mg / kg i.p.) on dialysate noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex.

Arrow represents drug administration. Data points represent mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (fmol / 20 min; n = 5).

4.3.2. Effects of sibutramine or *d*-amphetamine on dialysate noradrenaline concentration from the hypothalamus.

The mean noradrenaline content of the basal samples was $15.4 \pm 0.7 \text{ fmol} / 20 \text{ min}$ (pooled data from all experiments carried out in the hypothalamus; n = 29). There was no change in dialysate noradrenaline concentration in rats injected with saline (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3: The effect of sibutramine (0.25, 1 or 10 mg / kg i.p.) on dialysate noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus.

Arrow represents drug administration. Data points represent mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (fmol / 20 min; n = 4-8).

4.3.2.1. Sibutramine.

Dialysate noradrenaline concentration increased following administration of sibutramine at 0.25, 1 or 10 mg / kg (Figure 4.3).

The magnitude of the increase in noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine was dose-dependent. A dose of 0.25 mg / kg failed to significantly increase noradrenaline concentration. Sibutramine (1 and 10 mg / kg) increased dialysate noradrenaline within 20 min post-injection (1 mg / kg: F = 15.76; d.f. 4,24; P < 0.01; 10 mg / kg: F = 11.62; d.f. 4,28; P < 0.01). The largest increase was induced by the largest dose (10 mg / kg: maximum of 525%, *c.f.* mean basal concentration) and occurred 40 min post-injection. The maximum increase after 1 mg / kg sibutramine was 216% and occurred at 60 min post-injection.



Figure 4.4: The effect of d-amphetamine (10 mg / kg i.p.) on dialysate noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus.

Arrow represents drug administration. Data points represent mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (fmol / 20 min; n = 5).

4.3.2.2. d-Amphetamine.

d-Amphetamine (10 mg / kg) induced a rapid increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration which was significant within 20 min post-injection (F = 9.12; d.f. 4,16; P < 0.01) (Figure 4.4). A maximum increase in noradrenaline concentration of 1058% occurred at 40 min post-injection. The increase was greater than that induced by the same dose of sibutramine (main effect of drug: F = 5.59; d.f. 1,9; P = 0.04).

4.4 Discussion

Since noradrenergic transmission in the hypothalamus, and in particular the paraventricular nucleus, has been implicated in the control of feeding behaviour (Leibowitz, 1978; Wellman, 1992), this study investigated the actions of sibutramine in the hypothalamus. Furthermore, because evidence suggests functional differences between the noradrenergic neurones innervating the hypothalamus and the cortex (Fritschy *et al.* 1990), the effects of sibutramine on extracellular noradrenaline accumulation in the hypothalamus were compared with its effects in the frontal cortex.

4.4.1. The effects of sibutramine or *d*-amphetamine on extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex.

Consistent with the previous chapter, the present results show that sibutramine increased extracellular noradrenaline in the frontal cortex, with maximum concentrations being reached after at least 1 h post-injection and persisted for the duration of the experiment. There were no differences in the basal concentration of noradrenaline between freely-moving and halothane-anaesthetised rats. However, in the previous chapter using anaesthetised rats, the relationship between dose of sibutramine and magnitude of response was described by a bell-shaped curve, with a maximum increase in noradrenaline of 278% at 0.5 mg / kg. In the present investigation, the magnitude of effect of sibutramine paralleled the dose, with a maximum increase of 462% at 10 mg / kg. Thus, halothane-anaesthesia appears to shift the dose-response curve for sibutramine to the left and decreases the maximum accumulation of extracellular noradrenaline attainable following doses of sibutramine greater than 0.5 mg / kg.

The reason for the halothane-induced shift in sibutramine's dose-response curve is unclear. At 0.5 mg / kg, sibutramine induced a similar maximal increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in halothane-anaesthetised (278%) to a dose of 1 mg / kg sibutramine in freely-moving rats (289%). This finding suggests that halothane-anaesthetised rats could have a higher release rate of noradrenaline in the frontal cortex compared with freely-moving rats, although this suggestion is not supported by the finding that basal noradrenaline concentration did not differ between anaesthetised and conscious, freely-moving rats in this study. Nevertheless, as described in Chapter 3, a direct comparison of basal noradrenaline concentration between anaesthetised and freely-moving rats is not entirely satisfactory considering sample collection took place at different times following surgery.

Evidence suggests locus coeruleus neuronal firing is decreased under halothane-anaesthesia. Saunier *et al.* (1993) recorded the activity of locus coeruleus neurones under 1% halothane-anaesthesia and 30 min following halothane withdrawal. They found that under halothane-anaesthesia locus coeruleus neurones exhibited a slow, regular and spontaneous discharge that increased by 87% after the halothane was discontinued. On re-administration of halothane, the firing activity decreased again. The decrease in locus coeruleus neuronal firing rate by halothane could explain the decrease in the magnitude of sibutramine's effects on extracellular noradrenaline concentration at high doses: a reduction in noradrenergic neuronal firing could lead to a reduction in noradrenaline release, which would make less noradrenaline available for accumulation in the extracellular fluid by sibutramine. A comparison of basal dialysate noradrenaline concentration at the same time following surgery in anaesthetised and freely-moving rats would test this proposal. If the reduction in locus coeruleus firing induced by halothane was found to decrease basal dialysate noradrenaline concentration, this would raise the question of how halothane-anaesthesia decreases noradrenergic neuronal firing?

As described in Chapter 3, evidence suggests that halothane interacts with α_2 -adrenoceptors, possibly causing an increase in their sensitivity to α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists (Saunier *et al.* 1993) report that the dose of clonidine required to inhibit locus coeruleus neuronal firing by 50% is decreased under halothane-anaesthesia, see section 3.4.2). It is possible that in both halothane-anaesthetised and freely-moving rats, sibutramine induces an increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the region of the cell bodies, as well as in the terminal fields, the magnitude of which parallels dose. However, like the effects of clonidine in the study of Saunier *et al.* (1993) the increase in extracellular noradrenaline could inhibit locus coeruleus firing, through activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors, to a greater extent in

halothane-anaesthetised rats than in freely-moving rats. In halothane-anaesthetised rats, the greater accumulation of extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the region of the cell bodies by doses of sibutramine greater than 0.5 mg / kg, could be sufficient to prevent the release of noradrenaline in the terminal fields. This would explain the reduced effects of high doses of sibutramine (> 0.5 mg / kg) on extracellular noradrenaline accumulation in the frontal cortex of halothane-anaesthetised rats.

According to the proposal above, the dose of sibutramine needed to induce an extracellular noradrenaline concentration sufficient to 'turn-off' locus coeruleus neuronal firing rate, through activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors, was greater in the present study using conscious, freely-moving rats, than in the previous study using halothane-anaesthetised rats. This proposal would predict that extracellular noradrenaline accumulation would begin to decrease in freely-moving rats at a particular dose of sibutramine greater than 10 mg / kg. However, Gundlah *et al.* (1997) found that the magnitude of sibutramine's effects on 5-HT paralleled dose up to a dose as high as 30 mg / kg in conscious, freely-moving rats. Further experiments investigating the effects of higher doses of sibutramine on extracellular noradrenaline accumulation in the frontal cortex of freely-moving rats would establish whether halothane shifts the dose-response curve to the left. Whatever the effect of halothane on normal central noradrenergic function, it is clear from this study that experiments conducted in halothane-anaesthetised rats can provide misleading information concerning the effects of drugs acting on noradrenergic neurones.

The sustained increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine in the frontal cortex of both anaesthetised and freely-moving rats is consistent with reports showing that systemic administration of the noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, desipramine (DMI), caused an increase in extracellular noradrenaline in the cerebral cortex of freely-moving rats (Dennis *et al.* 1987). However, the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by DMI reached a maximum (3-fold increase in basal noradrenaline concentration) 40 min after its administration. Following this, a stable, 2- to 2.5-fold increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration was maintained for at least 5 h. The comparison of the findings of Dennis *et al.* (1987) with

the findings of this study suggest that the gradual increase in extracellular noradrenaline induced by sibutramine, which reaches a maximum concentration 80-140 min post-injection, may not be explained by an action of sibutramine on noradrenergic neurones, only.

The simultaneous rise in extracellular 5-HT concentration induced by sibutramine could affect the concurrent increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration. Evidence suggests that locus coeruleus neurones are tonically inhibited by serotonergic neurones. Thus, M^cRae-Degueurce et al. (1985) reported that lesions of raphé nuclei (containing serotonergic cell bodies) or serotonergic terminals increased the activity of tyrosine hydroxylase (the rate-limiting enzyme involved in catecholamine synthesis) in the locus coeruleus. Furthermore, electrophysiological studies indicate that the firing rate of locus coeruleus neurones is enhanced in rats treated with the 5-HT synthesis inhibitor, p-chorophenylalanine (Reader et al. 1986). It is possible that the increase in extracellular 5-HT induced by sibutramine increases the inhibitory serotonergic input onto locus coeruleus neurones. This effect is thought to be mediated through 5-HT₂ receptors, since systemic injection of the 5-HT₂ receptor antagonists, ritanserin or 2-(2-dimethylamino-2methylpropylthio)-3-phenylquinolinehydrochloride (ICI 170,809) increases extracellular accumulation of noradrenaline in hippocampus of conscious, freely-moving rats (Done and Sharp, 1994). However, this suggestion is complicated by more recent findings that activation of postsynaptic 5-HT_{1A} receptors with 5-HT_{1A} agonists increases extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the hippocampus, as well as the hypothalamus (Suzuki et al. 1995; Hajós-Korcsok and Sharp, 1996). Although many studies suggest that the activity of central noradrenergic neurones are modulated by 5-HT, further studies are needed to establish whether the increase in extracellular 5-HT induced by a 5-HT and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, such as sibutramine, affects the rate and/or magnitude of the simultaneous increase in extracellular noradrenaline.

Also consistent with previous findings, d-amphetamine (10 mg / kg) increased extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex. This increase was greater and more rapid than that induced by the equivalent dose of sibutramine, supporting the hypothesis that d-amphetamine and sibutramine have noradrenaline-releasing and noradrenaline-reuptake inhibiting properties, respectively. Although the latency to peak noradrenaline concentration following d-amphetamine was the same in both anaesthetised and conscious, freely-moving rats (40 min), the maximum noradrenaline concentration reached was greater in the latter (912% c.f. 549% above basal concentration). This finding tentatively supports the idea that impulse-dependent noradrenaline release contributes to the increase in extracellular noradrenaline induced by d-amphetamine (see Chapter 3, section 3.4). If central α_2 -adrenoceptors are more sensitive to increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the presence of halothane-anaesthesia, noradrenaline released through impulse-independent mechanisms could decrease the impulse-dependent component of d-amphetamine's effects to a greater extent than in freely-moving rats. Although studies show that locus coeruleus firing is almost completely inhibited in the presence of d-amphetamine at doses of 1-10 mg/kg. (Graham and Aghajanian, 1971; Ryan et al. 1985; Holdefer & Jensen 1987, see Chapter 3, section 3.4.) all these electrophysiological studies were carried out in anaesthetised rats. Thus, it cannot be ruled out that d-amphetamine's effects on locus coeruleus neuronal firing in anaesthetised rats are different to its effects in conscious, freely-moving rats.

4.4.2. The effects of sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine on extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus.

In the hypothalamus of freely-moving rats, sibutramine increased extracellular noradrenaline in the hypothalamus at 1 and 10 mg / kg, the magnitude of which paralleled dose. However, unlike its action in the cortex, sibutramine induced a more rapid increase in extracellular noradrenaline in the hypothalamus, with a maximum effect occurring 40 min post-injection after a dose of 10 mg / kg. Following this, dialysate noradrenaline concentration gradually declined.

Functional differences between noradrenergic neurones terminating in these two brain areas have been reported before (Fritschy *et al.* 1990; Heal *et al.* 1993: see section 4.1). One possible explanation for the more rapid accumulation of extracellular noradrenaline in the hypothalamus, compared with in the cortex, could be a difference in the pharmacological properties of the noradrenaline transporter site in these two brain areas. Previous studies show that the selective noradrenergic neurotoxin, DSP-4, causes a substantial loss of noradrenergic neurones in the cortex, but leaves hypothalamic noradrenergic neurones largely intact (Fritschy *et al.* 1990; Zaczek *et al.* 1990). The neurotoxic effects of DSP-4 are thought to depend on the uptake of the drug by the noradrenaline reuptake transporter complex on noradrenergic terminals, as the effects of DSP-4 are completely counteracted by co-administration of the noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, desipramine (Jonsson *et al.* 1981). Studies have found that DSP-4 has a higher affinity for the noradrenaline transporter site in the cortex compared with the hypothalamus (Zaczek *et al.* 1990). This could explain why neurones in the cortex are more susceptible to the neurotoxic effects of DSP-4 than are neurones in the hypothalamus. Furthermore, Zaczek *et al.* (1990) found that noradrenaline itself, as well as the highly selective noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, nisoxetine, displayed higher affinities for the noradrenaline transporter site in the cortex than in the hypothalamus.

Alternatively, the differential effects of DSP-4 could be due to fewer noradrenaline transporter sites per noradrenergic neurone in the hypothalamus compared with cortical regions. Limited transportation of DSP-4 into hypothalamic neurones could lead to insufficient DSP-4 accumulation within the neurone to cause long-term damage. Differences in the pharmacology and/or the number of noradrenaline transporter sites in these two brain regions could account for the differences in the rate of accumulation of extracellular noradrenaline in the cortex and hypothalamus following sibutramine administration.

The suggestions above provide possible explanations as to why the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration appears to be more rapid in the hypothalamus compared with the frontal cortex. However, these suggestions do not account for the decline in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus 40 min post-injection of sibutramine. An explanation for this could lie in a difference in the function of terminals α_2 -adrenoceptors in the cortex and hypothalamus and/or a difference in the function of somatodendritic α_2 -adrenoceptors located on the cell bodies of lateral tegmental noradrenergic and locus coeruleus noradrenergic neurones.

The hypothalamus has a greater proportion of terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors than the cortex (Heal *et al.* 1993; see Chapter 5, section 5.4.4.); this could imply that noradrenergic neurones in the hypothalamus are subject to greater feedback-inhibition of release by these α_2 -adrenoceptors, than are neurones in the cortex. Nevertheless, a greater level of control over noradrenaline release in the hypothalamus would be expected to restrict the accumulation of extracellular noradrenaline to a particular magnitude: it is difficult to visualise how this would explain the *decline* in extracellular noradrenaline concentration 40 min following sibutramine administration.

Electrophysiological studies in anaesthetised rats show that the firing rate of locus coeruleus, as well as lateral tegmental neurones, is inhibited by activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors (see Chapter 1, section 1.4.3.). However, whereas the α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating these effects on locus coeruleus appear to be located on the cell bodies (Svensson et al. 1975), evidence suggests that the α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating these effects on A1 noradrenergic neurones are not. Kaba et al. (1986) showed that systemic administration of clonidine dose-dependently inhibited the firing rate of cells in the A1 noradrenergic region that were antidromically stimulated from the medial forebrain bundle. However, whereas microiontophoretic application of noradrenaline inhibited the firing of neurones in the A1 noradrenergic region, microiontophoretic application of clonidine did not. This finding contrasted with similar experiments carried out in the locus coeruleus (Svensson et al. 1975) and suggested that systemic administration of clonidine did not act directly on these neurones to inhibit their firing. The lack of effect of microiontophorectically applied clonidine on A1 noradrenergic neuronal firing may be attributed to an effect of the anaesthesia. However, the finding of Kaba et al. (1986) are consistent with studies showing that the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors labelled with the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist, [³H]p-amino-clonidine, was greater in the region of the locus coeruleus compared with the region of A1 noradrenergic neurones (Young and Kuhar, 1980).

Support for the suggestion above came from further experiments in the study of Kaba *et al.* (1986) showing that microiontophoretic application of the α_2 -adrenoceptor

antagonists, phentolamine and piperoxane did not block the inhibitory effect of noradrenaline. Instead, the inhibitory effect of noradrenaline on A1 noradrenergic neuronal firing was inhibited by microiontophoretic application of the β -adrenoceptor antagonist, timolol. This suggested that the firing rate of these neurones could be regulated by β -adrenoceptors in the region of their cell bodies, as well as α_2 -adrenoceptors in a location outside of this region.

This proposal could go some way to explaining the decline in extracellular noradrenaline accumulation in the hypothalamus 40 min following sibutramine administration. It is possible that the sibutramine-induced increase in extracellular noradrenaline in the region of noradrenergic neuronal cell bodies affects the firing rate of A1 neurones to a greater extent than neurones of the locus coeruleus. The initial increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine could activate β -adrenoceptors in the region of the cell bodies of A1 noradrenergic neurones and directly inhibit their firing to a certain extent. Then, as the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline increases, α_2 -adrenoceptors outside of the region of the cell bodies are activated and inhibit (indirectly) the firing activity of A1 noradrenergic neurones further. This greater inhibition of neuronal firing of A1 noradrenergic neurones would withdraw at least a part of the noradrenergic input into the paraventricular nucleus, as well as the surrounding areas: this could account for the decline in extracellular noradrenaline accumulation in this region 40 min following sibutramine administration.

Nevertheless, a proposal such as the one described above is still not satisfactory for explaining the *persistence* of the decline in extracellular noradrenaline accumulation in the hypothalamus 40 min following sibutramine administration. If the firing rate of noradrenergic neurones innervating the hypothalamus is inhibited by the increase in extracellular noradrenaline induced by sibutramine, why do they not recover when the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline is reduced (*e.g.* 60 min post-injection of sibutramine, see Figure 4.3.) and subsequently allow further release of noradrenaline? (*i.e.* why is there no oscillation of extracellular noradrenergic neurones innervating the noradrenergic neurones innervating the hypothalamus?). The possibility that the reuptake inhibiting properties of sibutramine's metabolites have worn off is highly unlikely since studies in the frontal cortex show that

sibutramine promotes extracellular noradrenaline accumulation in this area for up to 4 h. However, it is possible that noradrenaline release is oscillating in the hypothalamus but that this effect is not detectable using *in vivo* microdiaysis. A major limitation of this technique is the low time resolution of events. This is due to the collection of samples at 20 min intervals in order to obtain a sufficient concentration of noradrenaline for detection by HPLC-ECD.

Perhaps noradrenergic neurones innervating the hypothalamus take a long time to recover following an increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration and the subsequent inhibition of firing. Electrophysiological studies investigating the effects of sibutramine and its metabolites on noradrenergic neuronal firing of lateral tegmental as well as locus coeruleus neurones would shed light on this matter. In addition, electrophysiological studies comparing the effects of sibutramine's metabolites with a selective noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, such as nisoxetine, on the firing activity of lateral tegmental and locus coeruleus neurones would be useful. Such studies would indicate if / how the simultaneous rise in extracellular 5-HT induced by sibutramine effects the magnitude and /or time-courses of the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the cortex and hypothalamus. Ideally, these experiments would be carried out in conscious, freely-moving rats.

The time-courses for the increase in extracellular noradrenaline induced by 1 and 10 mg / kg sibutramine are comparable with ED_{50} values for the inhibition of food-intake following a single dose of this drug (ED_{50} values: 0.6, 2.0 & 3.7 mg / kg i.p. at 1, 2 and 4 h post-injection, respectively, 'in house' data, Knoll Pharmaceuticals). These findings are both in agreement and at variance with existing literature. Firstly, they are consistent with *in vitro* evidence that the active metabolites of this drug are potent inhibitors of noradrenaline uptake (Cheetham *et al.* 1996). Nevertheless, the finding that sibutramine increases noradrenaline in the region of the paraventricular nucleus is at variance with a long-standing proposal that enhancing noradrenergic activity in this hypothalamic region increases feeding behaviour (Matthews *et al.* 1978; Leibowitz, 1978). The increase in feeding behaviour induced by injection of noradrenaline into the paraventricular nucleus is mediated by noradrenergic activation of postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors (Goldman *et al.*

1985). This raises the question of why does exogenous noradrenaline injected into the paraventricular nucleus mediate an increase in feeding behaviour whilst sibutramine induced an increase in extracellular noradrenaline in this region but causes a decrease in food intake? Other studies show that injection of α_1 -adrenoceptor agonists into the PVN reliably and dose-dependently suppresses feeding behaviour in rats (Wellman, 1992). Therefore, it is possible that the anti-obesity effects induced by sibutramine involve noradrenergic activation of α_1 -adrenoceptors in the PVN. Indeed, Jackson *et al.* (1997a) found the hypophagic response to systemic sibutramine in rats is fully reversed by coadministration of the α_1 -adrenoceptor antagonist, prazosin, but is unaltered by coadministration of the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, RX821002.

One limitation of experiments involving the local administration of exogenous noradrenaline or clonidine is that the injected drug is likely to reach receptor sites in addition to those at noradrenergic synapses. These extrasynaptic sites could contain α_2 -heteroreceptors on the membranes of other neurones and their activation by noradrenaline or clonidine could modulate their activity. For example, local administration of noradrenaline or clonidine could activate α_2 -heteroreceptors on the terminals of serotonergic neurones and decrease 5-HT release (Saito *et al.* 1996). Given the inhibitory role of 5-HT on food intake, it is possible that such an inhibition of 5-HT release could account for the increase in food intake following local administration of noradrenaline or clonidine into the paraventricular nucleus.

The purpose of experiments involving the injection of substances into discrete areas of the brain is to investigate the function of a specific neurotransmitter or it's various receptors in that area. A further limitation of experiments such as these is that the findings cannot be extrapolated to the whole animal unless similar findings are found following systemic administration of the substance. Systemic administration of low doses of clonidine does increase food intake in rats (Sanger, 1983) which supports the findings of studies involving the injection of clonidine into the paraventricular nucleus. Furthermore, systemic administration of the α_1 -adrenoceptor agonist, cirazoline, in rats dose-dependently suppresses food intake (Davies and Wellman, 1992) which supports the findings of studies involving the injection of α_1 -adrenoceptor agonists into the paraventricular nucleus. Nevertheless, the selective noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, nisoxetine, which presumably increases the concentration of noradrenaline in noradrenergic synapses of the paraventricular nucleus, does not affect food intake in rats (Jackson *et al.* 1997b). Perhaps the simultaneous activation of both α_1 - and α_2 -adrenoceptors by the increase in synaptic noradrenaline concentration cancels out any effect on food intake.

Of further note is that the increase in food intake induced by intrahypothalamic injection of clonidine in satiated rats is only small compared with the increase in food intake induced by other substances that have more recently been found to increase food intake, such as neuropeptide Y (NPY). For example, satiated rats injected with clonidine (20 nmol) into the paraventricular nucleus eat approximately 6 g of food over the following 2 h, whereas satiated control rats eat approximately 0.5 g of food (Goldman et al. 1985). Although this is a marked increase in food intake, it is relatively small compared to the 12.5 g of food eaten by satiated rats only 1 h following injection with NPY (78 pmol) into the perifornical hypothalamus at the level of the caudal paraventricular nucleus (Stanley et al. 1993). Furthermore, unlike α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonists, recent studies showed that i.c.v. administration of the NYP receptor antagonist, 1229U91 (a nonapeptide dimer) alone, inhibited spontaneous food intake in rats (Ishihara et al. 1998). However, the subtype of NPY receptor involved in the effects of 1229U91 on food intake in this study was not clear. The less potent action of clonidine on food intake compared with NPY supports the findings of the present study, which suggest that postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus are unlikely to be involved in the physiological control of food intake. Furthermore, the decrease in food intake induced by sibutramine is not affected by RX821002, suggesting that these receptors are not involved in the this drug's anti-obesity actions (see section 4.4.3. below).

d-Amphetamine (10 mg / kg) increased extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus and, as with sibutramine, this finding is inconsistent with reports that increasing noradrenergic activity in this region increases feeding behaviour. d-Amphetamine also increased the extracellular concentration of dopamine in the striatum and nucleus accumbens and this has been correlated with an increase in stereotypical behaviour and locomotor activity in rats (Sharp *et al.* 1987). Studies show that it is probably these stimulant effects of *d*-amphetamine that cause its anti-obesity effects (Halford *et al.* 1995: see Chapter 3, section 3.1.). Although central noradrenergic activity has shown to be important for *d*-amphetamine's anti-obesity effects (Samanin *et al.* 1977: see Chapter 1, section 1.3.2.) it is possible that the increased noradrenergic activity is involved in the behavioural arousal, which leads to the decrease in food-intake, rather than being directly involved in this effect (see Chapter 3, section 3.1.).

4.4.3. The role of noradrenaline in mediating sibutramine's anti-obesity effects.

The time-courses for the increases in extracellular noradrenaline and 5-HT induced by sibutramine in the hypothalamus are consistent with findings from feeding studies investigating the involvement of noradrenergic and serotonergic receptors in mediating this drug's effects. Jackson et al. (1997a) found that the hypophagic effect of sibutramine in rats was completely antagonised by systemic administration of the α_1 -adrenoceptor agonist, prazosin, at 2, 4, and 8 h post-sibutramine administration. Blockade of β_1 -adrenoceptors with metoprolol induced a partial reversal at 2, 4 and 8 h post-sibutramine administration. Blockade of $5-HT_{2A/2C}$ or $5-HT_{2B/2C}$ receptors with ritanserin or N-(1[2,3-dihydro-(7-methyl-1H-inden-4-yl)oxy]-3[(1-methylethyl) amino]-2-butanol hydrochloride (SB200646) respectively, or with the non-selective 5-HT receptor antagonist, metergoline, also partially reversed the hypophagic effects of the sibutramine. However, this partial reversal was not observed until 8 h post-sibutramine administration. Grignaschi et al. (1999) also found no effect of systemic administration of metergoline, or ritanserin on the hypophagic effects of sibutramine in rats in the 2 h period following sibutramine administration. The 5-HT_{1B/1D} receptor antagonist, N-[4methoxy-3-(4-methyl-1-piperazinyl]phenyl]-2'methyl-4'(5-methyl-1,2,4-oxadiazol-3yl)[1,1-biphenyl]4-carboxamide hydrochloride (GR127935) was also without effect.

However these authors did report a small reduction in sibutamine's effects when combined with the 5-HT_{2B/2C} receptor antagonist, 5-methyl-1-(3-pyridylcarbamoyl)-

1,2,3,5-tetrahydopyrrolo [2,3-f]indole) (SB206553).

The findings of both Jackson et al. (1997a) and Grignashi et al. (1999) led the authors to suggest that noradrenaline plays a prominent role in sibutramine-induced hypophagia in the first few hours following drug administration. Again, this questions the physiological role of hypothalamic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the control of food intake. Jackson et al. (1997a) suggested that, considering the hypophagic effects of sibutramine are completely reversed by prazosin, the α_1 -adrenoceptors involved in this effect are located down-stream of the 5-HT and β_1 -adrenoceptors which appear to only partially mediate sibutramine's hypophagic effects. Thus, the increase in extracellular noradrenaline could activate β -adrenoceptors in the lateral hypothalamus to inhibit food intake (see Chapter 1, section 1.2.1.) whilst the increase in extracellular 5-HT activates 5-HT receptors in the medial hypothalamus to decrease food intake (see Chapter 1, section 1.2.2.). It is possible that both these systems send signals to a common downstream pathway to inhibit food intake and that the receptor in this pathway that receives the signals from the β -adrenergic and serotonergic systems is the α_1 adrenoceptor. Whether this suggestion can be supported with further evidence remains to be elucidated.

Although the increase in extracellular noradrenaline induced by sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine in the region of the paraventricular nucleus is difficult to reconcile with evidence that injection of noradrenaline into this area stimulates food intake, this effect is consistent with a role for hypothalamic noradrenaline in the regulation of BAT thermogenesis. Sahakian *et al.* (1983) showed that depletion of hypothalamic noradrenaline induced a reduction in brown adipose tissue activity in rats (see section 4.1.). Thus, it could be possible that the sibutramine- or *d*-amphetamine-induced increase in noradrenergic transmission in the hypothalamus enhances BAT thermogenesis. This suggestion is consistent with the increase in BAT thermogenesis induced by sibutramine and amphetamine (Stock, 1997; Wellman, 1983, respectively).

4.4.4. Conclusion.

Sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine increased the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline in the frontal cortex of conscious, freely-moving rats. The time-courses of the increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentration are consistent with the noradrenaline-reuptake inhibiting and noradrenaline-releasing properties of sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine, respectively. However, this study revealed both quantitative and qualitative differences in the effects of sibutramine on cortical extracellular noradrenaline accumulation in freely-moving rats compared with halothane-anaesthetised rats. This highlights how the effects of anaesthesia should be borne in mind when investigating the pharmacology of centrally acting agents. Sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine also increased the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline in the hypothalamus of conscious, freely-moving rats. However, the increase in extracellular noradrenaline induced by sibutramine in the hypothalamus is more rapid and shorter-lived than in the cortex. The reason why the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus declines 40 min following sibutramine administration is unclear. However, the difference responses to sibutramine in the cortex and hypothalamus could be due to functional differences between the noradrenergic neurones innervating these brain regions.

Chapter 5

Effect of α_2 -adrenoceptor blockade on sibutramine-induced increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus of conscious, freely-moving rats.

5.1 Introduction

Chapter 3 described how blockade of α_2 -adrenoceptors enhanced the sibutramine-induced increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex of anaesthetised rats. This strongly suggests that activation of somatodendritic and / or terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors, by the increased extracellular noradrenaline concentration, decreases locus coeruleus neuronal firing and / or exocytotic noradrenaline release, respectively (see Chapter 1, section 1.4.3.). Sibutramine also increased the extracellular concentration of noradrenaline in the hypothalamus (Chapter 4). A question arising is whether noradrenergic neurones innervating the hypothalamus are subject to the same α_2 -adrenoceptor-mediated inhibition of neuronal activity, after the administration of sibutramine, as are noradrenergic neurones innervating the cortex.

There have been fewer studies of the effects of drugs on extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus *in vivo* compared with areas innervated

exclusively by locus coeruleus neurones. However, there is evidence to suggest that extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus is affected by α_2 -adrenoceptor activation or blockade. *In vivo* microdialysis studies showed that extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the medial hypothalamus of anaesthetised rats is decreased to approximately 20% of basal values by systemic clonidine administration (Itoh *et al.* 1990). In contrast, systemic administration of the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonists, yohimbine or atipamezole, increaseed extracellular noradrenaline accumulation by 64% and 125% above basal values, respectively, in the medial hypothalamus of anaesthetised rats (Itoh *et al.* 1990; Laitinen *et al.* 1995). Similarly, systemic administration of the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, idazoxan, increases extracellular noradrenaline accumulation by 229% above basal values in the posterior hypothalamus of anaesthetised rats (Routledge and Marsden, 1987). These findings suggest that somatodendritic and / or terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors are capable of modulating neuronal firing and exocytotic noradrenaline release in the hypothalamus of anaesthetised rats.

Few studies have investigated the effects of local administration of the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonists on extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus. One study showed a trend for extracellular noradrenaline concentration to increase during local perfusion of the selective α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, atipamezole, through a microdialysis probe implanted in the medial hypothalamus (Laitinen *et al.* 1995). However, the authors reported that, in chloral hydrate anaesthetised rats, the increase in extracellular noradrenaline induced by atipamezole was not significant compared with basal values, because of considerable individual differences in the rats' response.

All the studies described above have been carried out in anaesthetised rats. Therefore, it cannot be assumed that these findings generalise to conscious, freely-moving rats. Furthermore, although α_2 -adrenoceptors have been found to regulate extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the cortex of conscious, freely-moving rats, it cannot be assumed that these findings generalise to the hypothalamus since, unlike the cortex, this area is innervated by both noradrenergic systems.

Since there have been no previous microdialysis studies comparing the function of α_2 -adrenoceptors in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus, the principle aim of this study was to investigate the effect of α_2 -adrenoceptor blockade on noradrenergic neuronal activity in these two brain areas. This involved comparing the effects of α_2 -adrenoceptor blockade on basal, as well as sibutramine-induced increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus. Two approaches were taken in this investigation. Firstly, the effects of <u>systemic</u> administration of an α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist on basal and sibutramine-induced increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentration were compared in rat frontal cortex and hypothalamus. Secondly, to investigate the function of terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors alone, the effects of <u>local</u> administration of an α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist into the frontal cortex or hypothalamus on basal and sibutramine-induced increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentration of an α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist into the frontal cortex or hypothalamus secondly, to investigate the function of terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors alone, the effects of <u>local</u> administration of an α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist into the frontal cortex or hypothalamus on basal and sibutramine-induced increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentration were compared. The study was carried out in conscious, freely-moving rats so that any effect of anaesthesia on central noradrenergic activity could be ruled out.

The α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonists chosen for this study were the highly selective antagonists, RX821002 (see Chapter 3, section 3.1.) and atipamezole. Atipamezole is an imidazole derivative and is reported to have an α_2 / α_1 -adrenoceptor selectivity ratio of 8526 in rat brain membranes (Virtanen *et al.* 1989). A further reason for the choice of atipamezole is that this α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist binds to all α_2 -adrenoceptor subtypes, even at low doses (Haapalinna *et al.* 1997).

5.2 Methods

5.2.1. Experimental design

Experiments were carried out in conscious, freely-moving rats. For details on procedures, refer to Chapter 2, section 2.2.1. Pretreatment of rats with an α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist or saline was carried out using i.p. administration. Local administration of RX821002 into the cortex or hypothalamus was carried out using reverse dialysis. In both experiments sibutramine was administered using the i.p. route.

In the first series of experiments, rats were divided into 3 groups. After the collection of 4 basal samples, one group of rats received 3 mg / kg of the selective α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, RX821002, and 2 h later received sibutramine (10 mg / kg) or saline. RX821002 was administered at 3 mg / kg based on findings from Chapter 1 showing that this drug effectively blocks presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors at this dose. A second group of rats received 1 mg / kg of the selective α_2 -antagonist, atipamezole, following the collection of 4 samples and 2 h later received sibutramine (10 mg / kg). Atipamezole was administered at 1 mg / kg because this induced an increase in basal dialysate noradrenaline concentration that was comparable with that caused by 3 mg / kg RX821002. A third group of rats received saline following collection of 4 basal samples and 2 h later received sibutramine (10 mg / kg). In all groups of rats, samples were collected for 3 h following the second injection. A time period of 2 h was left between each injection to allow a clear discrimination of the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration.

A second series of experiments examined the effects of local administration of RX821002 into the frontal cortex or hypothalamus on the increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by 10 mg / kg sibutramine. Following the collection of 4 basal samples, rats were injected with either sibutramine (10 mg / kg) or saline and, 80 min later, RX821002 was administered *via* the dialysis probe at a concentration of 1 μ M. A time period of 80 min was left between the injection of sibutramine and the administration of RX821002 to allow a clear discrimination of the initial increase in

extracellular noradrenaline induced by sibutramine and the enhanced increase induced by α_2 -adrenoceptor blockade.

5.2.2. Statistical analysis

Changes in the noradrenaline content of dialysis samples after drug injection were tested for statistical significance using ANOVA with repeated measures. Analysis was carried out with 'time' as the within-subject factor. To compare the effects of α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist-pretreatment with saline-pretreatment or the effects of local administration of RX821002 with drug-free aCSF, 'drug treatment' was added as the 'between-subjects' factor. To assess RX821002-induced changes in the latency to reach peak dialysate noradrenaline concentration, the mean latency to reach the peak drug effect for individual rats was determined and one-way ANOVA used to compare the effects of different treatment groups.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Effects of systemic administration of RX821002 or atipamezole on sibutramine-induced increases in dialysate noradrenaline concentration.

5.3.1.1. Frontal cortex.

The mean noradrenaline content of the basal samples from the frontal cortex was 30.1 ± 8.55 fmol / 20 min (pooled data from all experiments in this section; n = 19). RX812002 (3 mg / kg) induced an approximately 1.7-fold increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration (Figure 5.1). The increase in noradrenaline concentration was greater than that induced by saline injection (effect of treatment: F = 25.3; d.f. 1,8; P < 0.01).

At 120 min following the injection of RX821002, when dialysate noradrenaline concentration had become stable again, an i.p. injection of saline had no further effect on dialysate noradrenaline concentration (Figure 5.1.). However, an i.p. injection of sibutramine at this point (10 mg / kg), caused a rapid increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration. The increase was statistically significant at 20 min (F = 9.78; d.f. 3,15; P = 0.01) and reached a maximum of 1014% (c.f. mean basal concentration) within 40 min. Following this, dialysate noradrenaline concentration decreased to a plateau representing an approximately 4.5-fold increase in noradrenaline (c.f. mean basal concentration). In contrast, when sibutramine (10 mg/kg) was administered 120 min after an i.p. injection of saline, there was a gradual increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration and the maximum (320%) was not reached until 120 min post-injection (Figure 5.1.). At all times following the injection of sibutramine, dialysate noradrenaline concentrations in RX821002-pretreated rats were significantly greater than in saline-pretreated rats (last hour: F = 7.95; d.f. 1,7; P = 0.03). Furthermore, the latency to reach maximum noradrenaline concentration was less in rats pretreated with RX821002 than with saline (F = 10.67; d.f. 1, 6; P = 0.02).



Figure 5.1: The effect of sibutramine (10 mg / kg i.p.) on the concentration of noradrenaline in dialysate samples from the cortex of rats pretreated with either RX821002 (3 mg / kg i.p.) or atipamezole (1 mg / kg i.p.).

Arrow 1 represents systemic administration of RX821002, atipamezole or saline. Arrow 2 represents systemic administration of sibutramine or saline. Data points represent mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (fmol / 20 min; n = 4-6).

Atipamezole (1 mg / kg) induced an increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration that was similar in magnitude and time-course to that seen with RX821002 (3 mg / kg) (Figure 5.1.). An injection of sibutramine (10 mg / kg), 2 h after atipamezole, also induced a increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration similar to that seen in rats pretreated with 3 mg / kg RX821002 (effect of pretreatment: F = 0.27; d.f. 1,4; P = 0.63) (Figure 5.1.).

5.3.1.2. Hypothalamus

The mean noradrenaline content of the basal samples from the hypothalamus was 18.9 ± 0.9 fmol / 20 min (pooled data from all experiments in this section; n = 21). RX821002 (3 mg / kg) induced an approximately 2-fold increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration (Figure 5.2.). This increase in noradrenaline was greater than the increase induced by saline injection (F = 25.45; d.f. 1,8; P < 0.01).

At 120 min following the injection of RX821002, when dialysate noradrenaline concentration had become stable again, an i.p. injection of saline did not significantly affect dialysate noradrenaline concentration (Figure 5.2.). In contrast, an i.p. injection of sibutramine at this point caused a rapid increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration, which reached a maximum of 995% (*c.f.* mean basal concentration) at 20 min (F = 44.67; d.f. 3,6; P < 0.01). Following this, dialysate noradrenaline concentration declined steadily to an approximately 3-fold increase in noradrenaline (*c.f.* mean basal concentration), 80 min later. Sibutramine (10 mg / kg) administered 120 min after an i.p. injection of saline, induced a maximum increase in noradrenaline concentration of approximately 300% at 40 min post-injection (F = 11.79; d.f. 4,20; P < 0.01). Although this was a smaller initial increase in noradrenaline compared with that induced by sibutramine in RX821002-pretreated rats (F = 114.10; d.f. 1,7; P < 0.01), there was no difference in noradrenaline concentration between the two treatment groups 2 h after sibutramine injection. There was also no difference in the latency to reach maximum noradrenaline concentration in rats pretreated with RX821002 or saline.

Atipamezole (1 mg / kg) induced an approximately 3-fold increase in dialysate noradrenaline concentration (Figure 5.2.). An injection of sibutramine 2 h after atipamezole induced an increase in dialysate noradrenaline similar to that observed in rats pretreated with 3 mg / kg RX821002 (F = 0.34; d.f. 1,5; P = 0.59) (Figure 5.2.).



Figure 5.2: The effect of sibutramine (10 mg / kg i.p.) on the concentration of noradrenaline in dialysate samples from the hypothalamus of rats pretreated with either RX821002 (3 mg / kg i.p.) or atipamezole (1 mg / kg i.p.).

Arrow 1 represents systemic administration of RX821002, atipamezole or saline. Arrow 2 represents systemic administration of sibutramine or saline. Data points represent mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (fmol / 20 min; n = 5-6).

5.3.2. Effects of local administration of RX821002 on sibutramine-induced increases in dialysate noradrenaline concentration.

5.3.2.1. Frontal cortex.

The mean noradrenaline content of the basal samples from the frontal cortex was 22.7 ± 0.8 fmol / 20 min (pooled data from all experiments in this section: n = 22).

Administration of RX821002 (1 μ M) *via* the probe, 80 min after saline injection (2 ml/ kg), increased basal noradrenaline concentration by approximately 2-fold compared with that of rats infused with drug-free aCSF (F = 22.23; d.f. 1,9; P < 0.01) (Figure 5.3.). RX821002 administered 80 min after sibutramine (10 mg/kg), also increased dialysate noradrenaline concentration compared with rats infused with drug-free aCSF (F = 6.87; d.f. 1,7; P = 0.03) (Figure 5.3.). Within 80 min of the start of RX821002 infusion, the increase in noradrenaline concentration caused by sibutramine was approximately 1.5-fold greater than the dialysate noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine alone.

5.3.2.2. Hypothalamus.

The mean noradrenaline content of the basal samples from the hypothalamus was 12.3 ± 0.6 fmol / 20 min (pooled data from all experiments in this section: n = 23).

Administration of RX821002 (1 μ M) *via* the probe 80 min after saline (2 ml / kg), increased basal noradrenaline concentration by approximately 2-fold compared with samples from rats infused with drug-free aCSF (*F* = 10.11; d.f.1,5; *P* = 0.03) (Figure 5.4.). RX821002 administered *via* the probe 80 min after sibutramine (10 mg / kg), also increased dialysate noradrenaline concentration compared with rats infused with drug-free aCSF (*F* = 6.90; d.f 1,6; *P* = 0.04) (Figure 5.4.). Within 80 min of the start of the RX821002 infusion, and for the rest of the experiment, the increase in noradrenaline concentration caused by sibutramine was approximately 3-fold greater than the increase induced by sibutramine alone.



Figure 5.3: The effect of local administration of RX821002 (1 μ M) on basal and sibutramine-induced (10 mg / kg i.p.) increases in dialysate noradrenaline concentration from the frontal cortex.

Arrow represents systemic administration of sibutramine or saline. Bar indicates the period of RX821002 perfusion *via* the dialysis probe. Data points represent mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (fmol / 20 min; n = 5-6).



Figure 5.4: The effect of local administration of RX821002 (1 μ M) on basal and sibutramine-induced (10 mg / kg i.p.) increases in dialysate noradrenaline concentration from the hypothalamus.

Arrow represents systemic administration of sibutramine or saline. Bar indicates the period of RX821002 perfusion *via* the dialysis probe. Data points represent mean \pm s.e. mean dialysate noradrenaline concentration (fmol / 20 min; n = 5-6).

5.4. Discussion

In order to investigate the contribution of α_2 -adrenoceptors to the control of noradrenaline release in the hypothalamus, this study investigated the effects of α_2 -adrenoceptor blockade on noradrenergic function in this brain area. Since studies indicate that cortical regions and hypothalamus differ with respect to their terminal α_2 -adrenoceptor density (Heal *et al.* 1993), this study also compared the effects of α_2 -adrenoceptor blockade on noradrenergic function in the hypothalamus with the frontal cortex.

5.4.1. Effect of systemic or local perfusion of RX821002 on basal extracellular noradrenaline concentration.

Systemic administration of RX821002 increased resting concentrations of extracellular noradrenaline in the cortex by approximately 2-fold. Similarly, local administration of RX821002 into the cortex approximately doubled basal noradrenaline concentrations. These findings support the suggestion put forward in Chapter 3 (section 3.4.) that halothane-anaesthesia affects central α_2 -adrenoceptor function and accounts for the lack of effect of systemic RX821002 administration on basal extracellular noradrenaline in rats under this anaesthetic.

The results of the present study in the frontal cortex of freely-moving rats are consistent with Gobert *et al.* (1997). These authors report an increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration of 180% above basal values in the frontal cortex of freely-moving rats following systemic administration of atipamezole (0.16 mg / kg s.c.). Dennis *et al.* (1987) report a 200% increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the cerebral cortex following systemic administration of the less selective α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, idazoxan into freely-moving rats using reverse dialysis and found a 30% increase in extracellular noradrenaline cortex. This finding supports electrophysiological evidence that activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors on the cell bodies of locus coeruleus neurones regulates the neuronal firing rate (see
Chapter 1, section 1.4.3.) and suggests that this contributes to the control of noradrenaline release in the terminal fields.

Similarly, Dennis *et al.* (1987) reported an approximately 2-fold increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the cerebral cortex of freely-moving rats following infusion of a relatively high concentration of idazoxan (10⁻⁴ M). Dalley and Stanford (1995) infused 0.5 μ M atipamezole into the frontal cortex of anaesthetised rats using reverse dialysis and found an increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex of approximately 100% above basal concentration. The findings of the present study, using a highly selective α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist in conscious, freely-moving rats, support the proposal that terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors also contribute to the regulation of extracellular noradrenaline release under resting conditions.

As in the frontal cortex, systemic administration of RX821002 (3 mg / kg) increased resting concentrations of extracellular noradrenaline in the hypothalamus approximately 2-fold. This finding strongly suggests that α_2 -adrenoceptors also regulate basal extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus of conscious, freely-moving rats. Electrophysiological evidence from anaesthetised rats shows that activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors inhibits the firing rate of both locus coeruleus and lateral tegmental (see Chapter 1, section 1.4.3.). Considering the effect of anaesthesia on noradrenergic neuronal function, it cannot be assumed that the findings of these electrophysiological studies also apply to conscious, freely-moving rats. Nevertheless, it is possible that the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus induced by RX821002 results from changes in noradrenergic neuronal firing.

Local administration of 1 μ M RX821002 into the hypothalamus doubled basal noradrenaline concentration. However, Laitinen *et al.* (1995) found that even though there was a trend for extracellular noradrenaline concentration to increase, a dose of atipamezole as high as 50 μ M did not significantly increase the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline in the hypothalamus of 7 rats tested under anaesthesia. It is likely that the lack of effect of atipamezole is due an effect of the chloral-hydrate anaesthesia on noradrenergic neuronal activity.

Together, the present findings suggest that α_2 -adrenoceptors regulating the release of noradrenaline in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus are activated under resting conditions and restrict basal noradrenaline release to the same extent in both areas. Furthermore, the findings support extensive evidence suggesting that there are α_2 -adrenoceptors in the terminal fields of both locus coeruleus and lateral tegmental noradrenergic projections and that some of these are presynaptic.

5.4.2. Effect of systemic RX821002 on sibutramine-induced increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentration.

Systemic pretreatment of rats with RX821002 augmented the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine in both the cortex and hypothalamus. However, as in Chapter 4, there were differences between the responses of the two brain areas. In the cortex, RX821002 reduced the latency for sibutramine to reach its peak effect. This is consistent with the disinhibition of noradrenaline release by this α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist (see Chapter 3, section 3.4). However, in the present study there was no apparent reduction in the latency for sibutramine to reach its peak effect in the hypothalamus. Nevertheless, it should be borne in mind that it is unlikely a reduction would have been detected, due to the collection of dialysate samples at 20 min intervals.

RX821002 also enhanced the maximum increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine in both brain areas. Gobert *et al.* (1997) also found systemic administration of atipamezole to potentiate the effects of another noradrenaline and 5-HT reuptake inhibitor, duloxetine, on extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex of freely-moving rats. The findings of this study suggest that α_2 -adrenoceptors limit the increase in extracellular noradrenaline induced by noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors in areas innervated by lateral tegmental neurones as well as locus coeruleus neurones.

Although RX821002 increased the maximum noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine in both brain areas, this effect of RX821002 was shorter-lived in the hypothalamus than in the frontal cortex. Dialysate noradrenaline concentration from the frontal cortex was still significantly greater in RX821002-pretreated rats compared to saline-treated rats 3 h post-sibutramine administration. In contrast, dialysate noradrenaline concentration from the hypothalamus in RX821002-pretreated rats was no longer greater than in saline-pretreated rats 2 h post-sibutramine administration. It is unlikely that the relatively short-lived effect of sibutramine in combination with RX821002 in the hypothalamus is due to the decreasing activity of RX821002 over the duration of the experiment as experiments in the frontal cortex show RX821002 is still active at this time point. A possible explanation could be that there are more α_2 -adrenoceptors regulating the activity of noradrenergic neurones projecting to the hypothalamus than the cortex and that the dose of RX821002 used did not block all of these receptors (see section 5.4.4. below).

5.4.3. Effect of systemic atipamezole on sibutramine-induced increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentration.

Previous reports suggest that RX821002, like the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonists yohimbine and rauwolscine, has moderate affinity for 5-HT_{1A} receptors in rat brain. Javier-Meana *et al.* (1996) show that when rat hippocampal membranes are incubated with 10 nM [³H]RX821002, the selective 5-HT_{1A} receptor agonist, 8-OH-DPAT, displaces [³H]RX821002. To establish that the findings of the present study were a result of an effect of RX821002 at α_2 -adrenoceptors, experiments involving the systemic administration of RX821002 were repeated with another highly selective α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, atipamezole. This drug is reported to have negligible affinity for 5-HT_{1A} receptors since it displaced [³H]8-OH-DPAT binding to rat hippocampal membranes with a K_i of only 13 µM; this compares with K_i values of 52 nM and 74 nM for rauwolscine and yohimbine, respectively (Winter and Rabin, 1992).

Atipamezole produced almost identical effects on extracellular noradrenaline to RX821002 in both brain areas when combined with sibutramine. This strongly suggested that the observed changes in extracellular noradrenaline induced by RX821002 were a result of α_2 -adrenoceptor blockade. Subsequently, local perfusion experiments were only carried out with RX821002.

5.4.4. Effect of local infusion of RX821002 into the frontal cortex or hypothalamus on sibutramine-induced increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentration.

Local infusion of RX821002 into the terminal fields augmented the increase in extracellular noradrenaline induced by sibutramine, in both the cortex and hypothalamus. These findings are consistent with a previous report that reverse dialysis of the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, idazoxan, into the cerebral cortex increases the accumulation of extracellular noradrenaline induced by desipramine in this brain area (Dennis *et al.* 1987). However, in this study, infusion of RX821002 into the hypothalamus caused a 3-fold increase above the noradrenaline concentration induced by 10 mg / kg sibutramine alone. This compared with a 1.5-fold increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration above that induced by sibutramine alone, when RX821002 was infused into the cortex. Furthermore, infusion of RX821002 into the hypothalamus prevented the *decline* in extracellular noradrenaline accumulation that occurs in this brain area 40 min post-sibutramine injection. These findings suggest that the increase in extracellular noradrenet by sibutramine in the hypothalamus activates α_2 -adrenoceptors and decreases noradrenergic neuronal activity to a greater extent than in the cortex.

One interpretation of the reversal of sibutramine's effects by local administration of RX821002 into the hypothalamus is that α_2 -adrenoceptors on the terminals alone are responsible for the decline in extracellular noradrenaline seen 40 min post-sibutramine injection. However, it is puzzling that this effect was not seen when sibutramine was combined with the systemic administration of RX821002. A large terminal α_2 -adrenoceptor reserve on the terminals of noradrenergic neurones in the hypothalamus could explain this discrepancy. A dose of 3 mg / kg RX821002 may bind only to a certain proportion of terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus after its administration. If this is the case, the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine could still activate the remaining proportion of terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors to decrease exocytotic noradrenaline release. This could explain why, when sibutramine is administered to RX821002-pretreated rats, the dialysate noradrenaline concentration falls back to basal values more rapidly than in the cortex. However, continuous local infusion of 1 µM RX821002 into the hypothalamus could block all terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors in this region and allow exocytotic noradrenaline release in the presence of a high extracellular noradrenaline concentration. This would account for the sustained increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration following sibutramine administration.

The proposal that the hypothalamus could have a terminal α_2 -adrenoceptor reserve would be consistent with evidence that there is a greater density of terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus than in the cortex. Heal *et al.* (1993) measured α_2 -adrenoceptor ligand binding in different brain regions of rats three days following treatment with saline, or DSP-4. Measuring α_2 -adrenoceptor binding with the α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, [³H]idazoxan, the authors report that the maximal specific binding (B_{max}) of $[^{3}H]$ idazoxan was approximately 340 and 725 fmol / mg tissue in the cerebral cortex and hypothalamus, respectively, in saline-treated rats. In DSP-4 treated rats, [³H]idazoxan binding was reduced by 20% in cerebral cortex tissue and by 40% in hypothalamic tissue. Since noradrenergic neurones in the frontal cortex are more vulnerable to the toxic effects of DSP-4 than noradrenergic neurones in the hypothalamus (see Chapter 4, section 4.4.2.) this finding cannot be attributed to more neurones surviving in the cortex following DSP-4 treatment. Therefore, the findings of Heal et al. (1993) suggest that there is a greater density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus than in the cortex and, furthermore, that a greater proportion of the α_2 -adrenoceptor population in the hypothalamus is located on noradrenergic terminals compared with cortical regions. However, although consistent with the present findings, one limitation of radioligand binding studies is that they do not indicate the number of α_2 -adrenoceptors per noradrenergic neurone, a potentially critical factor for the proposal of a terminal α_2 -adrenoceptor reserve in the hypothalamus.

The proposal of a terminal α_2 -adrenoceptor reserve suggests that the decline in extracellular noradrenaline in the hypothalamus 40 min following sibutramine administration is not due to a decrease in the firing of lateral tegmental neurones, as suggested in Chapter 4. Nevertheless, this possibility cannot be ruled out. Kaba *et al.* (1986) reported that systemic administration of the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist, clonidine, inhibited the firing rate of neurones in the A1 noradrenergic region but that the α_2 -adrenoceptors, which presumably mediate this effect, are not located in the region of the noradrenergic neuronal cell bodies (see Chapter 4, section 4.4.2.). Although this study was performed in anaesthetised rats, the findings that activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors on locus coeruleus and other lateral tegmental neurones in anaesthetised rats does decrease neuronal firing suggests that there could be a functional difference in A1 noradrenergic neurones. It is possible that these α_2 -adrenoceptors are located on the cell bodies of other neurones in the hypothalamus, which project to noradrenergic cell body regions and regulate neuronal activity. For example, using immunohistochemical methods, Swanson *et al.* (1981) showed that the paraventricular nucleus contains dopaminergic neurones, some of which project to the medulla. Perhaps activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors on neurones such as these could form part of a negative feedback loop to regulate the firing of noradrenergic cell bodies in the medulla.

In the proposed situation above, the increase in extracellular noradrenaline in the hypothalamus induced by sibutramine would activate α_2 -adrenoceptors on the cell bodies of other, non-noradrenergic neurones when the concentration of noradrenaline in the noradrenergic synapses was sufficient to diffuse into adjacent areas. Under resting conditions, these non-noradrenergic neurones could provide an excitatory input to noradrenergic cell bodies. Activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors on the cell bodies of the non-noradrenergic neurones could reduce their firing activity and decrease the excitatory input to the noradrenergic neurones. At this point, noradrenergic neuronal firing would decrease and impulse-mediated noradrenaline release in the hypothalamus would be reduced (see Figure 5.4.1.).

Local infusion of RX821002 into the hypothalamus would block terminal and postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors, as well as any α_2 -adrenoceptors located outside of noradrenergic synapses such as those described above: blockade of terminal and/or the latter receptors could account for the sustained increase in extracellular noradrenaline induced by sibutramine in the presence of RX821002.

5.4.5. Conclusion

The increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine in both the frontal cortex and hypothalamus are restricted by local populations of α_2 -adrenoceptors. Although both populations of α_2 -adrenoceptors appear equally effective at restricting basal noradrenaline release, α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus cause a greater restriction to sibutramine's effects than do α_2 -adrenoceptors in the cortex. This could account for the different time-courses of extracellular noradrenaline accumulation in these two brain areas, following sibutramine administration.

1) RESTING CONDITIONS



HYPOTHALAMUS

MEDULLA

2) IN THE PRESENCE OF A NORADRENALINE REUPTAKE INHIBITOR



HYPOTHALAMUS

MEDULLA

Figure 5.5: Schematic diagram showing a possible negative feedback loop regulating the firing rate of noradrenergic neurones in the medulla by non-noradrenergic neurones in the hypothalamus.

Chapter 6

Comparison of the density and function of central α_2 -adrenoceptors between the lean and obese Zucker rat.

6.1 Introduction

Obesity in Zucker rats is inherited as a recessive gene (Zucker and Zucker, 1961). Recent studies have shown that these obese rats have a mutation in the gene encoding the leptin receptor (Takaya *et al.* 1996) which results in their insensitivity to this hormone. The obesity of these rats is consistent with a role for leptin in the regulation of body fat in both animals and humans (See Chapter 1, section 1.2.3.). Obese Zucker rats are hyperphagic and have a decreased metabolic rate compared with their lean counterparts (see Chapter 1, section 1.5). The resulting increase in body weight is apparent from as early as 3 weeks of age (Zucker and Zucker, 1961), making the genetically obese Zucker rat a potentially useful model of human, juvenile-onset obesity (Argilés, 1989).

Early studies in the 1970s suggested that noradrenergic activity in the hypothalamus of obese Zucker rats, in particular the paraventricular nucleus, could be reduced compared with their lean counterparts. For example, Cruce *et al.* (1976; 1977) and Levin and Sullivan (1979) found that the tissue concentration of noradrenaline in the hypothalamus of male and female obese Zucker rats was reduced compared with their

lean counterparts (see Chapter 1, section 1.5.2.). It is difficult to deduce the functional significance of tissue content measurements *ex vivo*; although these findings were taken to indicate that noradrenergic activity in the hypothalamus is decreased, a decrease in tissue noradrenaline concentration could mean that noradrenaline release is increased.

Nevertheless, activation of brown adipose tissue thermogenesis in response to a meal is impaired in obese Zucker rats (Triandafillou and Himms-Hagen, 1983; see Chapter 1, section 1.5.1.). Considering the role of hypothalamic noradrenaline in the control of brown adispose tissue thermogenesis (Sahakian *et al.* 1983, see Chapter 4, section 4.1.) the proposal that noradrenergic activity is decreased in the hypothalamus of obese Zucker rats is consistent with these finding. Furthermore, *in vivo* microdialysis experiments show that the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by immobilisation stress is reduced in obese Zucker rats compared with their lean counterparts (Pacak *et al.* 1995). This lends further support to the proposal that noradrenergic activity is impaired in the obese Zucker rat.

However, later findings reported in the 1990s were not consistent with the proposal above. Koulu et al. (1990) found no differences in the concentration of noradrenaline in the hypothalamus of lean and obese male Zucker rats (see Chapter 1, section 1.5.2.) but found the feeding response induced by a non-sedative dose of clonidine was greater in satiated obese rats compared with lean controls. This suggests that the feeding-stimulatory influence of postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the paraventricular nucleus of obese Zucker rats is enhanced. This suggestion was supported by Jhanwar-Uniyal et al. (1991) who measured α_1 - and α_2 -adrenoceptor binding in membrane preparations from seven distinct hypothalamic nuclei of female lean and obese Zucker rats. The density of α_1 - and α_2 -adrenoceptors was measured with the α_1 -adrenoceptor antagonist, ³H]prazosin, and the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist, ³H] *p*-amino-clonidine ([³H]PAC), respectively, in freely-feeding rats. In obese rats, ³H]PAC binding was increased to 176% of the lean control value, specifically in the paraventricular nucleus. Also in the paraventricular nucleus, the [³H]prazosin binding was increased to 189% of the lean control value. No other differences were found in receptor density in any of the other regions examined.

Jhanwar-Uniyal *et al.* (1991) proposed that the greater density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in the paraventricular nucleus of obese Zucker rats could account for their greater feeding response, compared with lean Zucker rats, following systemic injection of clonidine, as reported by Koulu et al. (1990). Furthermore, the authors suggested that this disturbance in the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in obese Zucker rats could contribute to the development or maintenance of obesity in these animals. However, this proposal is based on two assumptions. Firstly, that the release rate of noradrenaline is the same in lean and obese rats although the greater density of α_2 -adrenoceptors could reflect their up-regulation as a result of decreased noradrenaline release. The finding that α_1 -adrenoceptor density was greater in obese rats lends support to this idea. Secondly, the proposal assumes that the greater density of α_2 -adrenoceptors reflects an increase in the density of postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors. It is possible that the increase in the density of these receptors reflects an increase in their presynaptic population, which are not involved in the noradrenaline-induced feeding response (Goldman et al. 1985). If the density of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors is increased in obese rats, this could have implications for the control of noradrenergic firing and / or noradrenaline release: a greater density of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors could mean a tighter control over noradrenaline release. This could account for the diminished increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the hypothalamus of obese rats following immobilisation stress (Pacak et al. 1995).

Other studies have also investigated the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus of lean and obese Zucker rats, although the findings are not consistent with those of Jhanwar-Uniyal *et al* (1991). Pesonen *et al.* (1992) measured the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in five forebrain areas of lean and obese male Zucker rats (approximately 21-weeks-old) using autoradiography with the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist, p-[¹²⁵I]iodoclonidine ([¹²⁵I]PIC). No differences were found in the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors between lean and obese Zucker rats in any of the regions studied: the paraventricular nucleus; anterior hypothalamic nucleus; amygdala; cerebral cortex; hippocampus. Miralles *et al.* (1993) also reported no differences in the binding of the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist, [³H]clonidine, to hypothalamic membranes from 10-week-old lean and obese male Zucker rats. The findings of these studies could differ from those of

Jhanwar-Uniyal *et al.* (1991) for a number of reasons, including differences in age and sex of Zucker rat studied, as well as differences in the technique used to determine α_2 -adrenoceptor density. Nevertheless, all these studies have one aspect in common; each study used a derivative of clonidine to determine the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors. Clonidine, *p*-aminoclonidine and *p*-iodoclonidine are all α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists. Therefore, these agents will only bind to α_2 -adrenoceptors that are in the high affinity conformational state (see Chapter 2, section 2.1.2.) and, consequently, may not reflect the total density of α_2 -adrenoceptors. Furthermore, these ligands have all been shown to have high affinity for imidazoline1 receptors, as well as α_2 -adrenoceptors, in rat brain (Kamasaki *et al.* 1990; Heemskerk *et al.* 1998). Thus, the binding data obtained from these studies could also reflect imidazoline1 receptor binding.

The first aim of this study was to re-establish the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus of lean and obese Zucker rats using $[^{3}H]RX821002$. Since the early 1990s when the studies above were reported, the highly selective α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, [³H]RX821002, has become a more preferable radioligand for the study of α_2 -adrenoceptor densities. This is because [³H]RX821002 is one of few α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonists to show negligible affinity or activity at imidazoline binding sites (Langin et al. 1990; Javier-Meana et al. 1997), whilst retaining high α_2 -adrenoceptor selectivity (see Chapter 3, section 3.1). Furthermore, since this compound is an α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, it will bind to α_2 -adrenoceptors in both high- and low-affinity conformational states. Noradrenergic neurones in the hypothalamus are derived primarily from the lateral tegmental area system, although some nuclei, such as the paraventricular nucleus, receive noradrenergic innervation from the locus coeruleus as well (see Chapter 1, section 1.3.). Considering this, it was of further interest to investigate the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in an area exclusively innervated by neurones from the locus coeruleus. Therefore, ³H]RX821002 binding was also investigated in the frontal cortex of lean and obese Zucker rats.

As outlined above, the study by Koulu *et al.* (1990) suggested that postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the paraventricular nucleus of obese Zucker rats have a greater stimulatory influence on feeding than do α_2 -adrenoceptors in the lean Zucker rat. In order

to investigate whether postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor function is also enhanced in other brain areas, the second aim of this investigation was to compare postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor function in lean and obese Zucker rats using clonidine-induced mydriasis. This is an established and selective model of postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor function (see Chapter 2, section 2.1.3.2.) and the α_2 -adrenoceptors that mediate this response are thought to be in the Edinger-Westphal nucleus of the midbrain.

The third aim of the study was to investigate the sensitivity of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in lean and obese Zucker rats. The α_2 -adrenoceptor binding studies in Zucker rats described above do not indicate the ratio of pre- and postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus: perhaps the greater density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in the paraventricular nucleus of obese Zucker rats, reported by Jhanwar-Uniyal *et al.* (1991) reflects a greater number of presynaptic, as well as, or instead of, postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors. In Chapter 5, noradrenergic neurones with different densities of preynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors were shown to respond differently to increases in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine. Differences in the function of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the abnormality in noradrenergic activity in this area. The responses of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in lean and obese Zucker rats were investigated by scoring clonidine-induced hypoactivity. The mechanism through which clonidine induces hypoactivity has been established as presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor activation (see Chapter 2, section 2.1.3.2.).

6.2. Methods

6.2.1. Experimental design.

6.2.1.1. Experiments involving $[^{3}H]RX821002$ binding.

Seven male obese Zucker rats (188-231 g) and seven male aged-matched lean controls (170-185 g) were used. Rats were killed between 1400 and 1700 h and the frontal cortex and hypothalamus were dissected from each rat. For details on the [³H]RX821002 binding assay and protein determination, refer to Chapter 2, section 2.2.2.

6.2.1.2. Experiments involving clonidine-induced hypoactivity and mydriasis.

Twenty male obese Zucker rats (weighing 148-191 g at the start of the study) and twenty male aged-matched lean controls (weighing 135-146 g at the start of the study) were used. Each rat was used to test both clonidine-induced mydriasis and hypoactivity responses simultaneously. For details on the procedures used and scoring of hypoactitivity, refer to Chapter 2, section 2.2.3.

6.2.2. Statistical analysis.

Data from $[{}^{3}H]RX821002$ binding experiments were analysed by Richard Brammer (Knoll Pharmaceuticals Statistics Department). K_d data were log transformed. K_d and B_{max} data were then analysed using a two-way ANOVA with group (lean or obese) and assay dates as factors.

For analysis of mydriasis experiments, the mean score for each dose was calculated from scores at 10 and 20 min to derive a mean value for the extent of the mydriasis over the 20 min sampling period. The dose-response relationship for lean and obese rats were compared using the ANOVA repeated measures facility on SPSS⁺ PC. Analysis was carried out on orthonormalised data with 'dose' as 'within' and 'group' (lean or obese) as 'between' subject factor.

For analysis of the hypoactivity experiments, the dose-response relationships for lean and obese rats were compared using the ANOVA repeated measures facility on SPSS⁺ PC. Analysis was carried out on orthonomalised data with 'dose' as 'within' and 'group' (lean or obese) as the 'between' subjects factor. Because a significant effect of group was found, each dose was compared separately between the groups using a one-way ANOVA (SPSS⁺ PC) to test over which dose range the dose-response relationship differed. Since lean and obese rats had different hypoactivity scores following saline administration (baseline hypoactivity score), one-way ANOVAs were also carried out on 'net' hypoactivity scores. These were calculated by subtracting the mean baseline hypoactivity score from each individual data point.

6.3. Results

6.3.1. [³*H*]*RX821002 binding in frontal cortex and hypothalamus.*

Saturation binding studies with [³H]RX821002, in the presence of 5 μ M phentolamine, did not reveal any differences between lean and obese Zucker rats with respect to the density of binding sites (B_{max}) (Figure 6.1.). However, the affinity (1/K_d) of [³H]RX821002 for α_2 -adrenoceptors in the frontal cortex of obese rats was higher than that of their lean counterparts (*F* = 17.3; d.f. 1,9; *P* < 0.01) (Table 6.1.). No differences were found between the K_d values of [³H]RX821002 for α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus of lean and obese rats.



Figure 6.1: The density of $[{}^{3}H]RX821002$ binding sites in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus of lean and obese Zucker rats.

Data expressed as mean \pm s.e. mean B_{max} (fmol / mg protein, n = 6-7).

BRAIN REGION	LEAN	OBESE
Frontal Cortex	$0.28 \pm 0.06 \ (n = 7)$	$0.22 \pm 0.04 \ (n = 7)^{**}$
Hypothalamus	$0.29 \pm 0.04 \ (n = 7)$	$0.24 \pm 0.04 \ (n = 6)$

Table 6.1: K_d values (nM) for the binding of $[{}^{3}H]RX821002$ to α_2 -adrenoceptors in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus of lean and obese Zucker rats.

** P < 0.01, compared with lean K_d value.

6.3.2. Clondine-induced mydriasis.

Baseline pupil diameter was 1.33 ± 0.03 mm in lean rats and 1.39 ± 0.02 mm in obese rats (mean scores calculated from the baseline diameter from each rat at the start of each experiment: n = 60 for each group). A one-way ANOVA revealed there was no difference in baseline pupil diameter between lean and obese groups (F = 2.96; d.f. 1,118; P = 0.09). Clonidine induced an increase in pupil diameter in both lean and obese Zucker rats. The increase in pupil diameter reached a plateau of approximately 0.55 mm in both rat types at 0.1 mg / kg clonidine (Figure 6.2.). A repeated measures ANOVA did not reveal a difference in the dose-response relationship between lean and obese rats.



Figure 6.2: Dose-response relationships for clonidine-induced mydriasis in lean and obese Zucker rats.

Each point represents mean \pm s.e. mean increase in pupil diameter for each dose of clonidine (n = 7-8).

6.3.3. Clonidine-induced hypoactivity.

Obese rats had a higher hypoactivity score following saline administration than did lean rats (lean rats: 4.5 ± 2.3 points *c.f.* obese rats: 8.2 ± 4.8 points, F = 5.41; d.f. 1,20; P = 0.03) indicating that obese rats are more hypoactive in drug-free conditions than their lean counterparts.

Clonidine induced a hypoactivity response in both lean and obese Zucker rats. The magnitude of the response paralleled dose, with the greatest dose inducing a hypoactivity score of approximately 26 points in both rat types (Figure 6.3a). Although both lean and obese rats reached a similar maximum level of hypoactivity following the highest dose of clonidine (0.3 mg / kg) a repeated measures ANOVA revealed an effect of group (lean or obese) as well as a dose × group interaction, between the dose-response relationships (effect of group: F = 6.75; d.f. 1,13; P = 0.02, dose × group interaction: F = 2.87; d.f. 5,65; P = 0.02).

One-way ANOVAs revealed that clonidine induced a greater hypoactivity response in obese rats at the lower doses of 0.003 and 0.01 mg / kg (0.03 mg / kg: F = 17.26; d.f. 1,14; P < 0.01, 0.01 mg / kg: F = 6.4; d.f. 1,14; P = 0.02) but not at any other dose. However, considering baseline hypoactivity scores were different in lean and obese rats, one-way ANOVAs were also carried out on net increases in hypoactivity scores to determine the magnitude of the increase in hypoactivity following clonidine administration (Figure 6.3b). There were no differences in net hypoactivity scores between lean and obese Zucker rats over the dose range 0.001-0.03 mg / kg clonidine. However, one-way ANOVAs revealed that clonidine induced greater hypoactivity scores in lean rats compared with obese rats at the higher doses of 0.1 and 0.3 mg / kg (0.1 mg / kg: F = 8.17; d.f. 1,13; P = 0.01, 0.3 mg / kg: F = 10.88; d.f. 1,14; P < 0.01).



Figure 6.3: Dose-response relationships for clonidine-induced hypoactivity in lean and obese Zucker rats.

Data show a) absolute increases in hypoactivity following clonidine administration and b) net increases in hypoactivity following clonidine administration. Each point represents mean \pm s.e. mean hypoactivity score for each dose of clonidine (n = 7-8). * P < 0.05, ** P<0.01.

6.4. Discussion

Several studies have compared the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus of lean and obese Zucker rats to investigate whether an increased population of these receptors can account for the hyperphagia of the obese rat. However, these studies have revealed no consistent findings, possibly because of the affinity of the test radioligands for imidazoline receptors (see section 6.1.). This study has used the highly selective α_2 -adrenoceptor radioligand, [³H]RX821002, to compare the total density of cortical and hypothalamic α_2 -adrenoceptors in lean and obese Zucker rats. In addition, clonidine-induced hypoactivity and mydriasis were used to compare the functions of pre-and postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in these rats, respectively.

6.4.1. [³H]RX821002 binding in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus.

[³H]RX821002 binding studies revealed that α_2 -adrenoceptors in frontal cortex tissue from obese rats had a higher affinity for RX821002 than did frontal cortex tissue from lean rats. Although the affinity of RX821002 for α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus was also higher than in lean rats, this difference did not reach statistical significance. Similarly, Miralles *et al.* (1993) reported that the affinity of RX821002 for α_2 -adrenoceptors in the cerebral cortex of lean and obese Zucker rats was higher in obese rats compared with lean rats (0.53 *c.f.* 0.49 nM) although this difference was not significant. These findings could mean α_2 -adrenoceptors in obese rats also have a higher affinity for other selective α_2 -adrenoceptor ligands or noradrenaline itself. Further experiments investigating the binding characteristics of noradrenaline and other α_2 -adrenoceptor ligands in lean and obese rats are needed to establish this. If α_2 -adrenoceptors in obese rats do have a higher affinity for noradrenaline, this could mean that their function is also increased.

[³H]RX821002 binding revealed no differences between lean and obese Zucker rats in the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in either the frontal cortex or hypothalamus. These findings are consistent with those of Miralles *et al.* (1993) who investigated the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in cerebral cortical membranes using [³H]RX821002. In agreement with

the present study in the frontal cortex, no differences in the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in the cerebral cortex of lean and obese rats were found.

Jhanwar-Uniyal *et al.* (1991) reported a greater density of $[^{3}H]PAC$ binding sites specifically in the paraventricular nucleus of obese Zucker rats. This report is consistent with the present finding that there is a trend for the affinity of α_2 -adrenoceptors for RX821002 to be higher in obese rats compared with lean rats. $[^{3}H]PAC$ is an α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist and will therefore bind only to α_2 -adrenoceptors in the high affinity state: if there are more α_2 -adrenoceptors in the high affinity state in obese rats, this will result in more $[^{3}H]PAC$ binding.

However, Pesonen et al. (1992) did not find a difference in α_2 -adrenoceptor density in discrete nuclei of the hypothalamus, including the paraventricular nucleus, with the agonist [¹²⁵I]PIC. It is possible that the different findings could be linked to the time of day animals were killed. Studies show that the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in the paraventricular nucleus of Sprague-Dawley rats follows a diurnal rhythm, with a marked increase (approximately 2.5-fold) in the receptor density just prior to and during the dark phase compared with the light phase (Jhanwar-Uniyal et al. 1986). This diurnal rhythm of α_2 -adrenoceptor binding was also observed in the performical lateral hypothalamus, although to a lesser extent, but was not seen in other brains areas such as the frontal cortex or hippocampus (Jhanwar-Uniyal et al. 1986). It is possible that there is a disturbance in this diurnal rhythm in obese Zucker rats and that this is only detectable at particular time points. In the study of Jhanwar-Uniyal et al. (1991), rats were killed between 0900 h and 1100 h (3-5 h after the start of the light phase). However, in the study of Pesonen et al. (1992) rats were sacrificed from 1600 h onwards (≤ 2 h before the start of the dark phase). If, for example, the diurnal rhythm of α_2 -adrenoceptor density is lost in obese rats and the density remains high at all times, it is possible that Jhanwar-Uniyal et al. (1991) compared lean and obese rats when the α_2 -adrenoceptor density in lean rats was at its lowest (i.e. a difference between the lean and obese rats would be evident). In contrast, Pesonen et al.(1992) compared lean and obese rats just prior to the dark phase, when α_2 -adrenoceptor density is thought to increase; it is possible that at this time point

 α_2 -adrenoceptor density in lean rats rises to a level comparable with obese rats (*i.e.* no difference between lean and obese rats would be evident).

In this study, rats were killed between 1400 and 1700 h with the dark phase due to start at 1800 h. In retrospect, this may not have been an ideal time to obtain brain tissue if the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors increases in lean rats just prior to the onset of the dark phase. If the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors increased in the lean rats between 1400 and 1700 h, this will have affected the mean value of their α_2 -adrenoceptor density. Considering this, a more thorough investigation of α_2 -adrenoceptor densities in lean and obese Zucker rats would involve a comparison of the receptor densities at different time-points over a 24 h period.

6.4.2. Clonidine-induced mydriasis and hypoactivity.

A comparison of the dose-response curves for clonidine-induced mydriasis did not reveal any differences between lean and obese Zucker rats in the function of the α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating this response. The α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating mydriasis are located postsynaptically (see Chapter 2, section 2.1.3.2.). Therefore, these findings present evidence that there are no differences in postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor function between lean and obese Zucker rats. This evidence is at variance with the finding that postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the paraventricular nucleus of obese Zucker rats are more sensitive to the feeding-stimulatory effects of clonidine than are those in lean rats (Koulu et al. 1990). However, the location of the postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating mydriasis are thought to be in the Edinger-Westphal nucleus in the midbrain. Therefore, the function of postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating mydriasis cannot be assumed to generalise to all central postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors. Thus, the present findings do not rule out the possibility that a disturbance in postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor function exists specifically within the paraventricular nucleus of obese Zucker rats. Indeed, the trend for the affinity of α_2 -adrenoceptors for RX821002 in hypothalamus to be higher in obese rats than in lean rats could account for the greater feeding response in obese rats following intrahypothalamic injection of clonidine (Koulu et al. 1990).

Hypoactivity experiments revealed that obese rats have a greater baseline level of hypoactivity than their lean counterparts. This finding indicates that, under drug-free conditions, obese Zucker rats are more hypoactive than their lean counterparts, suggesting that the function of the presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating this effect could be enhanced. The greater hypoactivity of obese rats is unlikely to be due to these rats being more lethargic than their lean counterparts since in the study of Koulu et al. (1990) no differences in spontaneous locomotor activity were found between lean and obese Zucker rats. The finding that there is a trend for the affinity of α_2 -adrenoceptors for RX821002 in the cortex and hypothalamus of obese rats to be higher than in lean rats provides a possible explanation as to why presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor function could be enhanced in obese rats. Although the precise location of the α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating hypoactivity in the brain is not known, it is possible that their affinity for α_2 -adrenoceptors ligands is also higher in obese rats compared with lean rats. If these receptors have a higher affinity for noradrenaline in obese rats, this could mean that more released noradrenaline may bind to these receptors, leading to greater presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor activation, which would result in greater baseline hypoactivity.

Analysis of hypoactivity responses following clonidine administration revealed that, at doses of 0.003 and 0.01 mg / kg, clonidine induces a greater increase in hypoactivity in obese rats compared with their lean counterparts. Analysis of net increases in hypoactivity scores following clonidine administration showed that although baseline hypoactivity was greater in obese rats, the magnitude of the increase in hypoactivity induced by clonidine was the same in both groups over the dose-range 0.001-0.03 mg / kg. However, at the higher doses of 0.1 and 0.3 mg / kg clonidine, the net increases in hypoactivity in obese rats is less compared with their lean counterparts. It is possible that there is a 'ceiling level' for clonidine's effect on hypoactivity and that this is reached with smaller increases in hypoactivity in obese rats because their baseline hypoactivity level is higher. However, Figures 6.3a and b indicate that whereas the dose-response curve for lean rats begins to plateau over the dose range of 0.1-0.3 mg / kg, the dose-response curve for obese rats does not. This suggests that the dose-response curve for obese rats does not. This suggests that the dose-response curve for obese rats does not. This suggests that the dose-response curve for obese rats does not. This suggests that the dose-response curve for obese rats for clonidine greater than 0.3 mg / kg. There are two possible explanations for this. Firstly, there could be a greater density of

 α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating hypoactivity in obese rats and a higher dose of clonidine is required to saturate these receptors, thus causing a plateau in the dose-response curve. Although this study found no differences in the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in the frontal cortex or hypothalamus between lean and obese rats, it is possible that the presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating clonidine-induced hypoactivity are located in a different brain region. Alternatively, the ratio of pre- and postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors could be higher in lean and obese rats (*i.e.* there could be a greater density of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in obese rats but this may not have been detected in the binding studies if the density of postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors was lower).

A second explanation is that the function of these receptors could be enhanced so that doses of clonidine greater than 0.3 mg / kg can still induce further increases in hypoactivity in a dose-dependent manner in obese rats. Again, the latter suggestion is supported by the present findings that the affinity of α_2 -adrenoceptors for RX821002 in the frontal cortex is higher in obese rats than lean rats. If the α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating clonidine-induced hypoactivity have a higher affinity for clonidine in obese Zucker rats, it is possible that this could result in a greater level of activation of these receptors when clonidine binds.

Since the precise location of the presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating clonidine-induced hypoactivity is not known, the present finding that their function could be enhanced in obese rats cannot be generalised to all central presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the obese rat. Therefore, it is difficult to foresee how, or if, the enhancement in the function of these particular presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors would affect the activity of noradrenergic neuronal systems in these animals. Nevertheless, it is tempting to speculate on the possible changes in noradrenergic neuronal activity that could result as a consequence of enhanced presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor function.

In Chapter 4, noradrenaline reuptake inhibition was observed to cause a prolonged increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex of Sprague-Dawley rats. However, in the hypothalamus the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration was much shorter-lived following noradrenaline reuptake inhibition. In Chapter 5, it was suggested that different densities of α_2 -adrenoceptors in these brain regions are responsible for the different time-courses of extracellular noradrenaline accumulation following noradrenaline reuptake inhibition. It is possible that an increase in the function of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in a given brain region of obese Zucker rats could also lead to differences in the regulation of extracellular noradrenaline concentration compared with lean rats. For example, during an increase in noradrenaline release, presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in obese rats could turn off neuronal firing and / or noradrenaline release to a greater extent than in lean rats. This could account for the reduced accumulation of extracellular noradrenaline in the paraventricular nucleus of obese rats during immobilisation stress (Pacak *et al.* 1995; see Chapter 1, section 1.5.2.).

Cruce et al. (1976; 1977) and Levin and Sullivan (1979) found that the concentration of noradrenaline in hypothalamic tissue was less than that of their lean counterparts and proposed that noradrenergic activity in the hypothalamus of obese rats is reduced (see Chapter 1, section 1.5.1.). Although it is difficult to deduce the functional significance of tissue content measurements in vitro, the finding in the present study that presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor function is enhanced in obese rats is consistent with the suggestion above: it is possible that the enhanced function of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors, which decrease noradrenergic activity, leads to a decrease in noradrenaline synthesis. Collectively, these findings do not support the idea that enhanced noradrenergic activation of postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the paraventricular nucleus contributes to the hyperphagia of obese Zucker rats (Koulu et al. 1990; Jhanwar-Uniyal et al. 1991). Nevertheless, the proposal above that central noradrenergic activity in the obese Zucker rat could be limited to a greater extent by presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors could contribute to the impaired thermogenesis in these animals. Triandafillou and Himms-Hagen (1983) reported that the binding of GDP by brown adipose tissue mitochondria from obese Zucker rats maintained at 28°C was lower than in lean rats. Furthermore, whereas lean Zucker rats on a cafeteria diet showed an increase in GDP-binding by mitochondria compared with lean rats fed standard laboratory chow, GDP-binding in obese Zucker rats was not affected by a cafeteria diet. These findings indicate that brown adipose tissue thermogenesis is disrupted in obese Zucker rats. A

6-hydroxydopamine-induced reduction of noradrenaline content in the hypothalamus of lean Sprague-Dawley rats impaired brown adipose tissue thermogenic activity (Sahakian *et al.* 1983, see Chapter 4, section 4.1.). In light of all these findings, it is not unreasonable to suggest that the enhancement of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor function in the obese rat could limit the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline in the hypothalamus to the extent that this pathway does not activate brown adipose tissue thermogenesis. However, the function of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors specifically within the hypothalamus would need to be investigated in order to gain support for this idea.

6.4.3. Conclusion

The present findings suggest that presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor function is enhanced in the obese Zucker rat. The implications of this finding for the control of noradrenergic activity in the hypothalamus and the subsequent control of food-intake and thermogenesis in these rats remain to be established.

Chapter 7

General Discussion

This thesis has investigated changes in the function of central noradrenergic neurones in rats induced by the anti-obesity agents, sibutramine and *d*-amphetamine. Experiments also included an investigation into the density and function of α_2 -adrenoceptors in the genetically lean and obese Zucker rats in order to determine whether an abnormality in these receptors exist in the obese state.

The finding that sibutramine increased extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the rat frontal cortex and hypothalamus supported the proposal that the active metabolites of this drug are potent inhibitors of noradrenaline reuptake. By comparing the effects of sibutramine on extracellular noradrenaline accumulation with those of the noradrenaline releasing agent, *d*-amphetamine, *in vivo* microdialysis experiments were able to provide support for this suggestion. The increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine in the frontal cortex was gradual and sustained, suggesting that this drug could be inhibiting the reuptake of noradrenaline following its spontaneous, impulse-evoked release. *d*-Amphetamine induced a more rapid increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the frontal cortex, suggesting that this drug induced impulse-independent noradrenaline release.

In support of this proposal, blockade of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors with RX821002 enhanced the increase in extracellular noradrenaline induced by sibutramine. This indicates that the accumulation of noradrenaline in the extracellular fluid induced by

sibutramine activates presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors, which decreases noradrenergic neuronal firing and exocytotic noradrenaline release. This negative feedback loop accounts for the gradual and sustained increase in extracellular noradrenaline induced by this drug in the frontal cortex.

Despite being classified as a noradrenaline-releasing agent, blockade of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors enhanced the increase in extracellular noradrenaline induced by 10 mg / kg d-amphetamine. This finding suggests that α_2 -adrenoceptor-mediated feedback inhibition *does* control the accumulation of extracellular noradrenaline induced by d-amphetamine to some extent. This suggestion is not consistent with other studies reporting that clonidine has no effect on the increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by 5 mg / kg d-amphetamine (Florin et al. 1994). As suggested in Chapter 3, a possible explanation for this discrepant finding could be that α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating the negative feedback response are already maximally activated by noradrenaline after *d*-amphetamine administration. Thus, in the study of Florin et al (1994) the administration of clonidine cannot influence the accumulation of extracellular noradrenaline further. However, by adding an antagonist, such as RX821002, the contribution of α_2 -adrenoceptor activation to the extent of extracellular noradrenaline accumulation induced by *d*-amphetamine is revealed. Consistent with the present finding, a recent study in vitro showed that, at low doses, d-amphetamine caused the release of noradrenaline, whereas at high doses it acted as a noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor (Pifl et al. 1999). The present finding provides evidence that, at a high dose, d-amphetamine also has noradrenaline reuptake inhibiting properties in vivo. Nevertheless, as a substrate for the noradrenaline transporter, d-amphetamine cannot, by definition, be an inhibitor of the transporter as well. However, the relatively high affinity of d-amphetamine for the noradrenaline transporter ($K_i = 45$ nM) could result in its dissociation being relatively slow. It is possible that this phenomenon accounts for *d*-amphetamine's noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor-like properties.

Recent studies have implicated a central noradrenaline-dopamine coupling effect in the enhancement of locomotor activity induced by *d*-amphetamine (Darracq *et al.* 1998, see Chapter 3, section 3.1.). The evidence suggests that the *d*-amphetamine-induced increase in noradrenergic transmission in the prefrontal cortex activates α_1 -adrenoceptors, which facilitates the release of dopamine in the nucleus accumbens, although the pathway through which this effect is mediated is not clear. The anti-obesity agent, phentermine, also evokes noradrenaline and dopamine release from rat cortical slices preloaded with [³H]noradrenaline or [³H]dopamine (Viggers *et al.* 1999; Lancashire *et al.* 1998) and increases locomotor activity in rats (Rowley *et al.* 2000). Considering this, it is probable that sibutramine's lack of effect on dopaminergic function along with its only modest increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration compared with *d*-amphetamine, explains its lack of ability to increase locomotor activity in rats (Rowley *et al.* 2000).

In halothane-anaesthesised rats the magnitude of response for sibutramine's effects on extracellular noradrenaline accumulation in the frontal cortex is described by a bell-shaped curve, whereas in freely-moving rats the magnitude paralleled dose. This suggests that halothane-anaesthesia changes central noradrenergic function, although the mechanism by which this happens is unclear. However, this finding highlights why conscious, freely-moving rats are preferable for investigating the pharmacology of CNS agents. One question that arises is what happens to the dose-response curve for sibutramine at doses of sibutramine greater than 10 mg / kg. Does halothane-anaesthesia simply shift the dose-response curve for sibutramine to the left, or, like its effects on extracellular 5-HT concentration (Gundlah *et al.* 1997), does the maximum response induced by sibutramine parallel dose in freely-moving rats?

Sibutramine also increased the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline in the region of the paraventricular nucleus. This is at variance with reports that exogenous noradrenaline injected into this region *increases* feeding behaviour in rats through an action on postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors. This suggests that the feeding response induced by injection of noradrenaline into the paraventricular nucleus may not be reflecting a system that is involved in the natural, physiological control of food intake. Oral administration of the noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, nisoxetine, which presumably increases the extracellular concentration of noradrenaline in the hypothalamus, does not affect food intake in rats (Jackson *et al.* 1997b). Furthermore, systemic administration of RX821002 has no effect on the inhibition of food intake induced by sibutramine (Jackson *et al.* 1997a). The finding that the α_1 -adrenoceptor, prazosin, completely inhibited the

reduction of food intake induced by sibutramine (Jackson *et al.* 1997a), illustrates the importance of this receptor, over the postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor, in the overall control of feeding behaviour. This suggestion is supported by the fact that the feeding studies carried out by Jackson *et al.* (1997a) were performed during the dark phase; a period when the density of α_1 -adrenoceptor binding decreases and α_2 -adrenoceptor binding increases in the paraventricular nucleus (Jhanwar-Uniyal *et al.* 1986; Morien *et al.* 1999).

Sibutramine's effect on extracellular noradrenaline accumulation in the hypothalamus was shorter-lived than its effect in the frontal cortex. Evidence suggested that α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus have a greater control over noradrenaline release in this brain area compared with the frontal cortex and that this could account for the more transient effects of sibutramine in the hypothalamus. This is consistent with studies showing that there is a greater density of terminal as well as postynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus compared with cortical areas. However, a greater density of terminal α_2 -adrenoceptors would be expected to restrict the concentration of extracellular noradrenaline to a particular level following sibutramine administration, but not to cause its decline 40 min post-injection. Questions arising from these findings are how, and why, would α_2 -adrenoceptors control noradrenaline release differently in these two brain areas? It is possible that neurones exist in the hypothalamus that project to regions containing noradrenergic cell bodies. These neurones could form a feedback loop to regulate the firing of the noradrenergic neurones. The activation of α_2 -heteroreceptors on their cell bodies in the hypothalamus could influence the level of this regulation. There is no evidence that directly supports this proposal. However, Kaba et al. (1986) report that systemic administration of clonidine inhibits the firing rate of A1 noradrenergic neurones but that this effect was not mediated through α_2 -adrenoceptors in the region of the noradrenergic cell bodies. A proposal such as the one described above could account for how clonidine reduces the firing rate of A1 noradrenergic neurones. Nevertheless, this proposal does not provide an explanation as to why the brain would regulate noradrenaline release differently in the frontal cortex and hypothalamus.

Evidence suggests that noradrenergic activity is reduced in obese Zucker rats compared to their lean counterparts (reviewed in Chapter 1, section 1.5.). In light of the

evidence suggesting that differences in α_2 -adrenoceptor density can affect noradrenaline release, this study investigated the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors in lean and obese Zucker rats using radioligand binding studies. The functions of pre- and postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in lean and obese Zucker rats were also investigated using clonidine-induced hypoactivity and mydriasis, respectively.

No differences in the density of $[{}^{3}H]RX821002$ binding sites were found in either the frontal cortex or hypothalamus of lean and obese rats. However, $[{}^{3}H]RX821002$ binding studies did reveal that α_{2} -adrenoceptors in the frontal cortex of obese rats had a higher affinity for RX82100 than lean rats. α_{2} -Adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus also had a higher affinity for RX821002 than did lean rats, although this difference was not statistically significant.

Clonidine-induced mydriasis did not reveal any differences in the function of postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in lean and obese Zucker rats. The findings of Koulu *et al.* (1990) suggest that postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor function in the paraventricular nucleus is enhanced in obese Zucker rats. It is possible that this abnormal functioning of postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in obese Zucker rats exists only in the paraventricular nucleus. The enhanced function of postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the region of the paraventricular nucleus reported by Koulu et al. (1990) could reflect their up-regulation as a result of decreased noradrenergic transmission is this area. Consistent with this proposal, Pacak et al. (1995) report that the stress-induced increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in the region of the paraventricular nucleus of obese Zucker rats is reduced compared with their lean counterparts. The authors point out that their findings are consistent with reports that the noradrenaline content of the paraventricular nucleus of obese Zucker rats is reduced (reviewed in Chapter 1, section 1.5), thus there is less noradrenaline available to be released on demand. However, their experiments do not rule out the possibility that a difference in the control of noradrenaline release in the hypothalamus of obese rats accounts for the differential effects of stress on extracellular noradrenaline accumulation in lean and obese rats: it is possible that presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor function is enhanced in obese Zucker rats, which restricts the

accumulation of extracellular noradrenaline during stress. Clonidine-induced hypoactivity was used to investigate this possibility.

The baseline hypoactivity score of obese Zucker rats was higher than their lean counterparts. This suggests that the function of the presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating hypoactivity in obese rats is enhanced under resting conditions compared with lean rats. Although there were no differences between lean and obese rats in the net increase in hypoactivity following clonidine over the dose range 0.001-0.03 mg / kg, lean rats were more hypoactive than obese rats following a dose of 0.1 and 0.3 mg/kg clonidine. It is possible that the ceiling effect for this response is reached at lower doses of clonidine in obese rats because their baseline response is already elevated compared with lean rats. However, unlike the dose-response curve for clonidine-induced hypoactivity in lean rats, the dose-response curve for obese rats did not appear to reach a plateau at the two highest doses, suggesting that the maximum response had not been reached in these rats. These findings suggest that there could be functional differences between presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating hypoactivity in lean and obese Zucker rats. The finding that there was a trend for the affinity of α_2 -adrenoceptors for RX821002 to be higher in obese rats compared with lean rats adds some support to this suggestion. The exact location of the α_2 -adrenoceptors in the central nervous system mediating clonidine-induced hypoactivity is not known. It is possible that these receptors could also have higher affinities for α_2 -adrenoceptor ligands such as RX821002, clonidine or noradrenaline. Perhaps a difference in presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor affinity could account for the differences in the hypoactivity responses between lean and obese Zucker rats.

The implications of these findings for the control of noradrenaline release in the CNS of obese Zucker rats are not clear. The possibility that the function of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors mediating hypoactivity is enhanced in obese Zucker rats cannot be generalised to all presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the brain of obese Zucker rats. At the same time, the possibility that the function of other presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the obese Zucker rat is enhanced cannot be ruled out and this could have consequences for the control of noradrenaline release. Whether such an abnormality would contribute to the obesity of this animal remains unknown.

Future work related to this thesis

The principle findings of this thesis raise several questions that include:

 Does the increase in hypothalamic extracellular noradrenaline concentration induced by sibutramine contribute to its anti-obesity effects?

Monitoring food intake and / or thermogenesis during local infusion of sibutramine's metabolites into the hypothalamus could provide clues as to whether the increase in extracellular noradrenaline accumulation in this brain area contributes to this drug's anti-obesity effects. The effects, if any, on food intake and thermogenesis could be compared with the effects of local infusion of 1) a selective noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, 2) a selective 5-HT reuptake inhibitor and 3) a combination of a selective noradrenaline and 5-HT reuptake inhibitor. Local infusion of the drugs could be carried out using reverse dialysis in the hypothalamus either unilaterally or bilaterally. Unilateral infusion would cause less damage to the hypothalamus. However, bilateral infusion may be needed to see an effect of the drugs on food intake.

Firstly, these experiments would reveal whether the hypothalamus is involved in mediating sibutramine's anti-obesity effects. If the hypothalamus does appear to be involved in these effects, the experiments would also reveal whether the reuptake inhibition of noradrenaline, 5-HT or both monoamines in this region have a role in mediating the anti-obesity effects. If the reuptake inhibition of 5-HT and noradrenaline together in the hypothalamus suppresses food intake, this could go some way to explaining why sibutramine induces a decrease in food intake, whilst local injection of noradrenaline or clonidine into the region of the paraventricular nuclues induces an increase in food intake: the simultaneous increase in extracellular 5-HT concentration in the hypothalamus induced by sibutramine could mask the feeding-stimulatory effects of postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptor activation.

2) Why do α_2 -adrenoceptors in the hypothalamus restrict the effect of sibutramine on extracellular noradrenaline accumulation to a greater extent than do α_2 -adrenoceptors in the frontal cortex?

Electrophysiological studies could be used to investigate whether activation of α_2 -adrenoceptors on the cell bodies of neurones in the hypothalamus affect the firing rate of lateral tegmental or locus coeruleus noradrenergic neurones in the pons or medulla. An α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist could be microiontophoretically applied to the hypothalamus and the firing rate of noradrenergic neurones recorded. A decrease in the firing rate of noradrenergic neurones would indicate whether neurones projecting from the hypothalamus to noradrenergic cell bodies are capable of regulating noradrenergic neuronal activity. This could shed light on the reason why extracellular noradrenaline accumulation declines in the hypothalamus 40 min following sibutramine administration.

3) Are α_1 - or α_2 -adrenoceptors involved in the natural, physiological control of food intake?

Gene knockouts of α_1 - or α_2 -adrenoceptor subtypes would be one approach to address the question of whether these receptors are involved in the natural, physiological control of food intake. They could also be used to investigate whether these receptors are involved in the central control of thermogenesis. Mutant mice lacking the 5-HT_{2C} gene have revealed the role of this receptor in the control of food intake (Heisler *et al.* 1998). However, the survival of mutant animals lacking α_1 - and α_2 -adrenoceptor subtypes could be impaired due to their roles in the control of cardiovascular function. Nevertheless, studies report the development of α_{2C} -adrenoceptor knockout mice (Link *et al.* 1995). These mice appear to develop normally, suggesting that the α_{2C} -adrenoceptor is not required for normal development in mice or for its survival in a laboratory environment. Studies involving the control of food intake in these animals do not yet appear to have been carried out.

4) Does an abnormality exist in terminal α_2 -adrenoceptor function specifically in the paraventricular nucleus of the obese Zucker rat and does this contribute to the obesity of this animal?

Experiments involving *in vivo* microdialysis could investigate whether any difference in terminal α_2 -adrenoceptor (or α_2 -heteroceptor) function in the paraventricular

nucleus of obese rats could affect noradrenergic transmission in this area. These experiments would compare basal extracellular noradrenaline concentration in lean and obese Zucker rats before and after local infusion of an α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist. This would reveal whether α_2 -adrenoceptor-mediated negative feedback contributes to the regulation of basal extracellular noradrenaline concentration in this region to the same extent. If noradrenaline release is restricted to a greater extent by α_2 -adrenoceptors in obese rats, it may be predicted that infusion of an α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist would cause a greater increase in extracellular noradrenaline concentration in these rats compared to their lean counterparts.

It has been 40 years since noradrenaline was first suggested to have a role in the control of food intake. Despite this length of time, the findings of this study and others highlight that there is still a lot to be learned about the role of noradrenaline in the natural, physiological control of food intake. Future work aimed at unravelling the receptor pathways by which noradrenaline influences feeding behaviour will increase the understanding of how anti-obesity drugs such as sibutramine work. Furthermore, a greater understanding of the physiological basis of appetite control could reveal more targets for the anti-obesity agents of the future.
References

- Andén N.E., Dahlstöm A., Fuxe K., Larsson K., Olson L. and Ungerstedt U. (1966) Ascending monoamine neurons to the telencephalon and diencephalon. Acta. Physiol. Scand., 67: 313-326.
- Andrade R. and Aghajanian G.K. (1982) Single cell activity in noradrenergic A-5 region: responses to drugs and peripheral manipulations of blood pressure. *Brain Res.*, 242: 125-135.
- Antin J., Gibbs J., Holt J., Young R.C. and Smith G.P. (1975) Cholecystokinin elicits the complete behavioural sequence of satiety in rats. *J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol.*, **89**: 784-790.
- Argilés J.M. (1989) The obese Zucker rat: a choice for fat metabolism. *Prog. Lipid. Res.*, 28: 53-66.
- Baldwin B.A., Parrott R.F. and Ebenezer I.S. (1998) Food for thought: a critique on the hypothesis that endogenous cholecystokinin acts as a physiological satiety factor. *Prog. Neurobiol.*, 55: 477-507.
- Barthoilini G., Stadler H., Ciria M.G. and Lloyd K.G. (1976) The use of push-pull cannula to estimate the dynamics of acetylcholine and catecholamines within various brain areas. *Neuropharmacology* **15**: 515-519.
- Benveniste H Hansen A.J. and Ottosen N.S. (1989) Determination of brain interstitial concentrations by microdialysis. *J. Neurochem.*, **52**: 1741-1750.
- Bito L., Davson H., Levin E., Murray M. and Snider N (1966) The concentration of free amino acids and other electrolytes in cerebrospinal fluid, *in vivo* dialysate of brain and blood plasma of the dog. J. Neurochem., 13: 1057-1067.
- Blanc G., Trovero F., Vezina P., Hervé D., Godeheu A.M., Glowinski J. and Tassin J.P. (1994) Blockade of prefrontal-cortico α_1 -adrenergic receptors prevents locomotor hyperactivity induced by subcortical D-amphetamine injection. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **6**: 293-298.
- Bloor B.C. and Flacke W.E. (1982) Reduction in halothane anesthetic requirement by clonidine, an alpha-adrenergic agonist. *Anesth. Analg.*, **61**: 741-5.

- Bonhaus D.W., Weinhardt K.K., Taylor M., DeSouza A., McNeely P.M. Szczepanski K.,
 Fontana D.J., Trinh J., Rocha C.L., Dawson. M.W., Flippin L.A. and Eglen R.M. (1997)
 RS-102221: a novel high affinity and selective, 5-HT_{2C} receptor antagonist. *Neuropharmacol.*, 36: 621-629.
- Booth D A. (1968) Mechanism of action of norepinephrine in eliciting an eating response on injection into the rat hypothalamus. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, **160**: 336-348.
- Brun P., Suaud-Chagny M.F., Gonon F. and Buda M. (1993) Differential effects of desipramine on direct– and sensory-evoked noradrenaline release in thalamic locus coeruleus terminals. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 235: 205-210.
- Buckett W.R., Luscombe G.P., Thomas P.C., Diggory G.L., Browning J.G. and Hopcroft R.H. (1988) The pharmacology of sibutramine hydrochloride (BTS 54 524), a new antidepressant which induces rapid noradrenergic down-regulation. *Prog. Neuropharmacol. Biol. Psychiat.*, 12: 575-584.
- Bylund D.B. (1985) Heterogeneity of alpha-2 adrenergic receptors. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, 22: 835-843.
- Bylund D.B. (1988) Subtypes of α_2 -adrenoceptors: pharmacological and molecular biological evidence converge. *TIPS* **9**: 356-361.
- Cedarbaum J.M. and Aghajanian G.K. (1976) Noradrenergic neurons of the locus coeruleus: inhibition by epinephrine and activation by the α -antagonist piperoxane. *Brain Res.*, **112**: 413-419.
- Cedarbaum J.M. and Aghajanian G.K. (1977) Catecholamine receptors on locus coeruleus neurons: pharmacological characterization. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **44**: 375-385.
- Cheetham S.C., Viggers J.A., Butler S.A., Prow M.R and Heal D. J. (1996) [³H]Nisoxetine -A radioligand for noradrenaline reuptake sites: Correlation with inhibition of [³H]noradrenaline uptake and effect of DSP-4 lesioning and antidepressant treatments. *Neuropharmacol.*, **35**: 63-70.
- Connoley I.P., Heal D.J. and Stock M.J. (1995) A study in rats of the effects of sibutramine on food intake and thermogenesis. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, **144**: 388P.
- Connoley I.P., Frost I., Heal D.J. and Stock M.J. (1996) Role of β-adrenoceptors in mediating the thermogenic effects of sibutramine. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, **117**: 170P.

- Cosford O.R.J., Parsons L.H. and Justice Jr. J.B. (1994) Effect of tetrodotoxin and potassium infusion on microdialysis extraction fraction and extracellular dopamine in the nucleus accumbens. *Neurosci. Lett.*, **178**: 175-178.
- Crow S., Meller W., Praus B., Raatz S. and Mitchell J. (1998) Failure of clonidine to stimulate feeding in healthy humans. *Pharmacol. Biochem Behav.*, **61**: 317-321.
- Cruce J.A.F., Thoa N.B. and Jacobowitz D.M. (1976) Cathecholamines in the brains of genetically obese rats. *Brain Res.*, **101**: 165-170.
- Cruce J.A.F., Thoa N.B. and Jacobowitz D.M. (1977) Catecholamines in discrete areas of the hypothalamus of obese and castrated male rats. *Pharm. Biochem. Behav.*, **8**: 287-289.
- Dahlström A. and Fuxe K. (1964) Evidence for the existence of monoamine-containing neurons in the central nervous system. *Acta. Physiol. Scand.*, **62**: suppl 232, 1-55.
- Dalley J.W. and Stanford S.C. (1995) Contrasting effects of the imidazol(in)e α_2 -adrenoceptor agonists, medetomidine, clonidine and UK 14,304 on extraneuronal levels of noradrenaline in the rat frontal cortex: evaluation using *in vivo* microdialysis and synaptosomal uptake studies. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, **114**: 1717-1723.
- Darracq L., Blanc G., Glowinski J. and Tassin J.P. (1998) Importance of the noradrenaline-dopamine coupling in the locomotor activating effects of *d*-amphetamine. J. *Neurosci.*, 18: 2729-2739.
- Davies B.T. and Wellman P.J. (1992) Effects on ingestive behavior in rats of the alpha 1-adrenoceptor agonist cirazoline. *Eur-J-Pharmacol.*, **210**: 11-16.
- De Luca B., Monda M., Amaro S., Pellicano P. and Cioffi L.A. (1989) Lack of diet-induced thermogenesis following lesions of paraventricular nucleus in rats. *Physiol and Behav.*, **46**: 685-691.
- Delgado J.M.R., DeFeudis F.V., Roth R.H., Ryugo D.K and Mitraka B.M (1972) Dialytrode for long term intercerbral perfusion in awake monkeys. Archs int. Pharmacodyn., 198: 9-21.
- Dennis T., L'Heureux R., Carter C. and Scatton B. (1987) Presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors play a major role in the effects of idazoxan on cortical noradrenaline (as measured by *in vivo* dialysis) in the rat. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., **241**: 642-649.

- Descarries L., Watkins K.C. and Lapierre Y. (1977) Noradrenergic axon terminals in the cerebral cortex of rat III. Topometric ultrastructural analysis. *Brain Res.*, **133**: 197-222.
- Done C.J.G. and Sharp T. (1994) Biochemical evidence for the regulation of central noradrenergic activity by 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT₂ receptors: microdialysis studies in the awake and anaesthetised rat. *Neuropharmacol.*, **33**: 411-421.
- Dooley D.J., Bittiger H., Hauser K.L., Bischoff S.F. and Waldermeier P.C. (1983). Alteration of central alpha₂- and beta-adrenergic receptors in the rat after DSP-4, a selective noradrenergic neurotoxin. *Neurosci.*, **9**: 889-898.
- Drew G.M., Gower A.J. and Marriot A.S. (1979) α_2 -Adrenoceptors mediate clonidine-induced sedation in the rat. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, **67**: 133-141.
- Engberg G and Svensson T.H. (1979) Amphetamine-induced inhibition of central noradrenergic neurons: a pharmacological analysis. *Life Sci.*, **24**: 2245-2254.
- Florin S.M., Kuczenski R. and Segal, D.S. (1994) Regional extracellular norepinephrine responses to amphetamine and cocaine and effects of clonidine pretreatment. *Brain. Res.*, 654: 53-62.
- Fone K.C., Austin R.H., Topham I.A., Kennet G.A. and Punhani T. (1998) Effect of chronic m-CPP on locomotion, hypophagia, plasma corticsterone and 5-HT_{2C} receptor levels in the rat. *B. J. Pharmacol.*,123: 1707-1715.
- Friedman J.M. and Halaas J.L. (1998) Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. *Nature*. **395**: 763-770.
- Fritschy J.M., Geffard M. and Grzanna R. (1990) The response of noradrenergic axons to systemically administered DSP-4 in the rat: an immunohistochemical study using antibodies to noradrenaline and dopamine-β-hydroxylase. J. Chem. Neuroanat., 3: 309-321.
- Gaddum J.H. (1961) Push-pull cannulae. J. Physiol (London) 155: 1P.
- Gartside S.E., Umbers V., Hajós M and Sharp T. (1995) Interaction between a selective 5-HT_{1A} receptor antagonist and an SSRI *in vivo*: effects on 5-HT cell firing and extracellular 5-HT. *Br .J. Pharmacol.*, **115**: 1064-1070.
- Gherezghiher T. and Koss M.C. (1979) Clonidine mydriasis in the rat. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **57**: 263-266.

- Gilbert D.B. and Cooper S.J. (1985) Analysis of dopamine D₁ and D₂ receptor involvement in *d* and *l*-amphetamine-induced anorexia in rats. *Brain Res Bull.*, **15**: 385-389.
- Glowinski J. and Axelrod J. (1965) Effect of drugs on the reuptake, release and metabolism of ³H-norepinephrine in the rat brain. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, **149**: 43-49.
- Gobert A., Rivet J.M., Cistarelli C., Melon C. and Millan M.J. (1997) α₂-Adrenergic receptor blockade markedly potentiates duloxetine- and fluoxetine-induced increases in noradrenaline, dopamine, and serotonin levels in the frontal cortex of freely-moving rats. *J. Neurochem.*, **69**: 2616-2619.
- Goldman H.W., Lehr D. and Friedman E. (1971) Antagonistic effects of alpha and beta-adrenergically coded hypothalamic neurones on consummatory behaviour in the rat. *Nature*. 231: 453-455
- Goldman C.K., Marino L. and Leibowitz S.F. (1985) Postsynaptic α_2 -noradrenergic receptors mediate feeding induced by paraventricular nucleus injection of norepinephrine and clonidine. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **115**: 11-19.
- Goodwin G.M., De-Souza RJ., Green A.R. and Heal D.J. (1987) The pharmacology of the behavioural and hypothermic responses of rats to 8-hydroxy-2-(di-n-propylamino)tetralin (8-OH-DPAT). *Psychopharmacology*. **91**: 506-11.
- Graham A.W. and Aghajanian G.K. (1971) Effects of amphetamine on single cell activity in a catecholamine nucleus, the locus coeruleus. *Nature* **234**: 100-102.
- Grignaschi G., Fanelli E., Scagnol I. And Samanin R. (1999) Studies on the role of serotonin receptor subtypes in the effect of sibutramine in various paradigms in rats. Br. J. Pharmacol., 127: 1190-1194.
- Grossman S.P. (1960) Eating and drinking elicited by direct adrenergic or cholinergic stimulation of the hypothlamus. *Science*. **132**: 301-302.
- Gundlah C., Martin K.F., Heal D.J. and Auerbach S.B. (1997) In vivo criteria to differentiate monoamine uptake inhibitors from releasing drugs: Sibutramine is a reuptake inhibitor. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 283: 581-591.
- Haapalinna A., Viitamaa T., MacDonald E., Savola J.M., Tuomisto L., Virtanen R. and Heinonen E. (1997) Evaluation of the effects of a specific alpha 2-adrenoceptor antagonist, atipamezole, on alpha 1- and alpha 2-adrenoceptor subtype binding, brain

neurochemistry and behaviour in comparison with yohimbine. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs* Arch Pharmacol., **356**: 570-582.

- Hajós-Korcsok E. and Sharp T. (1996) 8-OH-DPAT-induced release of hippocampal noradrenaline *in vivo*: evidence for role of both 5-HT_{1A} and dopamine D₁ receptors. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **314**: 285-291.
- Hajós M. Gartside S.E. and Sharp. T (1995) Inhibition of median and dorsal raphe neurones following administration of the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor paroxetine. *Naunyn Schmeidebergs Arch Pharmacol.*, 351: 624-9.
- Halford J.C.G., Heal D.J. and Blundell J.E. (1995) Effects in the rat of sibutramine on food intake and the behavioural satiety sequence. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, **114**: 387P.
- Harrison J.K., Pearson W.R. and Lynch K.R. (1991) Molecular characterization of α_1 and α_2 -adrenoceptors. *TIPS* **12**: 62-67.
- Heal D.J. 1990 The effects of drugs on behavioural models of central noradrenergic function in The pharmacology of noradrenaline in the central nervous system. Eds Heal D.J. and Marsden C.A. Oxford University Press: 266-315.
- Heal D.J. and Cheetham S.C. (1997). The Pharmacology of sibutramine, the first serotonin and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor to be developed for the treatment of obesity. *La lettre du pharmacologue*. **11** (suppl 10): 3-8.
- Heal D.J., Akagi H., Bowdler J.M. and Green R. (1981) Repeated electroconvulsive shock attenuates clonidine-induced hypoactivity in rodents *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **75**: 231-237.
- Heal D.J., Lister S.L., Smith S.L., Davies C.L., Molyneux S.G. and Green A.R. (1983) The effects of acute and repeated administration of various anti-depressant drugs on clonidine-induced hypoactivity in mice and rats. *Neuropharmacol.*, **22**: 983-992.
- Heal D.J., Stoodley N., Elliott J.M., Marsden C.A., Bennett G.W. and Youdim M.B.H. (1987) Behavioural and biochemical evidence for the release of noradrenaline in mouse brain by TRH and some of its biologically stable anologues. *Neuropharmacol.*, 26: 313-322.
- Heal D.J., Prow M.R. and Buckett W.R. (1989a) Clonidine produces mydriasis in conscious mice by activating central α₂-adrenoceptors. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **170**: 11-18.

- Heal D.J., Prow M.R. and Buckett W.R. (1989b) Clonidine-induced hypoactivity and mydriasis in mice are respectively mediated *via* pre- and postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the brain. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **170**: 19-28.
- Heal D.J., Frankland A.T.J., Gosden J., Hutchins L.J., Prow M.R., Luscombe G.P. and Buckett W.R. (1992) A comparison of the effects of sibutramine hydrochloride, bupropion and methamphetamine on dopaminergic function: evidence that dopamine is not pharmacological target for sibutramine. *Psychopharmacol.*, **107**: 303-309.
- Heal, D.J., Butler, S.A., Prow, M.R. and Buckett, W.R. (1993) Quantification of presynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in rat brain after short-term DSP-4 lesioning. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **249**: 37-41.
- Heal D.J., Prow M.R., Butler S.A. and Buckett W.R. (1995a) Mediation of mydriasis in conscious rats by central postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, **50**: 219-224.
- Heal D.J., Cheetham S.C., Butler S.A., Gosden J., Prow M.R. and Buckett W.R. (1995b) Receptor binding and functional evidence suggest that postsynaptic α_2 -adrenoceptors in rat brain are of the α_{2D} subtype. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **277**: 215-221.
- Heal D.J., Aspley S., Prow M.R., Jackson H.C., Martin K.F. and Cheetham, S.C. (1998a)
 Sibutramine: a novel anti-obesity drug. A review of the pharmacological evidence to differentiate it from *d*-amphetamine and *d*-fenfluramine. *Int.J.Obesity.* 22 (Suppl 1): S18-S28.
- Heal D.J., Cheetham S.C., Prow M.R., Martin K.F., and Buckett W.R. (1998b) A comparison of the effects on central 5-HT function of sibutramine hydrochloride and other weight-modifying agents. *Br. J. Pharamacol.*, **125**: 301-308.
- Heemskerk F.M., Dontenwill M., Greney H., Vonthron C. and Bousquet P. (1998) Evidence for the existence of imidazoline-specific binding sites in synaptosomal plasma membranes of the bovine brainstem. J. Neurochem., 71: 2193-2202.
- Heisler L.K., Chu H.M. and Tecott L.H.(1998) Epilepsy and obesity in serotonin 5-HT_{2C} receptor mutant mice. *Ann N.Y. Acad. Sci.*, **861**: 74-78.

- Hertting G. and Allgaier C. (1988) Participation of protein kinase C and regulatory G proteins in modulation of the evoked noradrenaline release in brain. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.*, 8: 105-114.
- Hewson G., Leighton G.E., Hill R.G. and Hughes J. (1988) Quipazine reduces food intake in the rat by activation of 5-HT2 receptors. *B. J. Pharmacol.*, **95**: 598-604.
- Hey J.A., Gherezghiher T. and Koss M.C. (1985) Analysis of clonidine induced mydriasis in rat. *Naunyn Schmeidebergs Ach Pharmacol.*, **328**: 258-263.
- Heym J., Steinfels G.F. and Jacobs B.L. (1984) Chloral hydrate anaesthesia alters the responsiveness of central serotonergic neurons in the cat. *Brain Res.*, **291**: 63-72.
- Hieble J.P and Ruffolo R.R. (1996) Subclassification and nomenclature of alpha 1- and alpha 2-adrenoceptors. *Prog. Drug. Res.*, 47: 81-130.
- Holdefer R.N. and Jensen R.A. (1987) The effects of peripheral D-amphetamine, 4-OH amphetamine, and epinephrine on maintained discharge ion the locus coeruleus with reference to the modulation of learning and memory by these substances. *Brain Res.*, **417**: 108-117.
- Holets V.R. (1990) The anatomy and function of noradrenaline in the mammalian brain. In: Heal, D.J., and Marsdon, C.A (eds). The pharmacology of noradrenaline in the central nervous system. Oxford Medical Publications, Oxford. 1-40.
- Hollister A.S., Ervin G.N., Cooper B.R. and Breese G.R. (1975) The roles of monamine neural systems in the anorexia induced by (+)-amphetamine and related compounds. *Neuropharmacol.*, 14: 715-723.
- Hutson P.H., Dourish C.T. and Curzon G. (1986) Neurochemical and behavioural evidence for mediation of the hyperphagic action of 8-OH-DPAT by 5-HT cell body autoreceptors. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **129**: 347-352.
- Imperato A and Di Chiara G. (1984) Trans-striatal dialysis coupled to reverse phase high performance liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection: A new method for the study of the *in vivo* release of endogenous dopamine and metabolites. *J. Neurosci.*, **4**: 966-977.

- Ishihara A., Tanaka T., Kanatani A., Fukami T., Ihara M and Fukuroda T. (1998) A potent neuropeptide Y antagonist, 1229U91, suppressed spontaneous food intake in Zucker fatty rats. Am-J-Physiol. 274: R1500-4
- Itoh Y., Oishi R., Nishibori M. and Saeki K. (1990) In vivo measurement of noradrenaline and 3, 4-dihydroxyphenylethyleneglycol in the rat hypothalamus by microdialysis: Effects of various drugs affecting noradrenaline metabolism. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 255: 1090-1097.
- Jackson H.C., Bearham M.C., Hutchins L.J., Mazurkiewicz, S.E., Needham A.M. and Heal D.J. (1997a) Investigation of the mechanisms underlying the hypophagic effects of the 5-HT and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, sibutramine, in the rat. *Br J Pharmacol.*, **121**: 1613-1618.
- Jackson H.C., Needham A.M., Hutchins L.J., Mazurkiewicz S.E. and Heal D.J. (1997b) Comparison of the effects of sibutramine and other monoamine reuptake inhibitors on food intake in the rat. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, **121**: 1758-1762.
- Javier-Meana, J., Callado, L.F., Pazos, A., Grijalba, B. and Garcia-Sevilla (1996) The subtype-selective α₂-adrenoceptor antagonists BRL 44408 and ARC 239 also recognize 5-HT1A receptors in the rat brain. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **312**: 385-388.
- Javier-Meana, J., Herrera-Marschitz M., Goiny M. and Silveira R. (1997) Modulation of catecholamine release by alpha 2-adrenoceptors and I1-imidazoline receptors in rat brain. *Brain. Res.*, 744: 216-226.
- Jhanwar-Uniyal M. Roland C.R. and Leibowitz S.F. (1986) Diurnal rhythm of α_2 -noradrenergic receptors in the paraventricular nucleus and other brain areas: relation to circulating corticosterone and feeding behaviour. *Life Science* **38**: 473-482.
- Jhanwar-Uniyal M. Awad I.R. Gearhart G.M. Finkelstein J.A. and Leibowtiz S.F. (1991) Higher α-noradrenergic receptors in paraventricular nucleus of obese Zucker rats: decline after food deprivation. *Pharmacol. Biochem Behav.*, **40**: 853-859.
- Jonsson G., Hallman H., Ponzio F. and Ross F. (1981) DSP-4 (N-(2-chloroethyl)-N-ethyl-2-bromobenzylamine) a useful denervation tool for central and peripheral noradrenaline neurons. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **72**: 173-188.

- Kaba H., Saito H., Otsuka K. and Seto K. (1986) Effects of adrenoceptor agonists and antagonists on the firing of neurons in the rat A1 noradrenergic region. Jap. J. Physiol., 36: 795-799.
- Kamasaki Y., Ishikawa T., Takao Y., Omodani H., Kuno N., Itoh T. (1990) Binding of [3H]*p*-aminoclonidine to two sites, alpha 2-adrenoceptors and imidazoline binding sites: distribution of imidazoline binding sites in rat brain. *Brain Res.*, **514**: 15-21.
- King G.R. and Ellinwood Jr. E.H. (1992) Amphetamines and other stimulants *in* Substance abuse. A comprehensive textbook (2nd ed). Eds Lowinson J.H., Ruiz P. and Millman R.B. Williams and Wilkins. 247-270.
- Koss M.C. (1986) Pupillary dilation as an index of central nervous system α_2 -adrenoceptor activation. J. Pharmacological Methods, 15: 1-19.
- Koulu M., Huupponen R., Hänninin H., Pesonen U., Rouru J. and Seppälä T. (1990) Hypothalamic neurochemistry and feeding behavioural responses to clonidine, an alpha-2-agonist, and to trifluromethylphenylpiperazine, a putative 5-hydroxytryptamine-1B agonist, in genetically obese Zucker rats. *Neuroendocrinol.*, **52**: 503-510.
- Kuczenski R. and Segal D.S. (1992) Regional norepinephrine response to amphetamine using dialysis: Comparison with caudate dopamine. *Synapse*. **11**: 164-169.
- Laitinen K.S.M., Tuomisto L. and Macdonald E. (1995) Effects of a selective α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist, atipamezole, on hypothalamic histamine and noradrenaline release in vivo. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **285**: 255-260.
- Lancashire B., Viggers J., Prow M.R., Aspley S., Martin K.F., Cheetham S.C. and Heal D.J. (1998) Monoamine release and uptake inhibition profiles of antiobesity agents. J. *Psychopharmacol.* 12: (suppl) 143.
- Langer S.Z. (1977) Sixth Gaddum memorial lecture, National Institute for Medical Research, Mill Hill, Presynaptic receptors and their role in the regulation of transmitter release. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, **60**: 481-97.
- Langin D., Paris H. and Lafontan M (1990) Binding of [³H]idazoxan and of its methoxy derivative [³H]RX821002 in human fat cells: [³H]idazoxan but not [³H]RX821002 labels additional non-alpha 2-adrenergic binding sites. *Mol. Pharmacol.*, **37**: 876-85.

- Leibowitz S.F. (1975a) Ingestion in the satiated rat: role of alpha and beta receptors in mediating effects of hypothalamic adrenergic stimulation. *Physiol. Behav.*, 14: 743-745.
- Leibowitz S.F. (1975b) Catecholaminergic mechanisms of the lateral hypothalamus: their role in the mediation of amphetamine anorexia. *Brain Res.*, **98**: 529-45
- Leibowitz S.F. (1978) Paraventricular nucleus: a primary site mediating adrenergic stimulation of feeding and drinking. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 8: 163-75.
- Leibowitz S.F. (1995) Brain peptides and obesity: Pharmacologic treatment. *Obestiy Res.*, **3**: (suppl 4) 573S-589S.
- Leibowitz S.F., Weiss G.F., Walsh U.A. and Viswanath D. (1989) Medial hypothalamic serotonin: role in circadian patterns of feeding and macronutrient selection. *Brain Res.*, 503: 132-140.
- Leibowitz S.F., Weiss G.F. and Suh J.S. (1990) Medial hypothalamic nuclei mediate serotonin's inhibitory effect on feeding behaviour. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, **37**: 735-742.
- Levin B.E. and Sullivan A.C. (1979) Catecholamine levels in discrete brain nuclei of seven month old genetically obese rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, **11**: 77-82.
- L'Heureux R.L., Dennis T., Curet O. and Scatton B. (1986) Measurement of endogenous noradrenaline release in the rat cerebral cortex in vivo by transcortical dialysis: Effects of drugs affecting noradrenergic transmission. *J. Neurochem.*, **46**: 1794-1801.
- Lidbrink P. and Jonsson G. (1971) Semiquantitative estimation of formaldehyde induced fluorescence of noradrenaline in central noradrenaline nerve terminals. J. Histochem. Cytochem., **19**: 747-757.
- Link R.E., Stevens M.S., Kulatunga M., Scheinin M., Barsh G.S. and Kobilka B.K. (1995) Targeted inactivation of the gene encoding the mouse alpha 2c-adrenoceptor homolog. *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 48: 48-55.
- Lowry O.H., Rosebrough N.J., Farr A.L. and Randall R.J. (1951) Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. *J. Biol. Chem.* **193**: 265-275.
- Luscombe G.P., Hopcroft R.H., Thomas P.C. and Buckett W.R. (1989) The contribution of metabolites to the rapid and potent down-regulation of rat cortical b-adrenoceptors by the putative antidepressant sibutramine hydrochloride. *Neuropharmacol.*, **28**: 129-134.

- MacIntosh F.C and Oborin P.E. (1953) Release of acetylcholine from the cerebral cortex. (Abstr.), in *Abstracts from the XIXth International Physiology Congress*, pp580-581.
- Maj J. and Moryl E. (1992) Effects of sertraline and citalopram given repeatedly on the responsiveness of the 5-HT receptor subpopulations. J. Neural. Transm. Gen Sect. 88: 143-156.
- Manara L., Badone D., Baroni M., Boccardi G., Cecchi R., Croci T., Giudice A., Guzzi U., Landi M. and Le Fur G. (1996) Functional identification of rat atypical beta-adrenoceptors by the first beta 3-selective antagonists, aryloxyproanolaminotetralins. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 117: 435-442.
- Mateo Y., Pineda J. and Javier-Meana J. (1998) Somatodendritic α_2 -adrenoceptors in the locus coeruleus are involved in the *in vivo* modulation of cortical noradrenaline release by the antidepressant designamine. *J. Neurochem.*, **71**: 790-798.
- Matthews J.W., Booth D.A. and Stolerman I.P. (1978) Factors influencing feeding elicited by intracranial noradrenaline in rats. *Brain Res.*, 141: 119-128.
- Mazzola-Pompietto P., Aulakh C.S. and Murphy D.L. (1995) Temperature, food intake and locomotor activity effects of a 5-HT₃ receptor agonist and two 5-HT₃ receptor antagonists in rats. *Psychopharmacol.*, **121**: 488-493.
- M^cRae-Degueurce A., Dennis T., Leger L and Scatton B (1985) Regulation of noradrenergic neuronal activity in the rat locus coeruleus by serotonergic afferents. *Physiol. Psychol.*, 13: 188-196.
- Miralles A., Ribas C., Olmos G. and García-Sevilla J.A. (1993) No effect of genetic obesity and manzidol on imidazoline I₂ binding sites in the brain of Zucker rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **243**: 305-308.
- Moghaddam B. and Bunney B.S. (1989) Ionic composition of microdialysis perfusion solution alters the pharmacological responsiveness and basal outflow of striatal dopamine. *J. Neurochem.*, 53: 652-654.
- Moore R.Y. and Bloom F.E. (1979) Central catecholamine neuron systems: anatomy and physiology of the norepinephrine and epinephrine systems. *Ann. Rev. Neurosci.*, **2**: 113-168.

- Moore S.D. and Guyenet P.G. (1983) An electrophysiological study of the forebrain projection of nucleus commissuralis: Preliminary identification of presumed A2 catecholaminergic neurons. *Brain Res.*, **263**: 211-222.
- Moran T.H. (1996) Receptor subtypes and affinity state underlying the satiety actions of cholecystokinin (CCK) *in* Drug receptor subtypes and ingestive behaviour. Eds Cooper S.J. and Clifton P.G. Academic Press.
- Morien A., Cassone V.M. and Wellman P.J. (1999) Diurnal changes in paraventricular hypothalamic α_1 and α_2 -adrenoceptors and food intake in rats. *Pharmocol. Biochem. Behav.*, **63**: 33-38.
- Morisson J.H., Foote S.L., O'Connor D and Bloom F.E. (1982) Laminar, tangential and regional organization of the noradrenergic innervation of monkey cortex: dopamine-β-hydroxylase immunohistochemistry. *Brain. Res. Bull.*, **9**: 309-319.
- Munson P.J. and Rodbard D. (1980) LIGAND: a versatile computerised approach for characterization of ligand-binding systems. *Anal. Biochem.* **107**: 220-239.
- Nassif S., Kempf E., Cardo B. and Velley L. (1983) Neurochemical lesion of the locus coeruleus of the rat does not suppress the sedative effect of clonidine. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 91: 69-76.
- Neill J.C., Bendotti C. and Samanin R. (1990) Studies on the role of 5-HT receptors in satiation and the effect of *d*-fenfluramine in the runway test. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **190**: 105-112.
- North R.A. and Surprenant A. (1985) Inhibitory synaptic potentials resulting from α_2 -adrenoceptor activation in guinea-pig submucous plexus neurones. J. Physiol., **358**:17-33.
- Nutt D.J., Lalies M.D., Lione L.A. and Hudson A.L. (1997) Noradrenergic mechanisms in the prefrontal cortex. *J. Psychopharmacol.*, **11**: 163-168.
- Orosco M., Jacqout C. and Cohen Y. (1980) Brain catecholamine levels and turnover in various models of obese animals. *Gen. Pharmacol.*, **12**: 267-271.
- O'Rourke M.F., Blaxall H.S., Iversen L.J. and Bylund D.B. (1994) Characterization of [³H]RX821002 binding to alpha-2 receptor subtypes. *J. Pharmacol., Exp. Ther.*, **268**: 1362-1367.

- Osborne N.N. (1991) Inhibition of cAMP production by alpha 2-adrenoceptor stimulation in rabbit retina. *Brain Res.*, **553**: 84-88.
- Pacak K., McCarty R., Palkovits M., Cizza G., Kopin I.J., Goldstein D.S. and Chrousos G.P. (1995) Decreased central and peripheral catecholaminergic activation in obese Zucker rats. *Endocrinol.*, **136**: 4360-4367.
- Palkovits M., Záborszky L., Feminger A., Mezey E., Fekete M.I.K. Herman J.P., Kanyicska
 B. and Szabó D. (1980) Noradrenergic innervation of the rat hypothalamus: experimental biochemical and electron microscopic studies. *Brain Res.*, 191: 161-171.
- Papdopolous G.C. and Parnavelas J.G. (1991) Monoamine systems in the cerebral cortex: evidence for anatomical specificity. *Prog. Neurobiol.*, **36**: 195-200.
- Papadopolous G.C., Parnevelas J.G. and Buijs R. (1987) Monoaminergic fibres form conventional synapses in the cerebral cortex. *Neurosci. Lett.*, **76**: 275-279.
- Paton W.D.M. and Rang H.P. (1965) The uptake of atropine and related drugs by intestinal smooth muscle of the guinea-pig in relation to acetylcholine receptors. *Proc. Roy. Soc.*, *B*, 163: 1-44.
- Paxinos G. and Watson C. (1986). The rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates. Academic Press, Australia.
- Perkins M.N., Rothwell N.J., Stock M.J. and Stone T.W. (1981) Activation of brown adipose tissue thermogenesis by the ventromedial hypothalamus. *Nature*. **289**: 401-402.
- Pesonen U., Miettinen T., Scheinin M. and Koulu M. (1992) α_2 -Adrenoceptor density in forebrain areas of Zucker rats: no effect of genetic obesity or antiglucocorticoid treatment. *Brain Res.*, **574**: 3533-356.
- Petrash A.C. and Bylund D.B. (1986) Alpha-2 adrenergic receptor subtypes indicated by [³H]yohimbine binding in human brain. *Life Sci.*, **38**: 2129-2137.
- Pifl C., Drobny H., Reither H., Hornykiewicz O. and Singer E.A. (1995) Mechanism of the dopamine-releasing actions of amphetamine and cocaine: plasmalemmal dopamine transporter versus vesicular monoamine transporter. *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 47: 368-373.
- Pifl C., Agneter E., Drobny H., Sitte H. and Singer E.A. (1999) Amphetamine reverses or blocks the operation of the human noradrenaline transporter depending on its concentration: superfusion studies on transected cells. *Neuropharmacol.*, 38: 157-165

- Raiteri M., Bertollini A., Angelini F. and Levi G. (1975) *d*-Amphetamine as a releaser or reuptake inhibitor of biogenic amines in synaptosomes. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, **34**: 189-195.
- Reader T.A., Brière R., Grondin L. and Ferron A. (1986) Effects of *p*-chlorophenylalanine on cortical monoamines and on electrical activity of noradrenergic neurons. *Neurochem. Res.*, 11: 1025-1035.
- Romero L., Hervás I. And Artigas F. (1996). The 5-HT_{1A} antagonist WAY-100635 selectively potentiates the presynaptic effects of serotonergic antidepressants in rat brain. *Neurosci. Lett.*, **219**: 123-126.
- Routledge C. and Marsden C.A. (1987) Comparison of the effects of selected drugs on the release of hypothalamic adrenaline and noradrenaline measured *in vivo. Brain Res.*, **426**: 103-111.
- Rowley H.L., Butler S.A., Prow M.R., Aspley S., Kilpatrick I.C. and Heal D.J. (2000) Effects of sibutramine , phentermine and *d*-amphetamine on extracellular dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens and on locomotor activity in rats. *B.J. Pharmacol.*, (in press)
- Rudnick G. and Wall S.C. (1992) *p*-Chloroamphetamine induces serotonin release through serotonin transporters. *Biochemistry*. **31**: 6710-6718.
- Ryan L.J., Tepper J.M., Young S.J. and Groves P.M. (1985) Amphetamine's effects on terminal excitability of noradrenergic locus coeruleus neurones are impulse-dependent at low but not high doses. *Brain Res.*, 341: 155-163.
- Sahakian B.J. Trayhurn P., Wallace M., Deeley R., Winn P., Robbins T.W. and Everitt B.J. (1983) Increased weight gain and reduced activity of brown adipose tissue produced by depletion of hypothalamic noradrenaline. *Neurosci. Letts.*, **39**: 321-326.
- Saito H., Matsumoto M., Togashi H. and Yoshioka M. (1996) Functional interaction between serotonin and other neuronal systems: focus on in vivo microdialysis studies. Jap. J. Pharmacol., 70: 203-225.
- Samanin R. and Grignaschi G. (1996) Role of 5-hydroxytryptamine receptor subtypes in satiety and animal models of eating disorders *in* Drug receptor subtypes and ingestive behaviour. Eds Cooper S.J. and Clifton P.G. Academic Press.

- Samanin R., Bendotti C., Bernasconi S., Borroni E. and Garattini S. (1977) Role of brain monoamines in the anorectic activity of mazindol and *d*-amphetamine in the rat. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 43: 117-124.
- Samanin R., Mennini T., Bendotti C., Barone D., Caccia S. and Garattini S. (1989) Evidence that central 5-HT₂ receptors do not play an important role in the anorectic activity of *d*-fenfluramine in the rat. *Neuropharmacol.*, 28: 465-469.
- Sandberg M., Butcher S.P. and Hagberg H. (1986) Extracellular overflow of neuroactive amino acids during severe insulin-induced hypoglycemia: *in vivo* dialysis of the rat hippocampus. J. Neurochem., 47: 178-184.
- Sanger D.J. (1983) An analysis of the effects of systemically administered clonidine on the food and water intake of rats. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, **78**: 159-164.
- Sanghvi I.S., Singer G., Friedman E. and Gershon S. (1975) Anorexigenic effects of *d*-amphetamine and l-DOPA in the rat. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, **3**: 81-86.
- Saunier C.F., Akaoka H., de La Chapelle B., Charlety P.J., Chergui K., Chouvet G., Buda M., and Quintin L. (1993) Activation of brain noradrenergic neurons during recovery from halothane anesthesia. Persistence of phasic activation after clonidine. *Anesthesiology* 79: 1072-1082.
- Schreiber R., Brocco M., Audinot V., Gobert A., Veiga S. and Millan M.J. (1995) (1-(2,5-dimethoxy-4 iodophenyl)-2-aminopropane)-induced head-twitches in the rat are mediated by 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) 2A receptors: modulation by novel 5-HT2A/2C antagonists, D1 antagonists and 5-HT1A agonists. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 273: 101-12.
- Scuvée-Moreau J.J. and Dresse A.E. (1979) Effects of various antidepressant drugs on the spontaneous firing rate of locus coeruleus and dorsal raphé neurons of the rat. *Eur. J. Pharamacol.*, 57: 219-225.
- Sharp T., Zetterström T., Ljungberg T. and Ungerstedt U. (1987) A direct comparison of amphetamine-induced behaviours and regional brain dopamine release in the rat using intracerebral dialysis. *Brain Res.*, 401: 322-330.
- Sharpe L. G. and Pickworth W.B. (1981) Pupilary dilation after microinjections of morphine, normorphine and clonidine into the Edinger-Westphal nucleus (EW) in the cat. Soc. Neurosci. Abstr., 7: 609.

- Shimoji K., Matsuki M., Shimizu H., Maruyama Y. and Aida S. (1977) Dishabituation of mesencephalic reticular neurons by anesthetics. *Anesthesiology*. **47**: 349-352.
- Shimokawa A., Jin Q.H., Ishizuka Y., Kunitake T., Takasaki M. and Kannan H. (1998) Effects of anaesthetics on norepinephrine release in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus region of awake rats. *Neurosci. Lett.*, **244**: 21-24.
- Shor-Posner G. Grinker J. A., Marinescu C., Brown O. and Leibowitz S.F. (1986) Hypothalamic serotonin in the control of meal patterns and macronutrient selection. *Brain. Res. Bull.*, 17: 663-671.
- Shukla R., MacKenzie-Taylor D., Rech R.H. (1990) Evidence for 5-HT2 receptor mediation in quipazine anorexia. *Psychopharmacol.*, **100**: 115-118.
- Sillito A.M. and Zbrożyna A.W. (1970) the localization of the pupilloconstrictor function within the midbrain of the cat. J. Physiol., **211**: 461-477.
- Silverstone T. (1992) Appetite suppressants. A review. Drugs. 43: 820-836.
- Simanksy K.J. and Vaidya A.H. (1990) Behavioural mechanisms for the anorectic action of the serotonin (5-HT) uptake inhibitor sertraline in rats: comparison with directly acting 5-HT agonists. *Brain Res Bull.*, 25: 953-960.
- Simonneaux V., Ebadi M. and Bylund D.B. (1991) Identification and characterization of alpha 2D-adrenergic receptors in bovine pineal gland. *Mol. Pharmacol.*, **40**: 235-241.
- Spyraki C. and Fibiger H.C. (1982) Clonidine sedation in rats: evidence for mediation by postsynaptic α₂-adrenoceptors. *J. Neural. Trans.*, **54**: 153-163.
- Stallone D.D. and Levitsky D.A. (1994) Chronic fenfluramine treatment: effects on body weight, food intake and energy expenditure. *Int. J. Obesity.* **18**: 679-685.
- Stamford J.A. (1989) In vivo voltammetry prospects for the next decade. TiNS 12: 407-412.
- Stanley B.G., Magdalin W., Seirafi A., Thomas W.J. and Leibowitz S.F. (1993) The perifornical area: the major focus of (a) patchily distributed hypothalamic neuropeptide Ysensitive feeding system(s). *Brain Res.*, 604: 304-17.
- Starke K. (1972) Influence of extracellular noradrenaline on the stimulation-evoked secretion of noradrenaline from synaptic nerves: evidence for an α-adrenoceptor-mediated feed-back inhibition of noradrenaline release. *Naunyn-Shmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.*, **275**: 11-23.

- Starke K., Montel H., Gayk W. and Merker R. (1974) Comparison of the effects of clondine on pre and postsynaptic adrenoceptors in rabbit pulmonary artery. *Naunyn-Shmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.*, 285: 133-150.
- Stillings M.R., Chapleo C.B., Butler R.C.M., Davis J.A., England C.D., Myers M., Myers P.L., Tweedle N., Welbourn A.P., Doxey J.C. and Smith C.F.C. (1985) α-Adrenoceptor reagents 3. Synthesis of some 2-substituted 1,4-benzodioxans as selective presynaptic α₂-adrenoceptor antagonists. *J. Med. Chem.*, 28: 1054-10062.
- Stock M.J. (1997) Sibutramine: a review of the pharmacology of a novel anti-obesity agent. Int. J. Obesity. 21 Suppl. 1: S25-S29.
- Strömbom U. and Svensson T. (1980) Clonidine: attenuation of sedative action by facilitated central noradrenergic neurotransmission. J. Neural. Trans., 47: 29-39.
- Sugrue M.F. (1987) Neuropharmacology of drugs affecting food intake. *Pharmacol. Ther.*, **32**: 145-182.
- Suzuki M., Matsuda T., Asano S., Somboonthum P., Takuma K. and Baba A. (1995) Increase in noradrenaline release in the hypothalamus of freely-moving rat by postsynaptic 5-hydroxytryptamine_{1A} receptor activation. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, **115**: 703-711.
- Svensson T.H. and Usdin T. (1978) Feedback inhibition of brain noradrenaline neurons by tricyclic antidepressants: α -receptor mediation. *Science*. **202**: 1089-1091.
- Svensson T.H., Bunney B.S. and Aghajanian G.K. (1975) Inhibition of both noradrenergic and serotonergic neurons in brain by the alpha-adrenergic agonist clonidine. Brain. Res., 92: 291-306.
- Swanson L.W. (1976) The locus coeruleus: A cytoarchitectonic, Golgi and immunohistochemical study in the albino rat. *Brain Res.*, **110**: 39-56.
- Swanson L.W. (1998/1999) Brain maps: Structure of the rat brain, 2nd edition, Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Swanson L.W., Sawchenko P.E., Berod A., Hartman B.K., Helle K.B. and Vanorden D.E. (1981) An immunohistochemical study of the organization of catecholaminergic cells and terminal fields in the paraventricular and supraoptic nuclei of the hypothalamus. J. Comp. Neurol., 196: 271-285.

- Tayaka K., Ogawa Y., Isse N., Okazaki T., Satoh N., Masuzaki H., Mori K., Tamura N., Hosada K. and Nakao K. (1996) Molecular cloning of rat leptin receptor isoform complementary DNAs – identification of a missense mutation in Zucker fatty (fa/fa rats. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 225: 75-83.
- Thornburg J.R. and Moore K.E. (1973) Dopamine and norepinephrine uptake by rat brain synaptosomes: relative inhibitory of *l* and *d*-amphetamine and amanditine. *Res. Comm. Chem. Pathol. Pharmacol.*, **5**: 81-89.
- Tossman U. and Ungerstedt U. (1986) Microdialysis in the study of extracellular levels of amino acids in the rat brain. *Acta. Physiol. Scand.*, **128**: 9-14.
- Trendelenburg A.U. Limberger N. and Starke K. (1993) Presynaptic α_2 -autoreceptors in brain cortex: α_{2D} in the rat and α_{2A} in the rabbit. *Naunyn-Schmied. Arch. Pharmacol.*, **348**: 35-45.
- Triandafillou J. and Himms-Hagen J. (1983) Brown adipose tissue in genetically obese (*fa/fa*) rats: response to cold and diet. *Am. J. Physiol.*, **244**: E145-E150.
- Tsoucaris-Kupfer D. and Schmitt H. (1972) Hypothermic effect of α-sympathomimetic agents and their antagonism by adrenergic and cholinergic blocking drugs. *Neuropharmacol.*, **11**: 625-635.
- U'Prichard D.C., Reisine T.D., Mason S.T. and Fibiger H.C. (1980) Modulation of rat bran α and β -adrenergic receptor populations by lesion of the dorsal noradrenergic bundle. *Brain. Res.*, **187**: 143-154.
- van der Gugten J. and Slangen J.L. (1977) Release of endogenous catecholamines from the rat hypothalamus *in vivo* related to feeding and other behaviours. *Pharmacol. Biochem Behav.*, 7: 211-219.
- van der Hoek G.A. and Cooper S.J. (1994) Ondansetron, a selective 5-HT3 receptor antagonist, reduces palatable food consumption in the nondeprived rat. *Neuropharmacol.*, 33: 805-811.
- van Veldhuizen M.J.A., Feenstra M.G.P., Boer G.J. and Westerink B.H.C. (1990) Mcrodialysis studies on cortical noradrenaline release: basic characteristics, significance of extracellular calcium and massive post-mortem increase. *Neurosci. Lett.*, **119**: 233-326.

- van Veldhuizen M.J., Feenstra M.G.P., Heinsbroek R.P.W. and Boer G.J. (1993) In vivo microdialysis of noradrenaline overflow: effects of α-adrenoceptor agonists and antagonists measured by cumulative concentration-response curves. Br. J. Pharmacol., 109: 655-660.
- Viggers J., Cheetham S.C., Lancashire B., Prow M., Aspley S. Wortley K.E., Stanford S.C. and Heal D.J. (1999) *d*-Fenfluramine and phentermine both enhance central noradrenergic function *via* release-contrast with sibutamine. *Int. J. Obesity.* 23: (suppl 5) 225.
- Virtanen R., Savola J.M. and Saano V. (1989) Highly selective and specific antagonism of central and peripheral α_2 -adrenoceptors by atipamezole. *Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn.*, **297**: 190-204.
- Vetulani J. and Sulser F. (1975) Action of various antidepressant treatments reduces reactivity of noradrenergic cyclic AMP-generating system in limbic forebrain. *Nature*. 257: 495-496.
- Vogel S.A., Silberstein S.D. Berv K.R. and Kopi I.J. (1972) Stimulation-induced release of norepinephrine from rat superior cervical ganglia *in vitro*. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 20: 308-311.
- Walsh A.E., Smith K.A., Oldman A.D., Williams C., Goodall E.M. and Cowen P.J. (1994) m-Chlorophenylpiperazine decreases food intake in a test meal. *Psychopharmacol.*, 116: 120-122.
- Warenycia M.W. and McKenzie G.M. (1984) Responses of striatal neurons to anesthetics and analgesics in freely-moving rats. *Gen. Pharmacol.*, **15**: 517-522.
- Wellman, P.J. (1983) Influence of amphetamine on brown adipose thermogenesis. Res. Commun. Chem. Pathol. Pharmacol., 41: 173-176.
- Wellman P.J. (1992) Overview of adrenergic anorectic agents. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 55: 193S-198S
- Wellman P.J., Davies B.T., Morien A. and McMahon (1993) Modulation of feeding by hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus α_1 and α_2 -adrenergic receptors. *Life Sciences*. **53**: 669-679.

- Wikberg J.E.S., Hede A.R. and Post C. (1987) Effects of halothane and other chlorinated hydrocarbons on alpha 2-adrenoceptors in the mouse cortex. *Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, **61**: 271-277.
- Winter J.C. and Rabin R.A. (1992) Yohimbine as a serotonergic agent: evidence from receptor binding and drug discrimination. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 263: 682-9.
- York D.A., Marchington D., Holt S.J. and Allars J. (1985) Regulation of sympathetic activity in lean and obese Zucker (*fa/fa*) rats. *Am. J. Physiol.*, **249**: E299-E305.
- Young W.S. and Kuhar M.J. (1980) Noradrenergic α1 and α2 receptors: light microscopic autoradiographic localization. *Proc. Natl. Acad.Sci.*, **77**: 1696-1700.
- Zaczek R. and Coyle J.T. (1982) Rapid and simple method for measuring biogenic amines and metabolites in brain homogenates by HPLC-electrochemical detection. J. Neural. Transm., 33: 1-5.
- Zaczek R., Fritschy J.M., Culp S., De Souza E.B. and Grzanna R. (1990) Differential effects of DSP-4 on noradrenaline axons in cerebral cortex and hypothalamus may reflect heterogeneity of noradrenaline uptake sites. *Brain. Res.*, **522**: 308-314.
- Zetterstöm T., Vernet L., Ungerstedt U., Tossman U., Jonzon B. and Fredholm B.B. (1982) Purine levels in the intact rat brain. Studies with an implanted perfused hollow fibre. *Neurosci Lett.*, **29**:111-115.
- Zetterström T., Sharp T., Marsden C.A. and Ungerstedt U. (1983) In vivo measurement of dopamine and its metabolites by intracerebral dialysis: Changes after *d*-amphetamine. J. Neurochem., 41: 1769-1773.

Zucker L.M. and Zucker T.F. (1961) Fatty, a new mutation in the rat. J. Hered., 52: 275-278.